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CAUTIONARY NOTE ABOUT FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (“Annual Report”) contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the federal securi�es laws concerning our
business, opera�ons and financial performance and condi�on, as well as our plans, objec�ves and expecta�ons for our business opera�ons and financial
performance and condi�on. Any statements contained herein that are not statements of historical facts may be deemed to be forward-looking statements. In
some cases, you can iden�fy forward-looking statements by terminology such as “aim,” “an�cipate,” “assume,” ”believe,” “contemplate,” “con�nue,” "could,”
“due,” “es�mate,” “expect,” “goal,” “intend,” “may,” “objec�ve,” “plan,” “predict,” “poten�al,” “posi�oned,” “seek,” “should,” “target,” “will,” “would” and
other similar expressions that are predic�ons of or indicate future events and future trends, or the nega�ve of these terms or other comparable terminology.
These forward-looking statements are based on management's current expecta�ons, es�mates, forecasts and projec�ons about our business and the industry
in which we operate and management’s beliefs and assump�ons and are not guarantees of future performance or development and involve known and
unknown risks, uncertain�es, and other factors that are in some cases beyond our control. Although we believe that the expecta�ons reflected in the forward-
looking statements contained herein are reasonable, our actual results and the �ming of selected events may differ materially. Factors that may cause actual
results to differ materially from current expecta�ons include, among other things, those listed under Part I, Item 1A. “Risk factors” and elsewhere in this
Annual Report. Poten�al investors are urged to consider these factors carefully in evalua�ng the forward-looking statements. These forward-looking
statements speak only as of the date of this Annual Report. Except as required by law, we assume no obliga�on to update or revise these forward-looking
statements for any reason, even if new informa�on becomes available in the future.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH OUR BUSINESS

The principal risks and uncertain�es affec�ng our business include the following:

• The beauty industry is highly compe��ve, and if we are unable to compete effec�vely our results will suffer.

• Our new product introduc�ons may not be as successful as we an�cipate.

• Any damage to our reputa�on or brands may materially and adversely affect our business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons.

• Our success depends, in part, on the quality, performance and safety of our products.

• We may not be able to successfully implement our growth strategy.

• Our growth and profitability are dependent on a number of factors, and our historical growth may not be indica�ve of our future growth.

• We may be unable to manage our growth effec�vely.

• A disrup�on in our opera�ons could materially and adversely affect our business.

• We rely on a number of third-party suppliers, manufacturers, distributors and other vendors.

• We depend on a limited number of retailers for a large por�on of our net sales, and the loss of one or more of these retailers, or business
challenges at one or more of these retailers, could adversely affect our results of opera�ons.

• We have significant opera�ons in China, which exposes us to risks inherent in doing business in that country.

• If we are unable to protect our intellectual property, the value of our brands and other intangible assets may be diminished.

• Our success depends on our ability to operate our business without infringing, misappropria�ng or otherwise viola�ng the trademarks, patents,
copyrights and other proprietary rights of third par�es.



The summary risk factors described above should be read together with the text of the full risk factors below in the sec�on en�tled “Risk
factors” and the other informa�on set forth in this Annual Report, including our consolidated financial statements and the related notes, as well as in
other documents that we file with the U.S. Securi�es and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"). The risks summarized above or described in full below are
not the only risks that we face. Addi�onal risks and uncertain�es not precisely known to us or that we currently deem to be immaterial may also
materially adversely affect our business, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and future growth prospects.

PART I

Item 1. Business.

Overview

e.l.f. Beauty, Inc. (“e.l.f. Beauty” and together with its subsidiaries, the “Company,” or “we”) is a mul�-brand beauty company that offers
inclusive, accessible, cruelty-free cosme�cs and skin-care products. Our mission is to make the best of beauty accessible to every eye, lip and face.

We believe our ability to deliver 100% cruelty-free, premium-quality products at accessible prices with broad appeal differen�ates us in the
beauty industry. We believe the combina�on of our fundamental value equa�on, digitally-led strategy, as well as our world-class team’s ability to execute with
speed has posi�oned us well to navigate a rapidly changing landscape in beauty.

Our family of brands includes e.l.f. Cosme�cs, W3LL PEOPLE and Keys Soulcare. Our brands are available online and across leading beauty, mass-
market, and clean-beauty specialty retailers. We have strong rela�onships with our retail partners such as Walmart, Target, Ulta Beauty and other leading
retailers that have enabled us to expand distribu�on both domes�cally and interna�onally.

Our Brands

Each of our brands is posi�oned to touch diverse consumer cohorts at different price points. All three of our brands have accessible pricing
rela�ve to their compe��ve set and further our mission of making the best of beauty accessible to every eye, lip and face. Below is a chart of our brands and
how we view them based on distribu�on and price point:



e.l.f. Cosme�cs makes the best of beauty accessible to every eye, lip and face by offering high-quality, pres�ge-
inspired cosme�cs and skincare products at an extraordinary value, all formulated 100% vegan and cruelty-
free.

W3LL PEOPLE is a clean beauty pioneer, raising the standard for high-performance, plant-powered, cruelty-free
cosme�cs since 2008. W3LL PEOPLE's product-line includes 35+ EWG VERIFIED™ products, a leading standard
of “clean and healthy” in the beauty space.

Keys Soulcare is a lifestyle beauty brand created with ar�st, producer, actress, and New York Times best-selling
author Alicia Keys. With an inclusive point of view, an authen�c voice and a line of skin-loving, dermatologist-
developed, cruelty-free offerings, Keys Soulcare aims to bring new meaning to beauty by honoring ritual in our
daily life and prac�cing inten�on in every ac�on.

100% cruelty-free: We do not conduct or tolerate any tests on animals, nor do we use any ingredients that are tested on animals in any of its
products. Each of our brands is cer�fied by People for the Ethical Treatment of Animals (PETA) as “Global Animal Test-Free”, a label given to companies and
brands who have verified that their own facili�es and their suppliers do not conduct, commission, pay for, or allow any tests on animals for their ingredients,
formula�ons, or finished products. e.l.f. Cosme�cs is also cer�fied by PETA as “Global Animal Test-Free and Vegan”, which recognizes companies and brands
that not only ban animal tests but also refuse to use any animal-derived ingredients, such as honey, beeswax, or carmine in its products.

Clean ingredients: Our products are formulated with ingredients that have the health and safety of our consumers in mind. All products are
formulated to meet Food and Drug Administra�on (the "FDA") and European Union Cosme�c Regula�on restric�ons for over 1,600 ingredients including
parabens, phthalates, sulfates, formaldehyde, nonylphenol ethoxylates, triclosan, triclocarban, toluene, coal tar, lead, mercury, acrylamide and hydroquinone
as well as other substances. Addi�onally, W3LL PEOPLE's product-line includes 35+ EWG VERIFIED™ products, a leading standard of “clean and healthy” in the
beauty space.

Marke�ng & Digital

We deploy a consumer-centric marke�ng model. We build brand equity and drive traffic to our na�onal retailer partners and to our own e-
commerce websites and mobile applica�ons primarily through digital and social media, as compared to legacy beauty brands that o�en seek to engage
consumers through tradi�onal media such as magazines, newspapers and television. Total expenses for marke�ng and digital in the year ended March 31,
2021 were $49.7 million, approximately 16% of our net sales.

Our consumers have been our best advocates through strong word of mouth. Many of our consumers are ac�ve in social media, write reviews of
our products online and generate content on Instagram, Facebook, Twi�er, TikTok, YouTube and other social media pla�orms. We had nearly 12 million
followers on social media and through our Beauty Squad program as of March 31, 2021.

Innova�on

We believe innova�on is key to our success and that we are a leader in the industry in speed and first to mass product introduc�ons. We have
built an innova�on capability that can progress a new, high-quality product from concept to online launch in as few as 13 weeks and 20 weeks on average. We
leverage mul�ple sources of inspira�on to develop our new product ideas, including global trend assessments, supplier and industry research, strategic
customer input and consumer feedback and insights.
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Our innova�on strategy is underpinned by four key pillars:

• Holy Grails. “Holy grails” are beauty products that deliver premium quality at unbelievable prices with broad appeal. As consumers are
increasingly savvy and knowledgeable about trends in the pres�ge market, they look for ways to get the best of beauty at an accessible
price. Examples of our “holy grails” include the e.l.f. Cosme�cs Poreless Pu�y Primer at $9 versus a comparable pres�ge primer at $52, the
e.l.f. Cosme�cs 16HR Camo Concealer at $6 versus a comparable pres�ge concealer at $27, and the W3LL PEOPLE Expressionist Pro Mascara
at $19 versus a comparable clean pres�ge mascara at $28.

• Core Improvement. We consistently evaluate our core offerings to develop new products or improve quality based on category trends,
consumer feedback, and other market intelligence. We launch trend-inspired, core expansion products that augment our assortment and
deliver extraordinary value across price points. We also evaluate quality improvement opportuni�es with our product assortment, such as
reformula�ng exis�ng products with cleaner ingredients.

• Adjacencies. We believe that we can reapply our model to launch products into adjacent product categories outside of color cosme�cs. For
example, Keys Soulcare’s ini�al product collec�on introduced in early calendar year 2021 included nine dermatologist-developed clean
offerings in the skin care category.

• Collabora�ons & Collec�ons. We u�lize collabora�ons and collec�ons to build brand awareness and showcase our brands’ abili�es to
connect with, surprise and delight consumers while crea�ng buzz-genera�ng moments. For example, in the year ended March 31, 2021,
e.l.f. Cosme�cs launched a collabora�on with Chipotle on a limited edi�on makeup collec�on. We also u�lize exclusive collec�ons with our
na�onal retailers, such as e.l.f. Cosme�cs’ Mint Melt collec�on which was available exclusively at Walmart in the United States, at Superdrug
in the United Kingdom, and at DM stores in Germany.

Markets and Compe��on

The color cosme�cs category primarily consists of face makeup, eye makeup, lip products, nail products and cosme�cs sets/kits, along with
beauty tools and accessories such as brushes and applicators. The skin care category primarily consists of facial skin care and eye skin care products. Color
cosme�cs and skin care products are broadly sold through food, drug and mass channels, as well as through department stores and direct and specialty
channels.

The color cosme�cs and skin care categories are rela�vely concentrated, with a significant por�on of retail sales in the United States generated
by brands owned by a few large mul�na�onal companies, such as L’Oreal, Estee Lauder, Coty, Revlon, Shiseido, Johnson & Johnson, and Procter & Gamble.
These large mul�na�onal companies typically own mul�ple brands. In addi�on to the tradi�onal brands against which we compete, small independent
companies con�nue to enter the market with new brands and customized product offerings.

Distribu�on

We employ an omni-channel distribu�on strategy and sell our products online through our own direct e-commerce channels, and with na�onal
retailers in the United States, as well as interna�onally. Our main channels of distribu�on are described below.

• Na�onal retailers.    We sell our products in the United States primarily in the mass, drug store, food and specialty retail channels.

• e-commerce.   Our e-commerce pla�orms are an important component of our engagement and innova�on model. Our roots as an e-
commerce company and our digital engagement model drive conversion on our e-commerce websites and our mobile applica�ons, where
we sell our full product offerings.

• Interna�onal.    Our products are also sold in a number of interna�onal markets, including Canada, the United Kingdom, Germany, Italy and
China.
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Customers

Along with our direct e-commerce channels, we have strong rela�onships with our retail partners such as Walmart, Target, Ulta Beauty and
other leading retailers that have enabled us to expand distribu�on both domes�cally and interna�onally.

Walmart and Target accounted for 26% and 22%, respec�vely, of our net sales in the year ended March 31, 2021. No other individual customer
accounted for 10% or more of our net sales in the year ended March 31, 2021. We expect that Walmart and Target and a small number of other customers
will, in the aggregate, con�nue to account for a large por�on of our net sales in the future.

As is customary in the industry, none of our customers is under an obliga�on to con�nue purchasing products from us in the future.

For more informa�on regarding customer concentra�on, see Part II, Item 7 “Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condi�on and
results of opera�ons” of this report under the heading “Overview.”

Supply Chain

We have developed a scalable, asset-light supply chain centered on speed to market and high-quality at low cost. Substan�ally all of our
products are sourced and manufactured in China through close collabora�on with a network of third-party manufacturers. We have ample manufacturing
capacity as well as redundant capabili�es in the event that one or more suppliers cannot meet our needs. Our broad supply base gives us the ability to fulfill
our product requirements and remain cost compe��ve.

We work closely with our suppliers on new product innova�on and quality. Our China-based sourcing, quality and innova�on teams work with
their U.S.-based counterparts to deliver ongoing product quality, innova�on and cost savings. We are not overly dependent on any single raw material. The
raw materials used in our products are broadly available and have regular quality tes�ng for ingredient integrity.

We operate two main distribu�on centers: one in Ontario, California, which mainly serves our na�onal retail customers, and one in Columbus,
Ohio, which mainly services our e-commerce consumers. We have invested capital in picking, packaging, scanning, and conveying technology to more fully
automate our processes. Our Ontario and Columbus distribu�on centers are both operated by a leading third-party logis�cs provider. For our interna�onal
opera�ons, we u�lize third-party logis�cs providers in Canada and the United Kingdom to distribute to certain interna�onal customers and distributors.

Human Capital Management

We are led by our purpose—we stand with every eye, lip, face and paw—and our employees are at the core of our business strategy. As of
March 31, 2021, we had 267 full-�me employees (191 in the United States, United Kingdom and Canada, and 76 in China) and 21 part-�me
employees and interns.

Culture and Commitments

By standing with every eye, lip, face and paw, we are commi�ed to crea�ng a culture internally—and in the world around us—where all
individuals are encouraged to express their truest selves, are empowered to succeed, and where we strive to do the right thing for people, the planet
and our furry friends. We are commi�ed to:

•    Encourage Self Expression. We celebrate diversity and make the best of beauty accessible.

•    Empower Others. We provide equal opportuni�es for growth and success.

•    Embody Our Ethics. We strive to do the right thing for all people, the planet and our furry friends.

In the year ended March 31, 2021, as a response to the COVID-19 pandemic, we also implemented a range of ini�a�ves to support the
safety and well-being of our employees and community.

3



Encourage Self Expression: Promo�ng a Culture of Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion

We are commi�ed to diversity, equity and inclusion. Our mission is to make the best of beauty accessible to every eye, lip and face and we
believe it is important that our team reflects the diverse consumers we serve. Our commitment to diversity, equity and inclusion starts at the top
with a highly skilled and diverse board of directors. We promote diversity, equity and inclusion at all levels of our workforce, and our senior
leadership team takes full ownership of and responsibility for our diversity, equity and inclusion ini�a�ves and programs.

We are proud of our workforce demographics and are commi�ed to ensuring that appropriate levels of diversity – including but not limited
to gender, race, sexual orienta�on, na�onal origin, ability, and age – are represented across our en�re team.

The following table provides certain sta�s�cs of our team as of March 31, 2021:

Board of Directors Senior Leadership All Employees

Female 56% 43% 77%
Black or African American 22% 14% 8%
Hispanic or La�nX —% —% 14%
Asian 11% 29% 15%
Na�ve American —% —% 1%
Two or More Races —% —% 5%
White 67% 57% 58%

Excludes Sabrina Simmons, who no�fied us on March 26, 2021 of her decision to resign from the board of directors and all commi�ees thereof,
effec�ve May 31, 2021.
Senior Leadership includes our Execu�ve Officers and the Vice President, General Manager of our China opera�ons.
Includes our employees in the United States, United Kingdom and Canada, where over 70% of our workforce is located.

We believe that to drive change there must be con�nuous educa�on, learning and sharing. We require all employees to par�cipate in
unconscious bias training, so that we might learn how to recognize poten�al bias in our thoughts and ac�ons. We host open forums with our senior
leadership to share and encourage uncomfortable conversa�ons. Addi�onally, we regularly host educa�on events for our employees to lean into
cultural moments, such as Black History Month; Interna�onal Women’s Month; Asian American and Pacific Islander (AAPI) Heritage Month; Lesbian,
Gay, Bisexual, Transgender and Queer (LGBTQ) Pride Month; and La�nX Heritage Month.

Empower Others: Suppor�ng the Full Poten�al of Our Employees

Our talented employees are at the core of our business strategy. We place a high priority on a�rac�ng, recrui�ng, developing and retaining
diverse global talent. Our benefits and programs are designed to support the total well-being and promote the full poten�al of our employees.

With regards to compensa�on, we take a “one-team” approach. Every employee receives a base salary, is bonus eligible under the same
bonus target �ed to our financial performance, and receives an equity award. We believe this approach – which applies across all employee levels
and geographies – is unique in the beauty industry and contributes to our success in hiring and retaining top talent and driving business results.

In the United States, where over 70% of our workforce is located, the benefits for our full-�me employees include, among other things:

• Financial benefits, including compe��ve compensa�on as well as re�rement savings plans and commuter benefits;

• Healthcare benefits including flexible spending accounts, disability and life insurance;

• Family support and flexibility benefits including up to 20 weeks of parental leave for the birth or adop�on of a child as well as the
placement of a foster child, as well as fer�lity and adop�on support;

(1) (2) (3)

(1)

(2)

(3)
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• Wellness and �me off programs including an employee assistance program, access to wellness coaches and paid �me off;

• Community impact programs including volunteer �me off and dona�on matching programs;

• Educa�on and career development programs including high performance teamwork coaching, as well as ongoing learning and training
opportuni�es; and

• Other benefits, such as “Pawternity Leave” for the adop�on of a shelter animal.

Outside of the United States, we provide similarly compe��ve benefit packages to those of our United States employees but tailored to
market-specific prac�ces.

Embody Our Ethics: Doing the Right Thing for All People, the Planet and Our Furry Friends

All People

We proudly support human rights and individual expression and freedom. As such, we ensure our employees have their rights respected,
regardless of age, gender, ethnicity, religion, abili�es or sexual orienta�on. We also expect our suppliers and partners to observe these principles
when providing products and services to us.

The Planet

We are commi�ed to minimizing our environmental impact while providing our consumers with premium-quality beauty products. In the
year ended March 31, 2021, we celebrated a significant milestone on our sustainability journey – elimina�ng an es�mated 650,000 pounds of
packaging waste since the incep�on of "Project Unicorn". Project Unicorn was designed to elevate e.l.f. Cosme�cs’ product assortment, presenta�on,
and naviga�on on-shelf, and resulted in a significant streamlining in our packaging footprint. The elimina�on of packaging waste was achieved by
removing secondary cartons, vacuum formed trays and paper insert cards, slimming down secondary packaging, and designing a patented approach
to display product on shelf.

Our Furry Friends

We are proud to be a 100% cruelty-free company. We do not conduct or tolerate any tests on animals, nor do we use any ingredients that
are tested on animals in any of our products. Each of our brands is cer�fied by People for the Ethical Treatment of Animals (PETA) as “Global Animal
Test-Free”, a label given to companies and brands who have verified that their own facili�es and their suppliers do not conduct, commission, pay for,
or allow any tests on animals for their ingredients, formula�ons, or finished products.

Our COVID-19 Response

Throughout the COVID-19 pandemic, our first priority has been the safety and well-being of our employees and community. In response to
COVID-19, we sent safety kits with gloves, hand sani�zers, and disinfectant wipes to all of our employees, and included a free hand sani�zer with
consumer orders placed online at elfcosme�cs.com. We also gave each employee an addi�on of $1,000 to their regular paychecks to help defray
some of the costs of supplies and delivery services, child and family care needs. Addi�onally, we donated $25,000 to local community food bank
organiza�ons to help feed those in need.

Seasonality

Our results of opera�ons are subject to seasonal fluctua�ons, with net sales in the third and fourth fiscal quarters typically being higher than in
the first and second fiscal quarters. The higher net sales in our third and fourth fiscal quarters are largely a�ributable to the increased levels of purchasing by
retailers for the holiday season and customer shelf reset ac�vity, respec�vely. Lower holiday purchases or shi�s in customer shelf reset ac�vity could have a
dispropor�onate effect on our results of opera�ons for the en�re fiscal year. To support an�cipated higher sales during the third and fourth fiscal quarters, we
make investments in working capital to ensure inventory levels can support demand. Fluctua�ons throughout the year are also driven by the �ming of
product restocking or rearrangement by our major retail customers as well as expansion into new retail customers. Because a limited number of our retail
customers account for a large percentage
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of our net sales, a change in the order pa�ern of one or more of our large retail customers could cause a significant fluctua�on of our quarterly results or
impact our liquidity.

Trademarks and Other Intellectual Property

We believe that our intellectual property has substan�al value and has contributed significantly to the success of our business. Our primary
trademarks include “e.l.f.,” “e.l.f. eyes lips face,” “W3LL PEOPLE,” and “Keys Soulcare” all of which are registered or have registra�ons pending in the United
States with the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office for our goods and services of primary interest. These trademarks are also registered or have registra�ons
pending in many other countries or registries. We also have other trademark registra�ons and pending applica�ons for product names and tag lines. Our
trademarks are valuable assets that reinforce the dis�nc�veness of our brands and our consumers’ favorable percep�on of our products. In addi�on to
trademark protec�on, we own U.S. Design Patents covering packaging, make-up tools and brush handle shapes and we own numerous domain names,
including the domains of our e-commerce websites. We also rely on and use reasonable business ac�vi�es to protect unpatented proprietary exper�se and
product formula�ons, con�nuing innova�on and other know-how to develop and maintain our compe��ve posi�on.

Government Regula�on

We and our products are subject to various federal, state and interna�onal laws and regula�ons, including regula�on in the United States by the
FDA, the Consumer Product Safety Commission (the “CPSC”), the Federal Trade Commission (the “FTC”), and regula�ons outside of the United States by
Health Canada and the European Commission, among others. These laws and regula�ons principally relate to the ingredients, proper labeling, adver�sing,
packaging, marke�ng, manufacture, safety, shipment and disposal of our products. Further, as the vast majority of our products are imported from overseas
manufacturers, we are subject to Customs Border Patrol clearance regula�ons prior to goods being released into the United States market.

We are also subject to a number of federal, state and interna�onal laws and regula�ons that affect companies conduc�ng business on the
Internet, including regula�ons related to consumer protec�on, the promo�on and sale of merchandise, privacy, use and protec�on of consumer and
employee personal informa�on and data (including the collec�on of data from minors), behavioral tracking, and adver�sing and marke�ng ac�vi�es
(including sweepstakes, contests and giveaways).

Addi�onal laws in all of these areas are likely to be passed in the future, which could result in significant limita�ons on or changes to the ways in
which we operate and may significantly increase our compliance costs. For informa�on regarding the risks related to the laws and regula�ons to which we are
subject, see Part I, Item 1A “Risk factors”.

Expenditures for Environmental Compliance

We are subject to numerous foreign, federal, provincial, state, municipal and local environmental, health and safety laws and regula�ons rela�ng
to, among other ma�ers, safe working condi�ons, product stewardship and environmental protec�on, including those rela�ng to emissions to the air,
discharges to land and surface waters, genera�on, handling, storage, transporta�on, treatment and disposal of hazardous substances and waste materials,
and the registra�on and evalua�on of chemicals. We maintain policies and procedures to monitor and control environmental, health and safety risks, and to
monitor compliance with applicable environmental, health and safety requirements. Compliance with such laws and regula�ons pertaining to the discharge of
materials into the environment, or otherwise rela�ng to the protec�on of the environment, has not had a material effect upon our capital expenditures,
earnings or compe��ve posi�on.

Segments

We operate our business as a single opera�ng and reportable segment. For more informa�on regarding segment repor�ng, see Note 2 Summary
of significant accoun�ng policies to our consolidated financial statements in Part IV, Item 15 “Exhibits, financial statement schedules” under the heading
“Segment repor�ng.”

Geographic Informa�on

For informa�on regarding the geographic source of our net sales and the loca�on of our long-lived assets, see Note 2 Summary of significant
accoun�ng policies to our consolidated financial statements in Part IV, Item 15 “Exhibits, financial statement schedules” under the heading “Segment
repor�ng.” For informa�on regarding the risks related to our non-U.S. opera�ons, see Part I, Item 1A “Risk factors.”
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Corporate Informa�on

e.l.f. Beauty was formed as a Delaware corpora�on on December 20, 2013 under the name J.A. Cosme�cs Holdings, Inc. and we changed our
name to e.l.f. Beauty, Inc. in April 2016. We completed the ini�al public offering of our common stock in September 2016. Our common stock is currently
listed on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) under the symbol “ELF.” Effec�ve a�er December 2018, we changed our fiscal year-end from December 31
to March 31 . Our principal execu�ve offices are located at 570 10th Street, Oakland, California 94607. Our telephone number is (510) 778-7787 and our
investor rela�ons website can be found at www.el�eauty.com. e.l.f Beauty operates through its principal subsidiaries, e.l.f. Cosme�cs, Inc., which conducts
business under the name "e.l.f. Cosme�cs" or "e.l.f.", "Keys Soulcare" and W3LL People, Inc., which conducts business under the name “W3LL PEOPLE”.

Available Informa�on

We make available on or through our website certain reports and amendments to those reports that we file with, or furnish to, the SEC in
accordance with the Securi�es Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). These include our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, our Quarterly
Reports on Form 10-Q and our Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Sec�on 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Exchange Act. We make this informa�on available on or through our website free of charge as soon as reasonably prac�cable a�er we electronically file the
informa�on with, or furnish it to, the SEC. The informa�on on, or that can be accessed through, our website is not incorporated by reference into this Annual
Report or any other filings we make with the SEC.

Item 1A. Risk factors.

Certain risks may have a material and/or adverse effect on our business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons. These risks include those
described below and may include addi�onal risks and uncertain�es not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial. These risks should be
read in conjunc�on with the other informa�on in this Annual Report, including our consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto and Part II,
Item 7 “Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condi�on and results of opera�ons”.

Risks factors related to the beauty industry

The beauty industry is highly compe��ve, and if we are unable to compete effec�vely our results will suffer.

We face vigorous compe��on from companies throughout the world, including large mul�na�onal consumer products companies that have
many beauty brands under ownership and independent beauty brands, including those that may target the latest trends or specific distribu�on channels.
Compe��on in the beauty industry is based on the introduc�on of new products, pricing of products, quality of products and packaging, brand awareness,
perceived value and quality, innova�on, in-store presence and visibility, promo�onal ac�vi�es, adver�sing, editorials, e-commerce and mobile-commerce
ini�a�ves and other ac�vi�es. We must compete with a high volume of new product introduc�ons and exis�ng products by diverse companies across several
different distribu�on channels.

Many mul�na�onal consumer companies have greater financial, technical or marke�ng resources, longer opera�ng histories, greater brand
recogni�on or larger customer bases than we do and may be able to respond more effec�vely to changing business and economic condi�ons than we can.
Many of these compe�tors’ products are sold in a wider selec�on or greater number of retail stores and possess a larger presence in these stores, typically
having significantly more inline shelf space than we do. Given the finite space allocated to beauty products by retail stores, our ability to grow the number of
retail stores in which our products are sold and expand our space alloca�on once in these retail stores may require the removal or reduc�on of the shelf
space of these compe�tors. We may be unsuccessful in our growth strategy in the event retailers do not reallocate shelf space from our compe�tors to us.
Increasing shelf space allocated to our products may be especially challenging in instances when a retailer has its own brand. In addi�on, our compe�tors
may a�empt to gain market share by offering products at prices at or below the prices at which our products are typically offered, including through the use
of large percentage discounts and “buy one and get one free” offers. Compe��ve pricing may require us to reduce our prices, which would decrease our
profitability or result in lost sales. Our compe�tors, many of whom have greater resources than we do, may be be�er able to withstand these price reduc�ons
and lost sales.

It is difficult for us to predict the �ming and scale of our compe�tors’ ac�vi�es in these areas or whether new compe�tors will emerge in the
beauty industry. In recent years, numerous online, “indie” and influencer-backed beauty companies have emerged and garnered significant followings. In
addi�on, further technological breakthroughs, including new and enhanced technologies which increase compe��on in the online retail market, new product
offerings by compe�tors and
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the strength and success of our compe�tors’ marke�ng programs may impede our growth and the implementa�on of our business strategy.

Our ability to compete also depends on the con�nued strength of our brand and products, the success of our marke�ng, innova�on and
execu�on strategies, the con�nued diversity of our product offerings, the successful management of new product introduc�ons and innova�ons, strong
opera�onal execu�on, including in order fulfillment, and our success in entering new markets and expanding our business in exis�ng geographies. If we are
unable to con�nue to compete effec�vely, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons.

Our new product introduc�ons may not be as successful as we an�cipate.

The beauty industry is driven in part by fashion and beauty trends, which may shi� quickly. Our con�nued success depends on our ability to
an�cipate, gauge and react in a �mely and cost-effec�ve manner to changes in consumer preferences for beauty products, consumer a�tudes toward our
industry and brands and where and how consumers shop for those products. We must con�nually work to develop, produce and market new products,
maintain and enhance the recogni�on of our brands, maintain a favorable mix of products and develop our approach as to how and where we market and sell
our products.

We have an established process for the development, evalua�on and valida�on of our new product concepts. Nonetheless, each new product
launch involves risks, as well as the possibility of unexpected consequences. For example, the acceptance of new product launches and sales to our retail
customers may not be as high as we an�cipate, due to lack of acceptance of the products themselves or their price, or limited effec�veness of our marke�ng
strategies. In addi�on, our ability to launch new products may be limited by delays or difficul�es affec�ng the ability of our suppliers or manufacturers to
�mely manufacture, distribute and ship new products or displays for new products. Sales of new products may be affected by inventory management by our
retail customers, and we may experience product shortages or limita�ons in retail display space by our retail customers. We may also experience a decrease
in sales of certain exis�ng products as a result of newly-launched products, the impact of which could be exacerbated by shelf space limita�ons or any shelf
space loss. Any of these occurrences could delay or impede our ability to achieve our sales objec�ves, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons.

As part of our ongoing business strategy, we expect we will need to con�nue to introduce new products in the color cosme�cs and skin care
categories, while also expanding our product launches into adjacent categories in which we may have li�le to no opera�ng experience. The success of
product launches in adjacent product categories could be hampered by our rela�ve inexperience opera�ng in such categories, the strength of our
compe�tors or any of the other risks referred to above. Furthermore, any expansion into new product categories may prove to be an opera�onal and financial
constraint which inhibits our ability to successfully accomplish such expansion. Our inability to introduce successful products in our tradi�onal categories or in
adjacent categories could limit our future growth and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons.

Any damage to our reputa�on or brands may materially and adversely affect our business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons.

We believe that developing and maintaining our brands is cri�cal and that our financial success is directly dependent on consumer percep�on of
our brands. Furthermore, the importance of brand recogni�on may become even greater as compe�tors offer more products similar to ours.

We have rela�vely low brand awareness among consumers when compared to other beauty brands and maintaining and enhancing the
recogni�on and reputa�on of our brands is cri�cal to our business and future growth. Many factors, some of which are beyond our control, are important to
maintaining our reputa�on and brands. These factors include our ability to comply with ethical, social, product, labor and environmental standards. Any
actual or perceived failure in compliance with such standards could damage our reputa�on and brands.

The growth of our brands depends largely on our ability to provide a high-quality consumer experience, which in turn depends on our ability to
bring innova�ve products to the market at compe��ve prices that respond to consumer demands and preferences. Addi�onal factors affec�ng our consumer
experience include our ability to provide appealing store sets in retail stores, the maintenance and stocking of those sets by our retail customers, the overall
shopping experience provided by our retail customers, a reliable and user-friendly website interface and mobile applica�ons for our consumers to browse and
purchase products on our e-commerce websites and mobile applica�ons. If we are unable to preserve our

8



reputa�on, enhance our brand recogni�on or increase posi�ve awareness of our products and in-store and Internet pla�orms, it may be difficult for us to
maintain and grow our consumer base, and our business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons may be materially and adversely affected.

The success of our brands may also suffer if our marke�ng plans or product ini�a�ves do not have the desired impact on our brands' image or
our ability to a�ract consumers. Further, our brand value could diminish significantly due to a number of factors, including consumer percep�on that we have
acted in an irresponsible manner, adverse publicity about our products, our failure to maintain the quality of our products, product contamina�on, the failure
of our products to deliver consistently posi�ve consumer experiences, or the products becoming unavailable to consumers.

Our success depends, in part, on the quality, performance and safety of our products.

Any loss of confidence on the part of consumers in the ingredients used in our products, whether related to product contamina�on or product
safety or quality failures, actual or perceived, or inclusion of prohibited ingredients, could tarnish the image of our brands and could cause consumers to
choose other products. Allega�ons of contamina�on or other adverse effects on product safety or suitability for use by a par�cular consumer, even if untrue,
may require us to expend significant �me and resources responding to such allega�ons and could, from �me to �me, result in a recall of a product from any
or all of the markets in which the affected product was distributed. Any such issues or recalls could nega�vely affect our profitability and brands image.

If our products are found to be, or perceived to be, defec�ve or unsafe, or if they otherwise fail to meet our consumers’ expecta�ons, our
rela�onships with consumers could suffer, the appeal of our brands could be diminished, we may need to recall some of our products and/or become subject
to regulatory ac�on, and we could lose sales or market share or become subject to boyco�s or liability claims. In addi�on, safety or other defects in our
compe�tors’ products could reduce consumer demand for our own products if consumers view them to be similar. Any of these outcomes could result in a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons.

Risks factors related to our growth and profitability

We may not be able to successfully implement our growth strategy.

Our future growth, profitability and cash flows depend upon our ability to successfully implement our business strategy, which, in turn, is
dependent upon a number of key ini�a�ves, including our ability to:

• drive demand in our brands;

• invest in digital capabili�es;

• improve produc�vity in our na�onal retailers;

• focus on innova�on by providing pres�ge quality products at an extraordinary value;

• implement the necessary cost savings to help fund our marke�ng and digital investments; and
• pursue strategic extensions that can leverage our strengths and bring new capabili�es.

There can be no assurance that we can successfully achieve any or all of the above ini�a�ves in the manner or �me period that we expect.
Further, achieving these objec�ves will require investments which may result in short-term cost increases with net sales materializing on a longer-term
horizon and therefore may be dilu�ve to our earnings. We cannot provide any assurance that we will realize, in full or in part, the an�cipated benefits we
expect our strategy will achieve. The failure to realize those benefits could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condi�on and results of
opera�ons.

Our growth and profitability are dependent on a number of factors, and our historical growth may not be indica�ve of our future growth.

Our historical growth should not be considered as indica�ve of our future performance. We may not be successful in execu�ng our growth
strategy, and even if we achieve our strategic plan, we may not be able to sustain profitability. In future periods, our revenue could decline, or grow more
slowly than we expect. We also may incur significant
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losses in the future for a number of reasons, including the following risks and the other risks described in this report, and we may encounter unforeseen
expenses, difficul�es, complica�ons, delays and other unknown factors:

• we may lose one or more significant retail customers, or sales of our products through these retail customers may decrease;

• the ability of our third-party suppliers and manufacturers to produce our products and of our distributors to distribute our products could be
disrupted;

• because substan�ally all of our products are sourced and manufactured in China, our opera�ons are suscep�ble to risks inherent in doing business
there;

• our products may be the subject of regulatory ac�ons, including but not limited to ac�ons by the FDA, the FTC and the CPSC in the United States;

• we may be unable to introduce new products that appeal to consumers or otherwise successfully compete with our compe�tors in the beauty
industry;

• we may be unsuccessful in enhancing the recogni�on and reputa�on of our brands, and our brands may be damaged as a result of, among other
reasons, our failure, or alleged failure, to comply with applicable ethical, social, product, labor or environmental standards;

• we may experience service interrup�ons, data corrup�on, cyber-based a�acks or network security breaches which result in the disrup�on of our
opera�ng systems or the loss of confiden�al informa�on of our consumers;

• we may be unable to retain key members of our senior management team or a�ract and retain other qualified personnel; and

• we may be affected by any adverse economic condi�ons in the United States or interna�onally.

We may be unable to grow our business effec�vely or efficiently, which would harm our business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons.

Growing our business will place a strain on our management team, financial and informa�on systems, supply chain and distribu�on capacity and
other resources. To manage growth effec�vely, we must con�nue to enhance our opera�onal, financial and management systems, including our warehouse
management and inventory control; maintain and improve our internal controls and disclosure controls and procedures; maintain and improve our
informa�on technology systems and procedures; and expand, train and manage our employee base.

We may not be able to effec�vely manage this expansion in any one or more of these areas, and any failure to do so could significantly harm our
business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons. Growing our business may make it difficult for us to adequately predict the expenditures we will need
to make in the future. If we do not make the necessary overhead expenditures to accommodate our future growth, we may not be successful in execu�ng our
growth strategy, and our results of opera�ons would suffer.

Acquisi�ons or investments could disrupt our business and harm our financial condi�on.

We frequently review acquisi�on and strategic investment opportuni�es that would expand our current product offerings, our distribu�on
channels, increase the size and geographic scope of our opera�ons or otherwise offer growth and opera�ng efficiency opportuni�es. There can be no
assurance that we will be able to iden�fy suitable candidates or consummate these transac�ons on favorable terms. The process of integra�ng an acquired
business, product or technology can create unforeseen opera�ng difficul�es, expenditures and other challenges such as:

• poten�ally increased regulatory and compliance requirements;

• implementa�on or remedia�on of controls, procedures and policies at the acquired business;
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• diversion of management �me and focus from opera�on of our then-exis�ng business to acquisi�on integra�on challenges;

• coordina�on of product, sales, marke�ng and program and systems management func�ons;

• transi�on of the users and customers of the acquired business, product, or technology onto our system;

• reten�on of employees from the acquired business;

• integra�on of employees from the acquired business into our organiza�on;

• integra�on of the acquired business’ accoun�ng, informa�on management, human resources and other administra�ve systems and opera�ons into
our systems and opera�ons;

• liability for ac�vi�es of the acquired business, product or technology prior to the acquisi�on, including viola�ons of law, commercial disputes and tax
and other known and unknown liabili�es; and

• li�ga�on or other claims in connec�on with the acquired business, product or technology, including claims brought by terminated employees,
customers, former stockholders or other third par�es.

If we are unable to address these difficul�es and challenges or other problems encountered in connec�on with any acquisi�on or investment,
we might not realize the an�cipated benefits of that acquisi�on or investment, and we might incur unan�cipated liabili�es or otherwise suffer harm to our
business generally.

To the extent that we pay the considera�on for any acquisi�ons or investments in cash, it would reduce the amount of cash available to us for
other purposes. Acquisi�ons or investments could also result in dilu�ve issuances of our equity securi�es or the incurrence of debt, con�ngent liabili�es,
amor�za�on expenses, increased interest expenses or impairment charges against goodwill on our consolidated balance sheet, any of which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons.

Risk factors related to our business opera�ons

A disrup�on in our opera�ons could materially and adversely affect our business.

As a company engaged in distribu�on on a global scale, our opera�ons, including those of our third-party manufacturers, suppliers, brokers and
delivery service providers, are subject to the risks inherent in such ac�vi�es, including industrial accidents, environmental events, strikes and other labor
disputes, disrup�ons or delays in shipments, disrup�ons in informa�on systems, product quality control, safety, licensing requirements and other regulatory
issues, as well as natural disasters, pandemics (such as the coronavirus pandemic), border disputes, acts of terrorism and other external factors over which
we and our third-party manufacturers, suppliers, brokers and delivery service providers have no control. The loss of, or damage to, the manufacturing
facili�es or distribu�on centers of our third-party manufacturers, suppliers, brokers and delivery service providers could materially and adversely affect our
business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons.

We depend heavily on ocean container delivery to receive shipments of our products from our third-party manufacturers located in China and
contracted third-party delivery service providers to deliver our products to our distribu�on facili�es and logis�cs providers, and from there to our retail
customers. Further, we rely on postal and parcel carriers for the delivery of products sold directly to consumers through our e-commerce websites and mobile
applica�ons. Interrup�ons to or failures in these delivery services could prevent the �mely or successful delivery of our products. These interrup�ons or
failures may be due to unforeseen events that are beyond our control or the control of our third-party delivery service providers, such as port conges�on,
container shortages, inclement weather, natural disasters, labor unrest or other transporta�on disrup�ons. If our products are not delivered on �me or are
delivered in a damaged state, retail customers and consumers may refuse to accept our products and have less confidence in our services. In addi�on, a
current vessel and container shortage globally could delay future inventory receipts and, in turn, could delay deliveries to our retailer customers and
availability of products in our direct-to-consumer e-commerce channel. Such poten�al delays and shipping disrup�ons could nega�vely impact our results of
opera�ons through higher inventory costs and reduced sales. Furthermore, the delivery personnel of contracted third-party delivery service providers act on
our behalf and interact with our consumers personally. Any failure to provide high-quality delivery services to our consumers may nega�vely affect the
shopping experience of our consumers, damage our reputa�on and cause us to lose consumers.
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Our ability to meet the needs of our consumers and retail customers depends on the proper opera�on of our distribu�on facili�es, where most
of our inventory that is not in transit is housed. Although we currently insure our inventory, our insurance coverage may not be sufficient to cover the full
extent of any loss or damage to our inventory or distribu�on facili�es, and any loss, damage or disrup�on of the facili�es, or loss or damage of the inventory
stored there, could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons.

Our success depends, in part, on our reten�on of key members of our senior management team and ability to a�ract and retain qualified personnel.

Our success depends, in part, on our ability to retain our key employees, including our execu�ve officers, senior management team and
opera�ons, finance, sales and marke�ng personnel. We are a small company that relies on a few key employees, any one of whom would be difficult to
replace, and because we are a small company, we believe that the loss of key employees may be more disrup�ve to us than it would be to a larger company.
Our success also depends, in part, on our con�nuing ability to iden�fy, hire, train and retain other highly qualified personnel. In addi�on, we may be unable to
effec�vely plan for the succession of senior management, including our Chief Execu�ve Officer. The loss of key personnel or the failure to a�ract and retain
qualified personnel may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons.

We rely on a number of third-party suppliers, manufacturers, distributors and other vendors, and they may not con�nue to produce products or provide
services that are consistent with our standards or applicable regulatory requirements, which could harm our brands, cause consumer dissa�sfac�on, and
require us to find alterna�ve suppliers of our products or services.

We use mul�ple third-party suppliers and manufacturers, primarily based in China to source and manufacture substan�ally all of our products.
We engage our third-party suppliers and manufacturers on a purchase order basis and are not party to long-term contracts with any of them. The ability of
these third par�es to supply and manufacture our products may be affected by compe�ng orders placed by other persons and the demands of those persons.
Further, we are subject to risks associated with disrup�ons or delays in shipments whether due to port conges�on, container shortages, labor disputes,
product regula�ons and/or inspec�ons or other factors, natural disasters or health pandemics, or other transporta�on disrup�ons. If we experience
significant increases in demand or need to replace a significant number of exis�ng suppliers or manufacturers, there can be no assurance that addi�onal
supply and manufacturing capacity will be available when required on terms that are acceptable to us, or at all, or that any supplier or manufacturer will
allocate sufficient capacity to us in order to meet our requirements.

In addi�on, quality control problems, such as the use of ingredients and delivery of products that do not meet our quality control standards and
specifica�ons or comply with applicable laws or regula�ons, could harm our business. These quality control problems could result in regulatory ac�on, such
as restric�ons on importa�on, products of inferior quality or product stock outages or shortages, harming our sales and crea�ng inventory write-downs for
unusable products.

We have also outsourced significant por�ons of our distribu�on process, as well as certain technology-related func�ons, to third-party service
providers. Specifically, we rely on third-party distributors to sell our products in a number of foreign countries, our warehouses and distribu�on facili�es are
managed and staffed by third-party service providers, we are dependent on a single third-party vendor for credit card processing and we u�lize a third-party
hos�ng and networking provider to host our e-commerce websites and mobile applica�ons. The failure of one or more of these en��es to provide the
expected services on a �mely basis, or at all, or at the prices we expect, or the costs and disrup�on incurred in changing these outsourced func�ons to being
performed under our management and direct control or that of a third-party, may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condi�on and
results of opera�ons. We are not party to long-term contracts with some of our distributors, and upon expira�on of these exis�ng agreements, we may not
be able to renego�ate the terms on a commercially reasonable basis, or at all.

Further, our third-party manufacturers, suppliers and distributors may:

• have economic or business interests or goals that are inconsistent with ours;

• take ac�ons contrary to our instruc�ons, requests, policies or objec�ves;
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• be unable or unwilling to fulfill their obliga�ons under relevant purchase orders, including obliga�ons to meet our produc�on deadlines, quality
standards, pricing guidelines and product specifica�ons, or to comply with applicable regula�ons, including those regarding the safety and quality of
products and ingredients and good manufacturing prac�ces;

• have financial difficul�es;

• encounter raw material or labor shortages;

• encounter increases in raw material or labor costs which may affect our procurement costs;

• disclose our confiden�al informa�on or intellectual property to compe�tors or third par�es;

• engage in ac�vi�es or employ prac�ces that may harm our reputa�on; and

• work with, be acquired by, or come under control of, our compe�tors.

The occurrence of any of these events, alone or together, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condi�on and results of
opera�ons. In addi�on, such problems may require us to find new third-party suppliers, manufacturers or distributors, and there can be no assurance that we
would be successful in finding third-party suppliers, manufacturers or distributors mee�ng our standards of innova�on and quality.

The management and oversight of the engagement and ac�vi�es of our third-party suppliers, manufacturers and distributors requires
substan�al �me, effort and expense of our employees, and we may be unable to successfully manage and oversee the ac�vi�es of our third-party
manufacturers, suppliers and distributors. If we experience any supply chain disrup�ons caused by our manufacturing process or by our inability to locate
suitable third-party manufacturers or suppliers, or if our manufacturers or raw material suppliers experience problems with product quality or disrup�ons or
delays in the manufacturing process or delivery of the finished products or the raw materials or components used to make such products, our business,
financial condi�on and results of opera�ons could be materially and adversely affected.

If we fail to manage our inventory effec�vely, our results of opera�ons, financial condi�on and liquidity may be materially and adversely affected.

Our business requires us to manage a large volume of inventory effec�vely. We depend on our forecasts of demand for, and popularity of,
various products to make purchase decisions and to manage our inventory of stock-keeping units. Demand for products, however, can change significantly
between the �me inventory or components are ordered and the date of sale. Demand may be affected by seasonality, new product launches, rapid changes
in product cycles and pricing, product defects, promo�ons, changes in consumer spending pa�erns, changes in consumer tastes with respect to our products
and other factors, and our consumers may not purchase products in the quan��es that we expect. It may be difficult to accurately forecast demand and
determine appropriate levels of product or components. We generally do not have the right to return unsold products to our suppliers. If we fail to manage
our inventory effec�vely or nego�ate favorable credit terms with third-party suppliers, we may be subject to a heightened risk of inventory obsolescence, a
decline in inventory values, and significant inventory write-downs or write-offs. In addi�on, if we are required to lower sale prices in order to reduce
inventory level or to pay higher prices to our suppliers, our profit margins might be nega�vely affected. Any of the above may materially and adversely affect
our business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons. See also “—Our quarterly results of opera�ons fluctuate due to seasonality, order pa�erns from
key retail customers and other factors, and we may not have sufficient liquidity to meet our seasonal working capital requirements.”

The outbreak of COVID-19 global pandemic and related government, private sector and individual consumer responsive ac�ons have adversely affected,
and will con�nue adversely affect, our business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons.

The outbreak of COVID-19 has been declared a pandemic by the World Health Organiza�on and con�nues to impact to the United States and
other countries. Related government and private sector responsive ac�ons, as well as changes in consumer shopping behaviors, have adversely affected, and
will con�nue to adversely affect our business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons.
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In response to the spread of COVID-19, interna�onal, federal, state and local governments have taken ac�ons to, and recommended precau�ons
to, mi�gate the spread of COVID-19, including warning against congrega�ng in heavily populated areas, such as malls, shopping centers, and other retailers
and pu�ng in place shelter-in-place regula�ons. There is significant uncertainty around the breadth and dura�on of business disrup�ons related to COVID-19,
as well as its impact on the United States and global economy and our consumers’ shopping habits. Decreased ac�vity at our retailers could result in a
decrease in sales of our products, which in turn could adversely affect our business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons.

While our suppliers and distribu�on centers currently remain open, there is risk that any of these facili�es (i) may become less produc�ve or
encounter disrup�ons due to employees at the facili�es becoming infected with COVID-19 and/or (ii) are no longer allowed to operate based on direc�ves
from public health officials or government authori�es.

As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, almost all of our personnel are working remotely, and it is possible that this could have a nega�ve impact
on the execu�on of our business plans and opera�ons. If a natural disaster, power outage, connec�vity issue, or other event occurs that impacts our
employees’ ability to work remotely, it may be difficult or, in certain cases, impossible, for us to con�nue our business for a substan�al period of �me. The
increase in remote working may also result in consumer privacy, IT security and fraud concerns as well as increase our exposure to poten�al wage and hour
issues.

The uncertainty around the dura�on of business disrup�ons and the extent of the spread of COVID-19 in the United States and to other areas of
the world will likely con�nue to adversely impact the na�onal or global economy and nega�vely impact consumer spending and shopping behaviors. Any of
these outcomes could have an adverse impact on our business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons.

The extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic impacts our results will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be
predicted, including new informa�on that may emerge concerning the severity of COVID-19 and the ac�ons taken to contain it or treat its impact, including
vaccina�on effec�veness and rates.

Risk factors related to our financial condi�on

Our substan�al indebtedness may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons.

As of March 31, 2021, we had a total of $126.8 million of indebtedness, consis�ng of amounts outstanding under our credit facili�es and capital
lease obliga�ons, and a total availability of $49.8 million under our Revolving Credit Facility (as defined in Part II, Item 7 “Management’s discussion and
analysis of financial condi�on and results of opera�ons” under the heading “Descrip�on of indebtedness”). Our indebtedness could have significant
consequences, including:

• requiring a substan�al por�on of our cash flows to be dedicated to debt service payments instead of funding growth, working capital, capital
expenditures, investments or other cash requirements;

• reducing our flexibility to adjust to changing business condi�ons or obtain addi�onal financing;

• exposing us to the risk of increased interest rates as our borrowings are at variable rates;

• making it more difficult for us to make payments on our indebtedness;

• subjec�ng us to restric�ve covenants that may limit our flexibility in opera�ng our business, including our ability to take certain ac�ons with respect
to indebtedness, liens, sales of assets, consolida�ons and mergers, affiliate transac�ons, dividends and other distribu�ons and changes of control;

• subjec�ng us to maintenance covenants which require us to maintain specific financial ra�os; and

• limi�ng our ability to obtain addi�onal financing for working capital, capital expenditures, debt service requirements and general corporate or other
purposes.
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If our cash from opera�ons is not sufficient to meet our current or future opera�ng needs, expenditures and debt service obliga�ons, our business,
financial condi�on and results of opera�ons may be materially and adversely affected.

We may require addi�onal cash resources due to changed business condi�ons or other future developments, including any marke�ng ini�a�ves,
investments or acquisi�ons we may decide to pursue. To the extent we are unable to generate sufficient cash flow, we may be forced to cancel, reduce or
delay these ac�vi�es. Alterna�vely, if our sources of funding are insufficient to sa�sfy our cash requirements, we may seek to obtain an addi�onal credit
facility or sell equity or debt securi�es. The sale of equity securi�es would result in dilu�on of our exis�ng stockholders. The incurrence of addi�onal
indebtedness would result in increased debt service obliga�ons and opera�ng and financing covenants that could restrict our opera�ons.

Our ability to generate cash to meet our opera�ng needs, expenditures and debt service obliga�ons will depend on our future performance and
financial condi�on, which will be affected by financial, business, economic, legisla�ve, regulatory and other factors, including poten�al changes in costs,
pricing, the success of product innova�on and marke�ng, compe��ve pressure and consumer preferences. If our cash flows and capital resources are
insufficient to fund our debt service obliga�ons and other cash needs, we could face substan�al liquidity problems and could be forced to reduce or delay
investments and capital expenditures or to dispose of material assets or opera�ons, seek addi�onal debt or equity capital or restructure or refinance our
indebtedness. Our credit facili�es may restrict our ability to take these ac�ons, and we may not be able to affect any such alterna�ve measures on
commercially reasonable terms, or at all. If we cannot make scheduled payments on our debt, the lenders under the Amended Credit Agreement (as defined
in Part II, Item 7 “Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condi�on and results of opera�ons” under the heading “Descrip�on of indebtedness”)
can terminate their commitments to loan money under the Amended Revolving Credit Facility, and our lenders under the Amended Credit Agreement can
declare all outstanding principal and interest to be due and payable and foreclose against the assets securing their borrowings, and we could be forced into
bankruptcy or liquida�on.

Furthermore, it is uncertain whether financing will be available in amounts or on terms acceptable to us, if at all, which could materially and
adversely affect our business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons.

Changes in tax law, in our tax rates or in exposure to addi�onal income tax liabili�es or assessments could materially and adversely affect our business,
financial condi�on and results of opera�ons.

Changes in law and policy rela�ng to taxes, including changes in administra�ve interpreta�ons and legal precedence, could materially and
adversely affect our business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons. For example, President Biden has proposed various changes to exis�ng U.S. tax
laws, including increasing the corporate income tax rate, increasing the income tax rate on certain earnings of foreign subsidiaries, imposing a minimum tax
on book income of certain corpora�ons, imposing an “offshoring tax penalty” and gran�ng incen�ves for certain qualified ac�vi�es performed in the United
States.

In addi�on, as we con�nue to expand our business interna�onally, the applica�on and implementa�on of exis�ng, new or future interna�onal
laws, including those proposed by the Organiza�on for Economic Coopera�on and Development intended to modernize interna�onal taxa�on rules, as well as
indirect taxes (such as a Value Added Tax), could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons.

Fluctua�ons in currency exchange rates may nega�vely affect our financial condi�on and results of opera�ons.

Exchange rate fluctua�ons may affect the costs that we incur in our opera�ons. The main currencies to which we are exposed are the Chinese
Renminbi ("RMB"), the Bri�sh pound and the Canadian dollar. The exchange rates between these currencies and the U.S. dollar in recent years have
fluctuated significantly and may con�nue to do so in the future. A deprecia�on of these currencies against the U.S. dollar will decrease the U.S. dollar
equivalent of the amounts derived from foreign opera�ons reported in our consolidated financial statements, and an apprecia�on of these currencies will
result in a corresponding increase in such amounts. The cost of certain items, such as raw materials, manufacturing, employee salaries and transporta�on and
freight, required by our opera�ons may be affected by changes in the value of the relevant currencies. To the extent that we are required to pay for goods or
services in foreign currencies, the apprecia�on of such currencies against the U.S. dollar will tend to nega�vely affect our business. There can be no assurance
that foreign currency fluctua�ons will not have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons.
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Risk factors related to our retail customers, consumers and the seasonality of our business

We depend on a limited number of retailers for a large por�on of our net sales, and the loss of one or more of these retailers, or business challenges at one
or more of these retailers, could adversely affect our results of opera�ons.

A limited number of our retail customers account for a large percentage of our net sales. We expect a small number of retailers will, in the
aggregate, con�nue to account for the majority of our net sales for foreseeable future periods. Any changes in the policies or our ability to meet the demands
of our retail customers rela�ng to service levels, inventory de-stocking, pricing and promo�onal strategies or limita�ons on access to display space could have
a material adverse effect on our business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons.

As is typical in our industry, our business with retailers is based primarily upon discrete sales orders, and we do not have contracts requiring
retailers to make firm purchases from us. Accordingly, retailers could reduce their purchasing levels or cease buying products from us at any �me and for any
reason. If we lose a significant retail customer or if sales of our products to a significant retailer materially decrease, it could have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons.

Because a high percentage of our sales are made through our retail customers, our results are subject to risks rela�ng to the general business
performance of our key retail customers. Factors that adversely affect our retail customers’ businesses may also have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons. These factors may include:

• any reduc�on in consumer traffic and demand at our retail customers as a result of economic downturns, pandemics or other health crises, changes
in consumer preferences or reputa�onal damage as a result of, among other developments, data privacy breaches, regulatory inves�ga�ons or
employee misconduct;

• any credit risks associated with the financial condi�on of our retail customers;

• the effect of consolida�on or weakness in the retail industry or at certain retail customers, including store closures and the resul�ng uncertainty; and

• inventory reduc�on ini�a�ves and other factors affec�ng retail customer buying pa�erns, including any reduc�on in retail space commi�ed to
beauty products and retailer prac�ces used to control inventory shrinkage.

Our quarterly results of opera�ons fluctuate due to seasonality, order pa�erns from key retail customers and other factors, and we may not have sufficient
liquidity to meet our seasonal working capital requirements.

Our results of opera�ons are subject to seasonal fluctua�ons, with net sales in the third and fourth fiscal quarters typically being higher than in
the first and second fiscal quarters. The higher net sales in our third and fourth fiscal quarters are largely a�ributable to the increased levels of purchasing by
retailers for the holiday season and customer shelf reset ac�vity, respec�vely. Adverse events that occur during either the third or fourth fiscal quarter could
have a dispropor�onate effect on our results of opera�ons for the en�re fiscal year. To support an�cipated higher sales during the third and fourth fiscal
quarters, we make investments in working capital to ensure inventory levels can support demand. Fluctua�ons throughout the year are also driven by the
�ming of product restocking or rearrangement by our major customers as well as our expansion into new customers. Because a limited number of our retail
customers account for a large percentage of our net sales, a change in the order pa�ern of one or more of our large retail customers could cause a significant
fluctua�on of our quarterly results or reduce our liquidity.

Furthermore, product orders from our large retail customers may vary over �me due to changes in their inventory or out-of-stock policies. If we
were to experience a significant shor�all in sales or profitability, we may not have sufficient liquidity to fund our business. As a result of quarterly fluctua�ons
caused by these and other factors, comparisons of our opera�ng results across different fiscal quarters may not be accurate indicators of our future
performance. Any quarterly fluctua�ons that we report in the future may differ from the expecta�ons of market analysts and investors, which could cause the
price of our common stock to fluctuate significantly.
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Risk factors related to informa�on technology and cybersecurity

We are increasingly dependent on informa�on technology, and if we are unable to protect against service interrup�ons, data corrup�on, cyber-based
a�acks or network security breaches, our opera�ons could be disrupted.

We rely on informa�on technology networks and systems to market and sell our products, to process electronic and financial informa�on, to
manage a variety of business processes and ac�vi�es and to comply with regulatory, legal and tax requirements. We are increasingly dependent on a variety
of informa�on systems to effec�vely process retail customer orders and fulfill consumer orders from our e-commerce business. We depend on our
informa�on technology infrastructure for digital marke�ng ac�vi�es and for electronic communica�ons among our personnel, retail customers, consumers,
manufacturers and suppliers around the world. These informa�on technology systems, some of which are managed by third par�es, may be suscep�ble to
damage, disrup�ons or shutdowns due to failures during the process of upgrading or replacing so�ware, databases or components, power outages, hardware
failures, computer viruses, a�acks by computer hackers, telecommunica�on failures, user errors or catastrophic events. Any material disrup�on of our
systems, or the systems of our third-party service providers, could disrupt our ability to track, record and analyze the products that we sell and could
nega�vely impact our opera�ons, shipment of goods, ability to process financial informa�on and transac�ons and our ability to receive and process retail
customer and e-commerce orders or engage in normal business ac�vi�es. If our informa�on technology systems suffer damage, disrup�on or shutdown, we
may incur substan�al cost in repairing or replacing these systems, and if we do not effec�vely resolve the issues in a �mely manner, our business, financial
condi�on and results of opera�ons may be materially and adversely affected, and we could experience delays in repor�ng our financial results.

Our e-commerce opera�ons are important to our business. Our e-commerce websites and mobile applica�ons serve as an effec�ve extension of
our marke�ng strategies by introducing poten�al new consumers to our brand, product offerings and enhanced content. Due to the importance of our e-
commerce opera�ons, we are vulnerable to website down�me and other technical failures. Our failure to successfully respond to these risks in a �mely
manner could reduce e-commerce sales and damage our brands' reputa�on.

We must successfully maintain and upgrade our informa�on technology systems, and our failure to do so could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons.

We have iden�fied the need to significantly expand and improve our informa�on technology systems and personnel to support historical and
expected future growth. As such, we are in process of implemen�ng, and will con�nue to invest in and implement, significant modifica�ons and upgrades to
our informa�on technology systems and procedures, including replacing legacy systems with successor systems, making changes to legacy systems or
acquiring new systems with new func�onality, hiring employees with informa�on technology exper�se and building new policies, procedures, training
programs and monitoring tools. These types of ac�vi�es subject us to inherent costs and risks associated with replacing and changing these systems,
including impairment of our ability to leverage our e-commerce channels, fulfill customer orders, poten�al disrup�on of our internal control structure,
substan�al capital expenditures, addi�onal administra�on and opera�ng expenses, acquisi�on and reten�on of sufficiently skilled personnel to implement
and operate the new systems, demands on management �me and other risks and costs of delays or difficul�es in transi�oning to or integra�ng new systems
into our current systems. These implementa�ons, modifica�ons and upgrades may not result in produc�vity improvements at a level that outweighs the costs
of implementa�on, or at all. In addi�on, difficul�es with implemen�ng new technology systems, delays in our �meline for planned improvements, significant
system failures, or our inability to successfully modify our informa�on systems to respond to changes in our business needs may cause disrup�ons in our
business opera�ons and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons.
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If we fail to adopt new technologies or adapt our e-commerce websites and systems to changing consumer requirements or emerging industry standards,
our business may be materially and adversely affected.

To remain compe��ve, we must con�nue to enhance and improve the responsiveness, func�onality and features of our informa�on technology,
including our e-commerce websites and mobile applica�ons. Our compe�tors are con�nually innova�ng and introducing new products to increase their
consumer base and enhance user experience. As a result, in order to a�ract and retain consumers and compete against our compe�tors, we must con�nue to
invest resources to enhance our informa�on technology and improve our exis�ng products and services for our consumers. The Internet and the online retail
industry are characterized by rapid technological evolu�on, changes in consumer requirements and preferences, frequent introduc�ons of new products and
services embodying new technologies and the emergence of new industry standards and prac�ces, any of which could render our exis�ng technologies and
systems obsolete. Our success will depend, in part, on our ability to iden�fy, develop, acquire or license leading technologies useful in our business, and
respond to technological advances and emerging industry standards and prac�ces in a cost-effec�ve and �mely way. The development of our e-commerce
websites, mobile applica�ons and other proprietary technology entails significant technical and business risks. There can be no assurance that we will be able
to properly implement or use new technologies effec�vely or adapt our e-commerce websites, mobile applica�ons and systems to meet consumer
requirements or emerging industry standards. If we are unable to adapt in a cost-effec�ve and �mely manner in response to changing market condi�ons or
consumer requirements, whether for technical, legal, financial or other reasons, our business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons may be materially
and adversely affected.

Failure to protect sensi�ve informa�on of our consumers and informa�on technology systems against security breaches could damage our reputa�on and
brand and substan�ally harm our business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons.

We collect, maintain, transmit and store data about our consumers, suppliers and others, including personal data, financial informa�on,
including consumer payment informa�on, as well as other confiden�al and proprietary informa�on important to our business. We also employ third-party
service providers that collect, store, process and transmit personal data, and confiden�al, proprietary and financial informa�on on our behalf.

We have in place technical and organiza�onal measures to maintain the security and safety of cri�cal proprietary, personal, employee, customer
and financial data which we con�nue to maintain and upgrade to industry standards. However, advances in technology, the pernicious ingenuity of criminals,
new exposures via cryptography, acts or omissions by our employees, contractors or service providers or other events or developments could result in a
compromise or breach in the security of confiden�al or personal data. We and our service providers may not be able to prevent third par�es, including
criminals, compe�tors or others, from breaking into or altering our systems, disrup�ng business opera�ons or communica�ons infrastructure through denial-
of-service a�acks, a�emp�ng to gain access to our systems, informa�on or monetary funds through phishing or social engineering campaigns, installing
viruses or malicious so�ware on our e-commerce websites or mobile applica�ons or devices used by our employees or contractors, or carrying out other
ac�vity intended to disrupt our systems or gain access to confiden�al or sensi�ve informa�on in our or our service providers’ systems. We are not aware of
any breach or compromise of the personal data of consumers, but we have been subject to a�acks (e.g. phishing, denial of service, etc.) in the past and
cannot guarantee that our security measures will be sufficient to prevent a material breach or compromise in the future.

Furthermore, such third par�es may engage in various other illegal ac�vi�es using such informa�on, including credit card fraud or iden�ty the�,
which may cause addi�onal harm to us, our consumers and our brands. We also may be vulnerable to error or malfeasance by our own employees or other
insiders. Third par�es may a�empt to fraudulently induce our or our service providers’ employees to misdirect funds or to disclose informa�on in order to
gain access to personal data we maintain about our consumers or website users. In addi�on, we have limited control or influence over the security policies or
measures adopted by third-party providers of online payment services through which some of our consumers may elect to make payment for purchases at
our e-commerce websites and mobile applica�ons. Contracted third-party delivery service providers may also violate their confiden�ality or data processing
obliga�ons and disclose or use informa�on about our consumers inadvertently or illegally.

If a material security breach were to occur, our reputa�on and brands could be damaged, and we could be required to expend significant capital
and other resources to alleviate problems caused by such breaches including exposure of li�ga�on or regulatory ac�on and a risk of loss and possible liability.
Actual or an�cipated a�acks may cause us to incur increasing costs, including costs to deploy addi�onal personnel and protec�on technologies, train
employees and engage third-party experts and consultants. In addi�on, any party who is able to illicitly obtain a subscriber’s password could access
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the subscriber’s financial, transac�on or personal informa�on. Any compromise or breach of our security measures, or those of our third-party service
providers, may violate applicable privacy, data security, financial, cyber and other laws and cause significant legal and financial exposure, adverse publicity,
and a loss of confidence in our security measures, all of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condi�on and results of
opera�ons. We may be subject to post-breach review of the adequacy of our privacy and security controls by regulators and other third par�es, which could
result in post-breach regulatory inves�ga�on, fines and consumer li�ga�on as well as regulatory oversight, at significant expense and risking reputa�onal
harm.

Furthermore, we are subject to diverse laws and regula�ons in the United States, the European Union, and other interna�onal jurisdic�ons that
require no�fica�on to affected individuals in the event of a breach involving personal informa�on. These required no�fica�ons can be �me-consuming and
costly. Furthermore, failure to comply with these laws and regula�ons could subject us to regulatory scru�ny and addi�onal liability. Although we maintain
relevant insurance, we cannot be certain that our insurance coverage will be adequate for all breach related liabili�es, that insurance will con�nue to be
available to us on economically reasonable terms, or at all, or that the insurer will not deny coverage as to any future claim. The successful asser�on of one or
more large claims against us that exceed available insurance coverage, or the occurrence of changes in our insurance policies, including premium increases or
the imposi�on of large deduc�ble or co-insurance requirements, could adversely affect our reputa�on, business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons.
We may need to devote significant resources to protect against security breaches or to address problems caused by breaches, diver�ng resources from the
growth and expansion of our business.

Payment methods used on our e-commerce websites subject us to third-party payment processing-related risks.

We accept payments from our consumers using a variety of methods, including online payments with credit cards and debit cards issued by
major banks, payments made with gi� cards processed by third-party providers and payment through third-party online payment pla�orms such as PayPal,
A�erpay and Apple Pay. We also rely on third par�es to provide payment processing services. For certain payment methods, including credit and debit cards,
we pay interchange and other fees, which may increase over �me and raise our opera�ng costs and lower our profit margins. We may also be subject to fraud
and other illegal ac�vi�es in connec�on with the various payment methods we offer, including online payment op�ons and gi� cards. Transac�ons on our e-
commerce websites and mobile applica�ons are card-not-present transac�ons, so they present a greater risk of fraud. Criminals are using increasingly
sophis�cated methods to engage in illegal ac�vi�es such as unauthorized use of credit or debit cards and bank account informa�on. Requirements rela�ng to
consumer authen�ca�on and fraud detec�on with respect to online sales are complex. We may ul�mately be held liable for the unauthorized use of a
cardholder’s card number in an illegal ac�vity and be required by card issuers to pay charge-back fees. Charge-backs result not only in our loss of fees earned
with respect to the payment, but also leave us liable for the underlying money transfer amount. If our charge-back rate becomes excessive, card associa�ons
also may require us to pay fines or refuse to process our transac�ons. In addi�on, we may be subject to addi�onal fraud risk if third-party service providers or
our employees fraudulently use consumer informa�on for their own gain or facilitate the fraudulent use of such informa�on. Overall, we may have li�le
recourse if we process a criminally fraudulent transac�on.

We are subject to payment card associa�on opera�ng rules, cer�fica�on requirements and various rules, regula�ons and requirements
governing electronic funds transfers, which could change or be reinterpreted to make it difficult or impossible for us to comply. As our business changes, we
may also be subject to different rules under exis�ng standards, which may require new assessments that involve costs above what we currently pay for
compliance. If we fail to comply with the rules or requirements of any provider of a payment method we accept, or if the volume of fraud in our transac�ons
limits or terminates our rights to use payment methods we currently accept, or if a data breach occurs rela�ng to our payment systems, among other things,
we may be subject to fines and higher transac�on fees and lose our ability to accept credit and debit card payments from our consumers, process electronic
funds transfers or facilitate other types of online payments, and our reputa�on and our business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons could be
materially and adversely affected.

Risk factors related to conduc�ng business interna�onally

We have significant opera�ons in China, which exposes us to risks inherent in doing business in that country.

We currently source and manufacture a substan�al number of our products from third-party suppliers and manufacturers in China. As of March
31, 2021, we had a team of 76 employees in China to manage our supply chain. With the rapid development of the Chinese economy, the cost of labor has
increased and may con�nue to increase in the future. Our results of opera�ons will be materially and adversely affected if our labor costs, or the labor costs
of our suppliers and manufacturers, increase significantly. In addi�on, we and our manufacturers and suppliers may not be able to find a sufficient
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number of qualified workers due to the intensely compe��ve and fluid market for skilled labor in China. Furthermore, pursuant to Chinese labor laws,
employers in China are subject to various requirements when signing labor contracts, paying remunera�on, determining the term of employees’ proba�on
and unilaterally termina�ng labor contracts. These labor laws and related regula�ons impose liabili�es on employers and may significantly increase the costs
of workforce reduc�ons. If we decide to change or reduce our workforce, these labor laws could limit or restrict our ability to make such changes in a �mely,
favorable and effec�ve manner. Any of these events may materially and adversely affect our business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons.

Opera�ng in China exposes us to poli�cal, legal and economic risks. In par�cular, the poli�cal, legal and economic climate in China, both
na�onally and regionally, is fluid and unpredictable. Our ability to operate in China may be adversely affected by changes in the United States and Chinese
laws and regula�ons such as those related to, among other things, taxa�on, import and export tariffs, environmental regula�ons, land use rights, intellectual
property, currency controls, network security, employee benefits, hygiene supervision and other ma�ers. In addi�on, we may not obtain or retain the
requisite legal permits to con�nue to operate in China, and costs or opera�onal limita�ons may be imposed in connec�on with obtaining and complying with
such permits. In addi�on, Chinese trade regula�ons are in a state of flux, and we may become subject to other forms of taxa�on, tariffs and du�es in China.
Furthermore, the third par�es we rely on in China may disclose our confiden�al informa�on or intellectual property to compe�tors or third par�es, which
could result in the illegal distribu�on and sale of counterfeit versions of our products. If any of these events occur, our business, financial condi�on and results
of opera�ons could be materially and adversely affected.

Adverse economic condi�ons in the United States, Europe or China or any of the other countries in which we may conduct business could nega�vely affect
our business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons.

Consumer spending on beauty products is influenced by general economic condi�ons and the availability of discre�onary income. Adverse
economic condi�ons in the United States, Europe, China or any of the other countries in which we do significant business, or periods of infla�on or high
energy prices may contribute to higher unemployment levels, decreased consumer spending, reduced credit availability and declining consumer confidence
and demand, each of which poses a risk to our business. A decrease in consumer spending or in retailer and consumer confidence and demand for our
products could have a significant nega�ve impact on our net sales and profitability, including our opera�ng margins and return on invested capital. These
economic condi�ons could cause some of our retail customers or suppliers to experience cash flow or credit problems and impair their financial condi�on,
which could disrupt our business and adversely affect product orders, payment pa�erns and default rates and increase our bad debt expense.

We are subject to interna�onal business uncertain�es.

We sell our products to customers located outside the United States. In addi�on, substan�ally all of our third-party suppliers and manufacturers
are located in China and certain other foreign countries. We intend to con�nue to sell to customers outside the United States and maintain our rela�onships
in China and other foreign countries where have suppliers and manufacturers. Further, we may establish addi�onal rela�onships in other countries to grow
our opera�ons. The substan�al up-front investment required, the lack of consumer awareness of our products in jurisdic�ons outside of the United States,
differences in consumer preferences and trends between the United States and other jurisdic�ons, the risk of inadequate intellectual property protec�ons
and differences in packaging, labeling and related laws, rules and regula�ons are all substan�al ma�ers that need to be evaluated prior to doing business in
new territories. We cannot be assured that our interna�onal efforts will be successful. Interna�onal sales and increased interna�onal opera�ons may be
subject to risks such as:

• difficul�es in staffing and managing foreign opera�ons;

• burdens of complying with a wide variety of laws and regula�ons, including more stringent regula�ons rela�ng to data privacy and security,
par�cularly in the United Kingdom and the European Union;

• adverse tax effects and foreign exchange controls making it difficult to repatriate earnings and cash;

• poli�cal and economic instability;

• terrorist ac�vi�es and natural disasters;

• trade restric�ons;
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• disrup�ons or delays in shipments whether due to port conges�on, container shortages, labor disputes, product regula�ons and/or inspec�ons or
other factors, natural disasters or health pandemics, or other transporta�on disrup�ons;

• differing employment prac�ces and laws and labor disrup�ons;

• the imposi�on of government controls;

• an inability to use or to obtain adequate intellectual property protec�on for our key brands and products;

• tariffs and customs du�es and the classifica�ons of our goods by applicable governmental bodies;

• a legal system subject to undue influence or corrup�on;

• a business culture in which illegal sales prac�ces may be prevalent;

• logis�cs and sourcing; and

• military conflicts.

The occurrence of any of these risks could nega�vely affect our interna�onal business and consequently our overall business, financial condi�on
and results of opera�ons.

Risk factors related to evolving laws and regula�ons and compliance with laws and regula�ons

New laws, regula�ons, enforcement trends or changes in exis�ng regula�ons governing the introduc�on, marke�ng and sale of our products to consumers
could harm our business.

There has been an increase in regulatory ac�vity and ac�vism in the United States and abroad, and the regulatory landscape is becoming more
complex with increasingly strict requirements. If this trend con�nues, we may find it necessary to alter some of the ways we have tradi�onally manufactured
and marketed our products in order to stay in compliance with a changing regulatory landscape, and this could add to the costs of our opera�ons and have an
adverse impact on our business. To the extent federal, state, local or foreign regulatory changes regarding consumer protec�on, or the ingredients, claims or
safety of our products occur in the future, they could require us to reformulate or discon�nue certain of our products, revise the product packaging or
labeling, or adjust opera�ons and systems, any of which could result in, among other things, increased costs, delays in product launches, product returns or
recalls and lower net sales, and therefore could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons. Noncompliance
with applicable regula�ons could result in enforcement ac�on by the FDA or other regulatory authori�es within or outside the United States, including but
not limited to product seizures, injunc�ons, product recalls and criminal or civil monetary penal�es, all of which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons.

In the United States, the FDA does not currently require pre-market approval for products intended to be sold as cosme�cs. However, the FDA
may in the future require pre-market approval, clearance or registra�on/no�fica�on of cosme�c products, establishments or manufacturing facili�es.
Moreover, such products could also be regulated as both drugs and cosme�cs simultaneously, as the categories are not mutually exclusive. The statutory and
regulatory requirements applicable to drugs are extensive and require significant resources and �me to ensure compliance. For example, if any of our
products intended to be sold as cosme�cs were to be regulated as drugs, we might be required to conduct, among other things, clinical trials to demonstrate
the safety and efficacy of these products. We may not have sufficient resources to conduct any required clinical trials or to ensure compliance with the
manufacturing requirements applicable to drugs. If the FDA determines that any of our products intended to be sold as cosme�cs should be classified and
regulated as drug products and we are unable to comply with applicable drug requirements, we may be unable to con�nue to market those products. Any
inquiry into the regulatory status of our cosme�cs and any related interrup�on in the marke�ng and sale of these products could damage our reputa�on and
image in the marketplace.

In recent years, the FDA has issued warning le�ers to several cosme�c companies alleging improper claims regarding their cosme�c products. If
the FDA determines that we have disseminated inappropriate drug claims for our products intended to be sold as cosme�cs, we could receive a warning or
un�tled le�er, be required to modify our product
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claims or take other ac�ons to sa�sfy the FDA. In addi�on, plain�ffs’ lawyers have filed class ac�on lawsuits against cosme�c companies a�er receipt of these
types of FDA warning le�ers. There can be no assurance that we will not be subject to state and federal government ac�ons or class ac�on lawsuits, which
could harm our business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons.

Addi�onal state and federal requirements may be imposed on consumer products as well as cosme�cs, cosme�c ingredients, or the labeling and
packaging of products intended for use as cosme�cs. For example, several lawmakers are currently focused on giving the FDA addi�onal authority to regulate
cosme�cs and their ingredients. This increased authority could require the FDA to impose increased tes�ng and manufacturing requirements on cosme�c
manufacturers or cosme�cs or their ingredients before they may be marketed. We are unable to ascertain what, if any, impact any increased statutory or
regulatory requirements may have on our business.

We sell a number of products as over-the-counter (“OTC”) drug products, which are subject to the FDA OTC drug regulatory requirements
because they are intended to be used as sunscreen or to treat acne. The FDA regulates the formula�on, manufacturing, packaging and labeling of OTC drug
products. Our sunscreen and acne drug products are regulated pursuant to FDA OTC drug monographs that specify acceptable ac�ve drug ingredients and
acceptable product claims that are generally recognized as safe and effec�ve for par�cular uses. If any of these products that are marketed as OTC drugs are
not in compliance with the applicable FDA monograph, we may be required to reformulate the product, stop making claims rela�ng to such product or stop
selling the product un�l we are able to obtain costly and �me-consuming FDA approvals. We are also required to submit adverse event reports to the FDA for
our OTC drug products, and failure to comply with this requirement may subject us to FDA regulatory ac�on.

We also sell a number of consumer products, which are subject to regula�on by the CPSC in the United States under the provisions of the
Consumer Product Safety Act, as amended by the Consumer Product Safety Improvement Act of 2008. These statutes and the related regula�ons ban from
the market consumer products that fail to comply with applicable product safety laws, regula�ons and standards. The CPSC has the authority to require the
recall, repair, replacement or refund of any such banned products or products that otherwise create a substan�al risk of injury and may seek penal�es for
regulatory noncompliance under certain circumstances. The CPSC also requires manufacturers of consumer products to report certain types of informa�on to
the CPSC regarding products that fail to comply with applicable regula�ons. Certain state laws also address the safety of consumer products, and mandate
repor�ng requirements, and noncompliance may result in penal�es or other regulatory ac�on.

Our products are also subject to state laws and regula�ons, such as the California Safe Drinking Water and Toxic Enforcement Act, also known as
“Prop 65,” and failure to comply with such laws may also result in lawsuits and regulatory enforcement that could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons.

Our facili�es and those of our third-party manufacturers are subject to regula�on under the Federal Food, Drug and Cosme�c Act (the “FDCA”) and FDA
implemen�ng regula�ons.

Our facili�es and those of our third-party manufacturers are subject to regula�on under the FDCA and FDA implemen�ng regula�ons. The FDA
may inspect all of our facili�es and those of our third-party manufacturers periodically to determine if we and our third-party manufacturers are complying
with provisions of the FDCA and FDA regula�ons. In addi�on, third-party manufacturer’s facili�es for manufacturing OTC drug products must comply with the
FDA’s current drug good manufacturing prac�ces (“GMP”) requirements that require us and our manufacturers to maintain, among other things, good
manufacturing processes, including stringent vendor qualifica�ons, ingredient iden�fica�on, manufacturing controls and record keeping.

Our opera�ons could be harmed if regulatory authori�es make determina�ons that we, or our vendors, are not in compliance with these
regula�ons. If the FDA finds a viola�on of GMPs, it may enjoin our manufacturer’s opera�ons, seize product, restrict importa�on of goods, and impose
administra�ve, civil or criminal penal�es. If we or our third-party manufacturers fail to comply with applicable regulatory requirements, we could be required
to take costly correc�ve ac�ons, including suspending manufacturing opera�ons, changing product formula�ons, suspending sales, or ini�a�ng product
recalls. In addi�on, compliance with these regula�ons has increased and may further increase the cost of manufacturing certain of our products as we work
with our vendors to ensure they are qualified and in compliance. Any of these outcomes could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condi�on and results of opera�ons.
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Government regula�ons and private party ac�ons rela�ng to the marke�ng and adver�sing of our products and services may restrict, inhibit or delay our
ability to sell our products and harm our business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons.

Government authori�es regulate adver�sing and product claims regarding the performance and benefits of our products. These regulatory
authori�es typically require a reasonable basis to support any marke�ng claims. What cons�tutes a reasonable basis for substan�a�on can vary widely from
market to market, and there is no assurance that the efforts that we undertake to support our claims will be deemed adequate for any par�cular product or
claim. A significant area of risk for such ac�vi�es relates to improper or unsubstan�ated claims about our products and their use or safety. If we are unable to
show adequate substan�a�on for our product claims, or our promo�onal materials make claims that exceed the scope of allowed claims for the classifica�on
of the specific product, whether cosme�cs, OTC drug products or other consumer products that we offer, the FDA, the FTC or other regulatory authori�es
could take enforcement ac�on or impose penal�es, such as monetary consumer redress, requiring us to revise our marke�ng materials, amend our claims or
stop selling certain products, all of which could harm our business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons. Any regulatory ac�on or penalty could lead to
private party ac�ons, or private par�es could seek to challenge our claims even in the absence of formal regulatory ac�ons which could harm our business,
financial condi�on and results of opera�ons.

Our business is subject to complex and evolving U.S. and foreign laws and regula�ons regarding privacy and data protec�on. Many of these laws and
regula�ons are subject to change and uncertain interpreta�on, and could result in claims, changes to our business prac�ces, monetary penal�es,
increased costs of opera�ons or otherwise harm our business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons.

We are subject to a variety of laws and regula�ons in the United States and abroad regarding privacy and data protec�on, some of which can be
enforced by private par�es or government en��es and some of which provide for significant penal�es for non-compliance. Such laws and regula�ons restrict
how personal informa�on is collected, processed, stored, used and disclosed, as well as set standards for its security, implement no�ce requirements
regarding privacy prac�ces, and provide individuals with certain rights regarding the use, disclosure, and sale of their protected personal informa�on. For
example, the UK General Data Protec�on Regula�on (the “UK GDPR”) and the European Union’s General Data Protec�on Regula�on (the “GDPR”) each allows
for a private right of ac�on, imposes stringent data protec�on requirements on companies that offer goods or services to, or monitor the behavior of,
individuals in the United Kingdom or the European Economic Area (the “EEA”), as applicable. The UK GDPR and the GDPR establishes a robust framework of
data subjects’ rights and imposes onerous accountability obliga�ons on companies, with penal�es for noncompliance of up to the greater of 17.5 million
Bri�sh pounds or 20 million euros, respec�vely, or 4% of annual global revenue.

Furthermore, the California Consumer Privacy Act (the “CCPA”) requires new disclosures to California consumers, imposes new rules for
collec�ng or using informa�on about minors, affords California consumers new abili�es to opt out of certain disclosures of personal informa�on and also
establishes significant penal�es for noncompliance. Addi�onally, in November 2020, California voters passed the California Privacy Rights Act (the “CPRA”).
The CPRA, which is expected to take effect on January 1, 2023, significantly expands the CCPA, including by introducing addi�onal obliga�ons such as data
minimiza�on and storage limita�ons, gran�ng addi�onal rights to consumers such as correc�on of personal informa�on and addi�onal opt-out rights, and
creates a new en�ty, the California Privacy Protec�on Agency, to implement and enforce the law. The effects of the CPRA are poten�ally significant and may
require us to modify our data collec�on or processing prac�ces and policies and to incur substan�al costs and expenses in an effort to comply, and increase
our poten�al exposure to regulatory enforcement and/or li�ga�on.

We are also subject to European Union and United Kingdom rules with respect to cross-border transfers of personal data out of the EEA and the
United Kingdom. Recent legal developments in Europe have created complexity and uncertainty regarding transfers of personal data. As supervisory
authori�es issue further guidance on personal data export mechanisms, including circumstances where the standard contractual clauses cannot be used,
and/or start taking enforcement ac�on, we could suffer addi�onal costs, complaints and/or regulatory inves�ga�ons or fines, and/or if we are otherwise
unable to transfer personal data between and among countries and regions in which we operate, it could affect the manner in which we operate our business
and could harm our business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons.

In addi�on, the United Kingdom’s withdrawal from the European Union means that the United Kingdom will become a “third country” for the
purposes of data transfers from the EEA to the United Kingdom following the expira�on of the six-month personal data transfer grace period (due to end on
July 1, 2021), unless a relevant adequacy decision is adopted in favor of the United Kingdom (which would allow data transfers without addi�onal measures).
These changes may require us to find alterna�ve solu�ons for the compliant transfer of personal data into the United Kingdom from the EEA.
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Data privacy con�nues to remain a ma�er of interest to lawmakers and regulators. A number of proposals are pending before federal, state and
foreign legisla�ve and regulatory bodies and addi�onal laws and regula�ons have been passed but are not yet effec�ve, all of which could significantly affect
our business. Some U.S. states have enacted or are considering enac�ng stricter data privacy laws, some modeled on the GDPR, some modeled on the CCPA,
and others poten�ally imposing completely dis�nct requirements. For example, on March 2, 2021, Virginia enacted the Virginia Consumer Data Protec�on Act
(“CDPA”), a comprehensive privacy statute that shares similari�es with the CCPA, CPRA, and legisla�on proposed in other states. Addi�onally, the United
States is considering comprehensive federal privacy legisla�on, such as the Consumer Online Privacy Rights Act, which would significantly expand elements of
the data protec�on rights and obliga�ons exis�ng within the GDPR and the CCPA to all U.S. consumers.

In addi�on, the European Union's ins�tu�ons are deba�ng the ePrivacy Regula�on, which would repeal and replace the current ePrivacy
Direc�ve that regulates electronic marke�ng and use of cookies and tracking technologies. While the text of the ePrivacy Regula�on is s�ll under
development, a recent European court decision and regulators’ recent guidance are driving increased a�en�on to cookies, web beacons and similar
technology. These decisions and guidance, as well as the implementa�on of the ePrivacy Regula�on, could affect our ability to use our consumer’s data for
personalized adver�sing, and alter our ability to place adver�sements across social media and the web. Furthermore, the current European Union member
states’ and the United Kingdom's local guidance has significantly increased the risk of penal�es for breach of the GDPR, the UK GDPR, and law implemen�ng
the ePrivacy Direc�ve. If regulators start to enforce the strict approach outlined in recent guidance, this could lead to substan�al costs, require significant
systems changes, broader restric�ons on the way we market our products on a global basis and increase our risk of regulatory oversight our ability to reach
our consumers, and our capability to provide our consumers with personalized services and experiences.

Several countries in Europe have also recently issued guidance on the use of cookies and similar tracking technologies which require an
addi�onal layer of consent from, and disclosure to, website users for third party adver�sing, social media adver�sing and analy�cs. Regula�on of cookies and
similar technologies may lead to broader restric�ons on our marke�ng and personaliza�on ac�vi�es and may nega�vely impact our efforts to understand
users’ Internet usage, online shopping and other relevant online behaviors, as well as the effec�veness of our marke�ng and our business generally. Such
regula�ons, including uncertain�es about how well the adver�sing technology ecosystem can adapt to legal changes around the use of tracking technologies,
may have a nega�ve effect on businesses, including ours, that collect and use online usage informa�on for consumer acquisi�on and marke�ng. The decline
of cookies or other online tracking technologies as a means to iden�fy and target poten�al purchasers, may increase the cost of opera�ng our business and
lead to a decline in revenues. In addi�on, legal uncertain�es about the legality of cookies and other tracking technologies may increase regulatory scru�ny
and increase poten�al civil liability under data protec�on or consumer protec�on laws.

Compliance with exis�ng, not yet effec�ve, and proposed privacy and data protec�on laws and regula�ons can be costly and can delay or
impede our ability to market and sell our products, impede our ability to conduct business through websites and mobile applica�ons we and our partners
may operate, require us to modify or amend our informa�on prac�ces and policies, change and limit the way we use consumer informa�on in opera�ng our
business, cause us to have difficulty maintaining a single opera�ng model, result in nega�ve publicity, increase our opera�ng costs, require significant
management �me and a�en�on, or subject us to inquiries or inves�ga�ons, claims or other remedies, including significant fines and penal�es, or demands
that we modify or cease exis�ng business prac�ces. In addi�on, if our privacy or data security measures fail to comply with applicable current or future laws
and regula�ons, we may be subject to li�ga�on, regulatory inves�ga�ons, enforcement no�ces requiring us to change the way we use personal data or our
marke�ng prac�ces, fines or other liabili�es, as well as nega�ve publicity and a poten�al loss of business. We may also face civil claims including
representa�ve ac�ons and other class ac�on type li�ga�on (where individuals have suffered harm), poten�ally amoun�ng to significant compensa�on or
damages liabili�es, as well as associated costs, and diversion of internal resources. Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condi�on and results of opera�ons.

Failure to comply with the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Prac�ces Act, other applicable an�-corrup�on and an�-bribery laws, and applicable trade control laws
could subject us to penal�es and other adverse consequences.

We currently source and manufacture a substan�al number of our products from third-party suppliers and manufacturers located outside of the
United States, and we have an office in China from which we manage our interna�onal supply chain. We sell our products in several countries outside of the
United States, including through distributors. Our opera�ons are subject to the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Prac�ces Act (the “FCPA”), as well as the an�-corrup�on
and an�-bribery laws in the countries where we do business. The FCPA prohibits covered par�es from offering, promising, authorizing or giving anything of
value, directly or indirectly, to a “foreign government official” with the intent of improperly influencing the
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official’s act or decision, inducing the official to act or refrain from ac�ng in viola�on of lawful duty, or obtaining or retaining an improper business advantage.
The FCPA also requires publicly traded companies to maintain records that accurately and fairly represent their transac�ons, and to have an adequate system
of internal accoun�ng controls. In addi�on, other applicable an�-corrup�on laws prohibit bribery of domes�c government officials, and some laws that may
apply to our opera�ons prohibit commercial bribery, including giving or receiving improper payments to or from non-government par�es, as well as so-called
“facilita�on” payments. In addi�on, we are subject to United States and other applicable trade control regula�ons that restrict with whom we may transact
business, including the trade sanc�ons enforced by the U.S. Treasury, Office of Foreign Assets Control (OFAC).

While we have implemented policies, internal controls and other measures reasonably designed to promote compliance with applicable an�-
corrup�on and an�-bribery laws and regula�ons, and certain safeguards designed to ensure compliance with U.S. trade control laws, our employees or agents
may engage in improper conduct for which we might be held responsible. Any viola�ons of these an�-corrup�on or trade controls laws, or even allega�ons of
such viola�ons, can lead to an inves�ga�on and/or enforcement ac�on, which could disrupt our opera�ons, involve significant management distrac�on, and
lead to significant costs and expenses, including legal fees. If we, or our employees or agents ac�ng on our behalf, are found to have engaged in prac�ces that
violate these laws and regula�ons, we could suffer severe fines and penal�es, profit disgorgement, injunc�ons on future conduct, securi�es li�ga�on, bans on
transac�ng government business, delis�ng from securi�es exchanges and other consequences that may have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condi�on and results of opera�ons. In addi�on, our brands and reputa�on, our sales ac�vi�es or our stock price could be adversely affected if we
become the subject of any nega�ve publicity related to actual or poten�al viola�ons of an�-corrup�on, an�-bribery or trade control laws and regula�ons.

Government regula�on of the Internet and e-commerce is evolving, and unfavorable changes or failure by us to comply with these regula�ons could
substan�ally harm our business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons.

We are subject to general business regula�ons and laws as well as regula�ons and laws specifically governing the Internet and e-commerce.
Exis�ng and future regula�ons and laws could impede the growth of the Internet, e-commerce or mobile commerce. These regula�ons and laws may involve
taxes, tariffs, privacy and data security, an�-spam, content protec�on, electronic contracts and communica�ons, consumer protec�on, social media
marke�ng, third-party cookies, web beacons and similar technology for online behavioral adver�sing and gi� cards. It is not clear how exis�ng laws governing
issues such as property ownership, sales and other taxes and consumer privacy apply to the Internet as the vast majority of these laws were adopted prior to
the advent of the Internet and do not contemplate or address the unique issues raised by the Internet or e-commerce. It is possible that general business
regula�ons and laws, or those specifically governing the Internet or e-commerce, may be interpreted and applied in a manner that is inconsistent from one
jurisdic�on to another and may conflict with other rules or our prac�ces. We cannot be sure that our prac�ces have complied, comply or will comply fully
with all such laws and regula�ons. Any failure, or perceived failure, by us to comply with any of these laws or regula�ons could result in damage to our
reputa�on, a loss in business and proceedings or ac�ons against us by governmental en��es or others. Any such proceeding or ac�on could hurt our
reputa�on, force us to spend significant amounts in defense of these proceedings, distract our management, increase our costs of doing business and
decrease the use of our sites by consumers and suppliers and may result in the imposi�on of monetary liability. We may also be contractually liable to
indemnify and hold harmless third par�es from the costs or consequences of non-compliance with any such laws or regula�ons. In addi�on, it is possible that
governments of one or more countries may seek to censor content available on our sites or may even a�empt to completely block access to our sites.
Adverse legal or regulatory developments could substan�ally harm our business. In par�cular, in the event that we are restricted, in whole or in part, from
opera�ng in one or more countries, our ability to retain or increase our consumer base may be adversely affected, and we may not be able to maintain or
grow our net sales and expand our business as an�cipated.

Risk factors related to legal and regulatory proceedings

We are involved, and may become involved in the future, in disputes and other legal or regulatory proceedings that, if adversely decided or se�led, could
materially and adversely affect our business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons.

We are, and may in the future become, party to li�ga�on, regulatory proceedings or other disputes. In general, claims made by or against us in
disputes and other legal or regulatory proceedings can be expensive and �me consuming to bring or defend against, requiring us to expend significant
resources and divert the efforts and a�en�on of our management and other personnel from our business opera�ons. These poten�al claims include, but are
not limited to, personal injury claims, class ac�on lawsuits, intellectual property claims, employment li�ga�on and regulatory inves�ga�ons and causes of

25



ac�on rela�ng to the adver�sing and promo�onal claims about our products. Any adverse determina�on against us in these proceedings, or even the
allega�ons contained in the claims, regardless of whether they are ul�mately found to be without merit, may also result in se�lements, injunc�ons or
damages that could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons.

We may be required to recall products and may face product liability claims, either of which could result in unexpected costs and damage our reputa�on.

We sell products for human use. Our products intended for use as cosme�cs or skin care are not generally subject to pre-market approval or
registra�on processes, so we cannot rely upon a government safety panel to qualify or approve our products for use. A product may be safe for the general
popula�on when used as directed but could cause an adverse reac�on for a person who has a health condi�on or allergies, or who is taking a prescrip�on
medica�on. While we include what we believe are adequate instruc�ons and warnings and we have historically had low numbers of reported adverse
reac�ons, previously unknown adverse reac�ons could occur. If we discover that any of our products are causing adverse reac�ons, we could suffer adverse
publicity or regulatory/government sanc�ons.

Poten�al product liability risks may arise from the tes�ng, manufacture and sale of our products, including that the products fail to meet quality
or manufacturing specifica�ons, contain contaminants, include inadequate instruc�ons as to their proper use, include inadequate warnings concerning side
effects and interac�ons with other substances or for persons with health condi�ons or allergies, or cause adverse reac�ons or side effects. Product liability
claims could increase our costs, and adversely affect our business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons. As we con�nue to offer an increasing number
of new products, our product liability risk may increase. It may be necessary for us to recall products that do not meet approved specifica�ons or because of
the side effects resul�ng from the use of our products, which would result in adverse publicity, poten�ally significant costs in connec�on with the recall and
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons.

In addi�on, plain�ffs in the past have received substan�al damage awards from other cosme�c and drug companies based upon claims for
injuries allegedly caused by the use of their products. Although we currently maintain general liability insurance, any claims brought against us may exceed
our exis�ng or future insurance policy coverage or limits. Any judgment against us that is in excess of our policy coverage or limits would have to be paid from
our cash reserves, which would reduce our capital resources. In addi�on, we may be required to pay higher premiums and accept higher deduc�bles in order
to secure adequate insurance coverage in the future. Further, we may not have sufficient capital resources to pay a judgment, in which case our creditors
could levy against our assets. Any product liability claim or series of claims brought against us could harm our business significantly, par�cularly if a claim
were to result in adverse publicity or damage awards outside or in excess of our insurance policy limits.

Risk factors related to intellectual property

If we are unable to protect our intellectual property, the value of our brands and other intangible assets may be diminished, and our business may be
adversely affected.

We rely on trademark, copyright, trade secret, patent and other laws protec�ng proprietary rights, nondisclosure and confiden�ality agreements
and other prac�ces, to protect our brands and proprietary informa�on, technologies and processes. Our primary trademarks include “e.l.f.,” “e.l.f. eyes lips
face,” “W3LL PEOPLE,” and “Keys Soulcare” all of which are registered or have registra�ons pending in the United States and in many other countries or
registries. Our trademarks are valuable assets that support our brands and consumers’ percep�on of our products. Although we have exis�ng and pending
trademark registra�ons for our brands in the United States and in many of the foreign countries in which we operate, we may not be successful in asser�ng
trademark or trade name protec�on in all jurisdic�ons. We also have not applied for trademark protec�on in all relevant foreign jurisdic�ons and cannot
assure you that our pending trademark applica�ons will be approved. Third par�es may also a�empt to register our trademarks abroad in jurisdic�ons where
we have not yet applied for trademark protec�on, oppose our trademark applica�ons domes�cally or abroad, or otherwise challenge our use of the
trademarks. In the event that our trademarks are successfully challenged, we could be forced to rebrand our products in some parts of the world, which could
result in the loss of brand recogni�on and could require us to devote resources to adver�sing and marke�ng new brands.

We have limited patent protec�on, which limits our ability to protect our products from compe��on. We primarily rely on know-how to protect
our products. It is possible that others will independently develop the same or similar know-how, which may allow them to sell products similar to ours. If
others obtain access to our know-how, our confiden�ality agreements may not effec�vely prevent disclosure of our proprietary informa�on, technologies and
processes and may not
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provide an adequate remedy in the event of unauthorized use of such informa�on, which could harm our compe��ve posi�on.

The efforts we have taken to protect our proprietary rights may not be sufficient or effec�ve. In addi�on, effec�ve trademark, copyright, patent
and trade secret protec�on may be unavailable or limited for certain of our intellectual property in some foreign countries. Other par�es may infringe our
intellectual property rights and may dilute our brands in the marketplace. We may need to engage in li�ga�on or other ac�vi�es to enforce our intellectual
property rights, to protect our trade secrets or to determine the validity and scope of proprietary rights of others. Any such ac�vi�es could require us to
expend significant resources and divert the efforts and a�en�on of our management and other personnel from our business opera�ons. If we fail to protect
our intellectual property or other proprietary rights, our business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons may be materially and adversely affected.

Our success depends on our ability to operate our business without infringing, misappropria�ng or otherwise viola�ng the trademarks, patents, copyrights
and other proprietary rights of third par�es.

Our commercial success depends in part on our ability to operate without infringing, misappropria�ng or otherwise viola�ng the trademarks,
patents, copyrights, trade secrets and other proprietary rights of others. We cannot be certain that the conduct of our business does not and will not infringe,
misappropriate or otherwise violate such rights. From �me to �me we receive allega�ons of trademark or patent infringement and third par�es have filed
claims against us with allega�ons of intellectual property infringement. In addi�on, third par�es may involve us in intellectual property disputes as part of a
business model or strategy to gain compe��ve advantage.

To the extent we gain greater visibility and market exposure as a public company or otherwise, we may also face a greater risk of being the
subject of such claims and li�ga�on. For these and other reasons, third par�es may allege that our products or ac�vi�es infringe, misappropriate, dilute or
otherwise violate their trademark, patent, copyright or other proprietary rights. Defending against allega�ons and li�ga�on could be expensive, occupy
significant amounts of �me, divert management’s a�en�on from other business concerns and have an adverse impact on our ability to bring products to
market. In addi�on, if we are found to infringe, misappropriate, dilute or otherwise violate third-party trademark, patent, copyright or other proprietary
rights, our ability to use brands to the fullest extent we plan may be limited, we may need to obtain a license, which may not be available on commercially
reasonable terms, or at all, or we may need to redesign or rebrand our marke�ng strategies or products, which may not be possible.

We may also be required to pay substan�al damages or be subject to an order prohibi�ng us and our retail customers from impor�ng or selling
certain products or engaging in certain ac�vi�es. Our inability to operate our business without infringing, misappropria�ng or otherwise viola�ng the
trademarks, patents, copyrights and proprietary rights of others could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condi�on and results of
opera�ons.

Our agreement with Alicia Keys for our Keys Soulcare brand may be terminated if specified condi�ons are not met.

We have an agreement with Alicia Keys regarding our Keys Soulcare brand, which, among other things, includes a license for her likeness and
imposes various obliga�ons on us. If we breach our obliga�ons, our rights under the agreement could be terminated by Alicia Keys and we could, among
other things, have to pay damages, lose our ability to associate the Keys Soulcare brand with her, lose our ability to sell products branded as Keys Soulcare,
lose any upfront investments made in connec�on with the Keys Soulcare brand, and sustain reputa�onal damage. Each of these risks could have an adverse
effect on our business, results of opera�ons and financial condi�on.

Risk factors related to marke�ng ac�vi�es

Use of social media may materially and adversely affect our reputa�on or subject us to fines or other penal�es.

We rely to a large extent on our online presence to reach consumers, and we offer consumers the opportunity to rate and comment on our
products on our e-commerce websites and mobile applica�ons. Nega�ve commentary or false statements regarding us or our products may be posted on our
e-commerce websites, mobile applica�ons, or social media pla�orms and may be adverse to our reputa�on or business. Our target consumers o�en value
readily available informa�on and o�en act on such informa�on without further inves�ga�on and without regard to its accuracy. The harm may be immediate
without affording us an opportunity for redress or correc�on. In addi�on, we may face claims rela�ng to informa�on that is published or made available
through the interac�ve features of our e-commerce websites and mobile applica�ons. For example, we may receive third-party complaints that the
comments or other content posted by users on our
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pla�orms infringe third-party intellectual property rights or otherwise infringe the legal rights of others. While the Communica�ons Decency Act (CDA) and
Digital Millennium Copyright Act (DMCA) generally protect online service providers from claims of copyright infringement or other legal liability for the self-
directed ac�vi�es of its users, if it were determined that we did not meet the relevant safe harbor requirements under either law, we could be exposed to
claims related to adver�sing prac�ces, defama�on, intellectual property rights, rights of publicity and privacy, and personal injury torts. We could incur
significant costs inves�ga�ng and defending such claims and, if we are found liable, significant damages. If any of these events occur, our business, financial
condi�on and results of opera�ons could be materially and adversely affected.

We also use third-party social media pla�orms as marke�ng tools. For example, we maintain Snapchat, Facebook, TikTok, Twi�er, Pinterest,
Instagram and YouTube accounts. As e-commerce and social media pla�orms con�nue to rapidly evolve, we must con�nue to maintain a presence on these
pla�orms and establish presences on new or emerging popular social media pla�orms. If we are unable to cost-effec�vely use social media pla�orms as
marke�ng tools, our ability to acquire new consumers and our financial condi�on may suffer. Furthermore, as laws and regula�ons rapidly evolve to govern
the use of these pla�orms and devices, the failure by us, our employees or third par�es ac�ng at our direc�on to abide by applicable laws and regula�ons in
the use of these pla�orms and devices could subject us to regulatory inves�ga�ons, class ac�on lawsuits, liability, fines or other penal�es and have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condi�on and result of opera�ons.

In addi�on, an increase in the use of social media for product promo�on and marke�ng may cause an increase in the burden on us to monitor
compliance of such materials and increase the risk that such materials could contain problema�c product or marke�ng claims in viola�on of applicable
regula�ons.

Our business relies heavily on email and other messaging services, and any restric�ons on the sending of emails or messages or an inability to �mely
deliver such communica�ons could materially adversely affect our net revenue and business.

Our business is highly dependent upon email and other messaging services for promo�ng our brands, products and e-commerce pla�orms. We
provide emails and “push” communica�ons to inform consumers of new products, shipping specials and other promo�ons. We believe these messages are an
important part of our consumer experience. If we are unable to successfully deliver emails or other messages to our subscribers, or if subscribers decline to
open or read our messages, our business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons may be materially adversely affected. Changes in how web and mail
services block, organize and priori�ze email may reduce the number of subscribers who receive or open our emails. For example, Google’s Gmail service has a
feature that organizes incoming emails into categories (for example, primary, social and promo�ons). Such categoriza�on or similar inbox organiza�onal
features may result in our emails being delivered in a less prominent loca�on in a subscriber’s inbox or viewed as “spam” by our subscribers and may reduce
the likelihood of that subscriber reading our emails. Ac�ons by third par�es to block, impose restric�ons on or charge for the delivery of emails or other
messages could also adversely impact our business. From �me to �me, Internet service providers or other third par�es may block bulk email transmissions or
otherwise experience technical difficul�es that result in our inability to successfully deliver emails or other messages to consumers.

Changes in the laws or regula�ons that limit our ability to send such communica�ons or impose addi�onal requirements upon us in connec�on
with sending such communica�ons would also materially adversely impact our business. For example, electronic marke�ng and privacy requirements in the
European Union and the United Kingdom are highly restric�ve and differ greatly from those in the United States. which could cause fewer of individuals in the
European Union or the United Kingdom to subscribe to our marke�ng messages and drive up our costs and risk of regulatory oversight and fines if we are
found to be non-compliant.

Our use of email and other messaging services to send communica�ons to consumers may also result in legal claims against us, which may cause
us increased expenses, and if successful might result in fines and orders with costly repor�ng and compliance obliga�ons or might limit or prohibit our ability
to send emails or other messages. We also rely on social networking messaging services to send communica�ons and to encourage consumers to send
communica�ons. Changes to the terms of these social networking services to limit promo�onal communica�ons, any restric�ons that would limit our ability
or our consumers’ ability to send communica�ons through their services, disrup�ons or down�me experienced by these social networking services or decline
in the use of or engagement with social networking services by consumers could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condi�on and results
of opera�ons.
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Risk factors rela�ng to our stockholders and ownership of our common stock

Our business could be nega�vely impacted by corporate ci�zenship and sustainability ma�ers.

There is an increased focus from certain investors, customers, consumers, employees, and other stakeholders concerning corporate ci�zenship
and sustainability ma�ers. From �me to �me, we may announce certain ini�a�ves, including goals, regarding our focus areas, which include environmental
ma�ers, packaging, responsible sourcing and social investments. We could fail, or be perceived to fail, in our achievement of such ini�a�ves or goals, or we
could fail in accurately repor�ng our progress on such ini�a�ves and goals. In addi�on, we could be cri�cized for the scope of such ini�a�ves or goals or
perceived as not ac�ng responsibly in connec�on with these ma�ers. Any such ma�ers, or related corporate ci�zenship and sustainability ma�ers, could have
a material adverse effect on our business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons.

Ac�ons of ac�vist stockholders could be costly and �me-consuming, divert management’s a�en�on and resources, and have an adverse effect on our
business.

While we value open dialogue and input from our stockholders, ac�vist stockholders could take ac�ons that could be costly and �me-consuming
to us, disrupt our opera�ons, and divert the a�en�on of our board of directors, management, and employees, such as public proposals and requests for
poten�al nomina�ons of candidates for elec�on to our board of directors, requests to pursue a strategic combina�on or other transac�on, or other special
requests. As a result, we have retained, and may in the future retain addi�onal services of various professionals to advise us in these ma�ers, including legal,
financial and communica�ons advisers, the costs of which may nega�vely impact our future financial results. In addi�on, perceived uncertain�es as to our
future direc�on, strategy, or leadership created as a consequence of ac�vist stockholder ini�a�ves may result in the loss of poten�al business opportuni�es,
harm our ability to a�ract new or retain exis�ng investors, customers, directors, employees or other partners, and cause our stock price to experience periods
of vola�lity or stagna�on.

Because we have no current plans to pay cash dividends on our common stock, stockholders may not receive any return on investment unless they sell our
common stock for a price greater than that which they paid for it.

We have no current plans to pay cash dividends on our common stock. The declara�on, amount and payment of any future dividends will be at
the sole discre�on of our board of directors. Our board of directors may take into account general and economic condi�ons, our financial condi�on and
results of opera�ons, our available cash and current and an�cipated cash needs, capital requirements, contractual, legal, tax and regulatory restric�ons and
implica�ons on the payment of dividends by us to our stockholders or by our subsidiaries to us, including restric�ons under the Amended Credit Agreement
and other indebtedness we may incur, and such other factors as our board of directors may deem relevant.

Stockholders may be diluted by the future issuance of addi�onal common stock in connec�on with our incen�ve plans, acquisi�ons or otherwise.

We had approximately 198.4 million shares of common stock authorized but unissued and 51,649,915 shares of common stock outstanding as of
May 14, 2021. Our amended and restated cer�ficate of incorpora�on authorizes us to issue these shares of common stock and stock op�ons exercisable for
common stock (and other equity awards) for the considera�on and on the terms and condi�ons established by our board of directors in its sole discre�on,
whether in connec�on with acquisi�ons or otherwise. Any common stock that we issue, including under our exis�ng equity incen�ve plans or any addi�onal
equity incen�ve plans that we may adopt in the future, would dilute the percentage ownership held by exis�ng investors.

An�-takeover provisions in our organiza�onal documents and Delaware law might discourage or delay acquisi�on a�empts for us that stockholders might
consider favorable.

Our amended and restated cer�ficate of incorpora�on and amended and restated bylaws contain provisions that may make the acquisi�on of
our company more difficult without the approval of our board of directors. Among other things:

• although we do not have a stockholder rights plan, these provisions allow us to authorize the issuance of undesignated preferred stock in connec�on
with a stockholder rights plan or otherwise, the terms of which may be established and the shares of which may be issued without stockholder
approval, and which may include super
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vo�ng, special approval, dividend or other rights or preferences superior to the rights of the holders of common stock;

• these provisions provide for a classified board of directors with staggered three-year terms;

• these provisions require advance no�ce for nomina�ons of directors by stockholders and for stockholders to include ma�ers to be considered at our
annual mee�ngs;

• these provisions prohibit stockholder ac�on by wri�en consent;

• these provisions provide for the removal of directors only for cause and only upon affirma�ve vote of holders of at least 75% of the shares of
common stock en�tled to vote generally in the elec�on of directors; and

• these provisions require the amendment of certain provisions only by the affirma�ve vote of at least 75% of the shares of common stock en�tled to
vote generally in the elec�on of directors.

Further, as a Delaware corpora�on, we are also subject to provisions of Delaware law, which may impair a takeover a�empt that our
stockholders may find beneficial. These an�-takeover provisions and other provisions under Delaware law could discourage, delay or prevent a transac�on
involving a change in control of our company, including ac�ons that our stockholders may deem advantageous, or nega�vely affect the trading price of our
common stock. These provisions could also discourage proxy contests and make it more difficult for other stockholders to elect directors of their choosing and
to cause us to take other corporate ac�ons they may desire.

We are no longer an emerging growth company and the reduced compliance requirements applicable to emerging growth companies no longer apply to
us.

We no longer qualify as an emerging growth company as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (the “JOBS Act”) and as
such we no longer are en�tled to rely on exemp�ons from certain compliance requirements that are applicable to companies that are emerging growth
companies. As a result, we are now required to:

• engage an independent registered public accoun�ng firm to report on our internal controls over financial repor�ng pursuant to Sec�on 404(b) of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the “Sarbanes-Oxley Act”);

• submit certain execu�ve compensa�on ma�ers to stockholder advisory votes, such as “say-on-pay,” “say-on-frequency” and “say-on-golden
parachutes;” and

• disclose certain execu�ve compensa�on related items such as the correla�on between execu�ve compensa�on and performance and comparisons
of the chief execu�ve officer’s compensa�on to median employee compensa�on.

We are no longer able to con�nue to take advantage of cost savings associated with the JOBS Act. Furthermore, if the addi�onal requirements
applicable to non-emerging growth companies divert the a�en�on of our management and personnel from other business concerns, they could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons. The increased costs will decrease our net income or increase our net
loss and may require us to reduce costs in other areas of our business. We cannot predict or es�mate the amount or �ming of addi�onal costs we may incur
to respond to these requirements. Furthermore, if we are unable to sa�sfy our obliga�ons as a non-emerging growth company, we could be subject to
delis�ng of our common stock, fines, sanc�ons and other regulatory ac�on and poten�ally civil li�ga�on.

Our board of directors is authorized to issue and designate shares of our preferred stock in addi�onal series without stockholder approval.

Our amended and restated cer�ficate of incorpora�on authorizes our board of directors, without the approval of our stockholders, to issue up
to 30 million shares of our preferred stock, subject to limita�ons prescribed by applicable law, rules and regula�ons and the provisions of our amended and
restated cer�ficate of incorpora�on, as shares of preferred stock in series, to establish from �me to �me the number of shares to be included in each such
series and to fix the designa�on, powers, preferences and rights of the shares of each such series and the qualifica�ons, limita�ons or restric�ons thereof.
The powers, preferences and rights of these addi�onal series of preferred stock may be senior to or on parity with our common stock, which may reduce its
value.
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Our amended and restated cer�ficate of incorpora�on and amended and restated bylaws provide that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware will
be the exclusive forum for substan�ally all disputes between us and our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable
judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers or employees.

Our amended and restated cer�ficate of incorpora�on and amended and restated bylaws provide that the Court of Chancery of the State of
Delaware is the exclusive forum for any deriva�ve ac�on or proceeding brought on our behalf, any ac�on asser�ng a breach of fiduciary duty, any ac�on
asser�ng a claim against us arising pursuant to the Delaware General Corpora�on Law, our amended and restated cer�ficate of incorpora�on or our amended
and restated bylaws, or any ac�on asser�ng a claim against us that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine. This provision may limit a stockholder’s ability
to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers or other employees, which may discourage such
lawsuits against us and our directors, officers and other employees. Alterna�vely, if a court were to find this provision in our amended and restated cer�ficate
of incorpora�on and amended and restated bylaws to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an ac�on, we may incur addi�onal costs associated with resolving
such ac�on in other jurisdic�ons, which could adversely affect our business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons.

General risk factors

The United Kingdom’s withdrawal from the European Union may have a nega�ve effect on global economic condi�ons, financial markets and our
business.

On December 31, 2020, the United Kingdom formally withdrew from the European Union and on January 1, 2021, the United Kingdom le� the
EU Single Market and Customs Union.

We are now subject to the UK GDPR, which, together with the amended UK Data Protec�on Act 2018, retains the GDPR in United Kingdom law,
including mirroring the fines for non-compliance in the GDPR (e.g., fines up to the greater of 17.5 million Bri�sh pounds or 4% of annual global revenue).
Thus, if a regulatory issue arises in both the European Union and the United Kingdom (e.g., a breach that affected both residents of the EEA and the United
Kingdom), then the Company could be subject to receiving fines for any material non-compliance from both the European Union and the United Kingdom.

The United Kingdom has ra�fied a trade and coopera�on agreement governing its future rela�onship with the European Union. The agreement
addresses trade, economic arrangements, law enforcement, judicial coopera�on and a governance framework including procedures for dispute resolu�on,
among other things. Because the agreement merely sets forth a framework in many respects and will require complex addi�onal bilateral nego�a�ons
between the United Kingdom and the European Union as both par�es con�nue to work on the rules for implementa�on, significant poli�cal and economic
uncertainty remains about how the precise terms of the rela�onship between the par�es will differ from the terms before withdrawal.

The withdrawal of the United Kingdom from the European Union and developments related to such withdrawal, or the percep�on that any
related developments could occur, have had and may con�nue to have a material adverse effect on global economic condi�ons and financial markets, and
may significantly reduce global market liquidity, restrict the ability of key market par�cipants to operate in certain financial markets, affect trade between the
United Kingdom and the European Union, or restrict our access to capital. For example, poten�al new restricted economic terms or addi�onal bureaucra�c
requirements in free trade between the United Kingdom and the European Union, such as new customs or regulatory checks, including rules of origin and
stringent local content requirements, could nega�vely impact fulfillment �mes, increase our costs, result in a decrease in sales, or cause us to lose customers
in the European Union and the United Kingdom. Any of these factors could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condi�on and results of
opera�ons.

Vola�lity in the financial markets could have a material adverse effect on our business.

While we currently generate cash flows from our ongoing opera�ons and have had access to credit markets through our various financing
ac�vi�es, credit markets may experience significant disrup�ons. Deteriora�on in global financial markets could make future financing difficult or more
expensive. If any financial ins�tu�on party to our credit facili�es or other financing arrangements were to declare bankruptcy or become insolvent, they may
be unable to perform under their agreements with us. This could leave us with reduced borrowing capacity, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condi�on and results of opera�ons.
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An ac�ve trading market for our common stock may not be sustained, and the market price of shares of our common stock may be vola�le, which could
cause the value of your investment to decline.

Although our common stock is listed on the NYSE, there can be no assurances that an ac�ve trading market for our common stock will be
sustained. In the absence of an ac�ve trading market for our common stock, stockholders may not be able to sell their common stock at the �me or price
they would like to sell.

Even if an ac�ve trading market is sustained, the market price of our common stock may be highly vola�le and could be subject to wide
fluctua�ons. Securi�es markets o�en experience significant price and volume fluctua�ons. This market vola�lity, as well as general economic, market or
poli�cal condi�ons, could reduce the market price of shares of our common stock in spite of our opera�ng performance. In addi�on, our results of opera�ons
could be below the expecta�ons of public market analysts and investors due to a number of poten�al factors, including varia�ons in our quarterly results of
opera�ons, addi�ons or departures of key management personnel, changes in consumer preferences or beauty trends, announcements of new products or
significant price reduc�ons by our compe�tors, failure to meet analysts’ earnings es�mates, publica�on of research reports about our industry, li�ga�on and
government inves�ga�ons, changes or proposed changes in laws or regula�ons or differing interpreta�ons or enforcement thereof affec�ng our business,
adverse market reac�on to any indebtedness we may incur or securi�es we may issue in the future, changes in market valua�ons of similar companies or
specula�on in the press or investment community, announcements by our compe�tors of significant contracts, acquisi�ons, disposi�ons, strategic
partnerships, joint ventures or capital commitments, adverse publicity about our industry, the level of success of releases of new products and the number of
stores we open, close or convert in any period, and in response the market price of shares of our common stock could decrease significantly.

In addi�on, in May 2019, we announced that our board of directors authorized a share repurchase program allowing us to repurchase up to $25
million of our outstanding shares of common stock (“Share Repurchase Program”). Purchases under the Share Repurchase Program may be made from �me
to �me in the open market, in privately nego�ated transac�ons or otherwise. The �ming and amount of any repurchases pursuant to the Share Repurchase
Program will be determined based on market condi�ons, share price and other factors. The Share Repurchase Program may be suspended or discon�nued at
any �me and there is no guarantee that any shares will be purchased under the Share Repurchase Program.

In the past, following periods of vola�lity in the overall market and the market price of a company’s securi�es, securi�es class ac�on li�ga�on
has o�en been ins�tuted against these companies. This li�ga�on, if ins�tuted against us, could result in substan�al costs and a diversion of our
management’s a�en�on and resources.

Future sales, or the percep�on of future sales, by us or our stockholders in the public market could cause the market price for our common stock to decline.

The sale of substan�al amounts of shares of our common stock in the public market, or the percep�on that such sales could occur could harm
the prevailing market price of shares of our common stock. These sales, or the possibility that these sales may occur, also might make it more difficult for us
to sell equity securi�es in the future at a �me and at a price that we deem appropriate.

The holders of up to 4,531,672 shares of our common stock, or approximately 9% of our outstanding common stock based on shares
outstanding as of May 14, 2021, are en�tled to rights with respect to registra�on of such shares under the Securi�es Act pursuant to a registra�on rights
agreement. In addi�on, certain family trusts of our Chairman and Chief Execu�ve Officer, Tarang Amin, have the right, subject to certain condi�ons, to require
us to file registra�on statements covering its or their shares.

In addi�on, all the shares of common stock subject to stock op�ons and restricted stock units and shares of restricted stock awards outstanding
and reserved under our 2014 Equity Incen�ve Plan, our 2016 Equity Incen�ve Award Plan and our 2016 Employee Stock Purchase Plan have been registered
on Form S-8 under the Securi�es Act and such shares, once the underlying equity award vests, will be eligible for sale in the public markets, subject to Rule
144 limita�ons applicable to affiliates. We intend to file one or more registra�on statements on Form S-8 to cover addi�onal shares of our common stock or
securi�es conver�ble into or exchangeable for shares of our common stock pursuant to automa�c increases in the number of shares reserved under our 2016
Equity Incen�ve Award Plan and our 2016 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. Accordingly, shares registered under these registra�on statements on Form S-8 will
be available for sale in the open market.
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As restric�ons on resale end, the market price of shares of our common stock could drop significantly if the holders of these restricted shares
sell them or are perceived by the market as intending to sell them. These factors could also make it more difficult for us to raise addi�onal funds through
future offerings of shares of our common stock or other securi�es.

If securi�es analysts do not publish research or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, our stock price and trading volume could
decline.

The trading market for our common stock depends in part on the research and reports that securi�es or industry analysts publish about us or
our business. If one or more of the analysts who cover us downgrade our stock or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, our stock
price would likely decline. If one or more of these analysts cease coverage of our company or fail to publish reports on us regularly, demand for our stock
could decrease, which might cause our stock price and trading volume to decline.

Item 1B. Unresolved staff comments.

None.

Item 2. Proper�es.

Our principal execu�ve offices are located in Oakland, California. We also occupy offices, manufacturing facili�es, distribu�on centers and retail store in
the United States and abroad, as indicated blow.

Loca�on/Facility Leased/Owned Use

Oakland, California Leased Corporate headquarters
New York, New York Leased Corporate offices
Los Angeles, California Leased Corporate offices
Fairfield, New Jersey Leased Corporate offices
Shanghai, China Leased Corporate offices
Ontario, California Leased Distribu�on
Rancho Cucamonga, California Leased Manufacturing 
Aus�n, Texas Leased Retail

The Company closed its manufacturing plant during the fourth quarter of the year ended March 31, 2021. See Note 15 Restructuring and other related
costs to consolidated financial statements in Part IV, Item 15 “Exhibits, financial statement schedules” under the heading “2021 Restructuring Plan.”

We also use a distribu�on center located in Columbus, Ohio that is operated by a third-party.

Our proper�es total an aggregate of approximately 46,468 square feet of commercial space, approximately 25,350 square feet for manufacturing and
approximately 257,515 square feet of commercial space for our distribu�on center.

All of our proper�es are leased. The leases expire at various �mes through 2030, subject to renewal op�ons. We consider our proper�es to be
generally in good condi�on and believe that our exis�ng facili�es are adequate to support our exis�ng opera�ons.

Item 3. Legal proceedings.

We are from �me to �me subject to, and are presently involved in, li�ga�on and other proceedings. We believe that there are no pending lawsuits or
claims that, individually or in the aggregate, may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condi�on or results of opera�ons.

Item 4. Mine safety disclosures.

None.

(1)

(1)
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PART II
Item 5. Market for registrant’s common equity, related stockholder ma�ers and issuer purchases of equity securi�es.

Market informa�on for common stock.

Our common stock began trading on the NYSE under the symbol “ELF” on September 22, 2016. Prior to that date, there was no public trading
market for our common stock. On May 14, 2021, the closing price for our common stock as reported by the NYSE was $28.86.

Holders of record

As of May 14, 2021, the approximate number of common stockholders of record was 17. This number does not include beneficial owners whose
shares are held by nominees in street name.

Dividends

There were no dividends declared or paid during the year ended March 31, 2021. Since our ini�al public offering on September 21, 2016, we
have never declared or paid cash dividends on our capital stock. We intend to retain all available funds and future earnings, if any, to fund the development
and expansion of our business and we do not an�cipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. In addi�on, the Amended Credit Agreement
limits our ability to pay dividends to our stockholders.

Any future determina�on related to dividend policy will be made at the discre�on of our board of directors and will depend on a number of
factors, including future earnings, capital requirements, financial condi�ons, future prospects, contractual restric�ons and covenants and other factors that
our board of directors may deem relevant.

Stock performance graph

The following performance graph and related informa�on shall not be deemed “solici�ng material” or to be “filed” with the SEC, nor shall such
informa�on be incorporated by reference into any future filing under the Securi�es Act of 1933 or the Exchange Act, each as amended, whether made before
or a�er the date hereof and irrespec�ve of any general incorpora�on language in any such filing, or otherwise subject to the liabili�es under the Securi�es Act
of 1933 or Exchange Act, each as amended, except to the extent that we specifically incorporate it by reference into such filing.

The following graph compares the total cumula�ve stockholder return on our common stock with the S&P 500 Stock Index and the S&P
Consumer Discre�onary Index for the period covering September 22, 2016, the first day of trading on the NYSE for our common stock, through March 31,
2021. The graph assumes an investment of $100 made at the closing of trading on September 22, 2016 in (i) our common stock, (ii) the stocks comprising the
S&P 500 Index and (iii) the stocks comprising the S&P 500 Consumer Discre�onary Index. All values assume reinvestment of the full amount of all dividends.
The performance shown on the graph below is not intended to forecast or be indica�ve of possible future performance of our common stock. 
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$100 investment in stock or index 9/22/16 9/30/16 12/31/16 3/31/17 6/30/17 9/30/17 12/31/17 3/31/18 6/30/18 9/30/18

e.l.f. Beauty, Inc. (ELF) $ 100.00 $ 106.11 $ 109.21 $ 108.68 $ 102.68 $ 85.09 $ 84.19 $ 73.09 $ 57.51 $ 48.04 
S&P 500 Index (GSPC) $ 100.00 $ 99.59 $ 102.83 $ 108.52 $ 111.31 $ 115.72 $ 122.80 $ 121.30 $ 124.86 $ 133.84 
S&P 500 Consumer Discre�onary Index (S5COND) $ 100.00 $ 100.23 $ 102.54 $ 111.21 $ 113.82 $ 114.78 $ 126.10 $ 130.01 $ 140.63 $ 152.13 

$100 investment in stock or index 12/31/18 3/31/19 6/30/19 9/30/19 12/31/19 3/31/20 6/30/20 9/30/20 12/31/20 3/31/21

e.l.f. Beauty, Inc. (ELF) $ 32.68 $ 40.00 $ 53.21 $ 66.08 $ 60.87 $ 37.13 $ 71.96 $ 69.32 $ 95.06 $ 101.25 

S&P 500 Index (GSPC) $ 115.14 $ 130.19 $ 135.12 $ 136.72 $ 148.39 $ 118.71 $ 142.40 $ 154.47 $ 172.52 $ 182.48 
S&P 500 Consumer Discre�onary Index (S5COND) $ 127.15 $ 147.15 $ 154.92 $ 155.71 $ 162.68 $ 131.30 $ 174.43 $ 200.71 $ 216.85 $ 223.59 

Recent sales of unregistered securi�es

None

Purchases of equity securi�es by the issuer and affiliated purchasers

In May 2019, we announced that our board of directors authorized the Share Repurchase Program, which authorizes us to repurchase up to $25
million of our outstanding shares of common stock. The Share Repurchase Plan remains in effect through the earlier of (i) the date that $25 million of our
outstanding common stock has been purchased under the Share Repurchase Plan or (ii) the date that our board of directors cancels the Share Repurchase
Plan.

We did not repurchase any shares during the three months ended March 31, 2021, including pursuant to the Share Repurchase Program. A total
of $17.1 million remains available for purchase under the Share Repurchase Program as of March 31, 2021.
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Item 6. Selected financial data.

The following table presents our selected consolidated financial data for the periods and as of the dates indicated. The following financial
informa�on should be read in conjunc�on with Part II, Item 7 “Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condi�on and results of opera�ons” and our
audited consolidated financial statements and the related notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report.

 Year ended March 31,
Three months ended

March 31, 2019
(transi�on period)

Year ended December 31,

(dollars in thousands, except share
 and per share amounts) 2021 2020 2018 2017 2016

Statement of opera�ons data:  
Net sales $ 318,110 $ 282,851 $ 66,141 $ 267,435 $ 269,888 $ 229,567 
Gross profit 206,198 181,123 40,491 162,741 164,725 132,235 
Opera�ng income (loss) 9,400 29,950 (19,009) 26,162 33,279 23,079 
Other (expense) income, net (1,620) 426 (315) (390) (2,035) 3,016 
Interest expense, net (4,090) (6,307) (1,849) (7,816) (8,775) (16,283)
Income (loss) before provision for income
taxes 3,690 24,069 (21,173) 17,956 22,469 9,812 
Income tax benefit (provision) 2,542 (6,185) 3,259 (2,431) 11,006 (4,499)
Net income (loss) $ 6,232 $ 17,884 $ (17,914) $ 15,525 $ 33,475 $ 5,313 
 

Net income (loss) per share - basic $ 0.13 $ 0.37 $ (0.37) $ 0.33 $ 0.74 $ (39.47)
Net income (loss) per share - diluted $ 0.12 $ 0.35 $ (0.37) $ 0.32 $ 0.68 $ (39.47)
 
Other data:  
Deprecia�on and amor�za�on $ 21,078 $ 20,222 $ 10,520 $ 17,861 $ 14,521 $ 13,152 
Capital expenditures 6,474 9,422 3,762 8,872 7,544 9,223 

(dollars in thousands) March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019 December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016

Balance sheet data:  
Cash and cash equivalents $ 57,768 $ 46,167 $ 53,874 $ 51,205 $ 10,059 $ 15,295 
Net working capital 39,045 35,070 38,265 47,523 62,224 29,339 
Property and equipment, net 13,770 17,171 16,006 21,804 18,037 17,151 
Total assets 487,393 453,104 431,688 435,856 417,244 414,729 
Finance leases 2,200 3,012 3,783 3,982 2,374 2,766 
Debt, including current maturi�es 124,336 135,644 144,501 146,402 153,974 162,061 
Total liabili�es 217,747 210,933 216,473 206,525 223,381 273,867 
Total stockholders' equity $ 269,646 $ 242,171 $ 215,215 $ 229,331 $ 193,863 $ 140,862 

Net working capital is defined as current assets, excluding cash and cash equivalents, minus current liabili�es.

Total bank debt, including current maturi�es, is net of $0.3 million, $0.2 million, $0.3 million, $0.3 million, $0.4 million and $0.6 million of debt issuance
costs as of March 31, 2021, March 31, 2020, March 31, 2019, December 31, 2018, December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respec�vely.         

(1)

(2)

(1)

(2)
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Item 7. Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condi�on and results of opera�ons.

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condi�on and results of opera�ons together with “Selected financial data”
and our consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Overview and Business Trends

The Company is a mul�-brand beauty company that offers inclusive, accessible, cruelty-free cosme�cs and skin-care products. Our mission is to
make the best of beauty accessible to every eye, lip and face.

We believe our ability to deliver 100% cruelty-free, premium-quality products at accessible prices with broad appeal differen�ates us in the
beauty industry. We believe the combina�on of our fundamental value equa�on, digitally-led strategy, as well as our world-class team’s ability to execute with
speed, has posi�oned us well to navigate a rapidly changing landscape in beauty.

Our family of brands includes e.l.f. Cosme�cs, W3LL PEOPLE and Keys Soulcare. Our brands are available online and across leading beauty, mass-
market, and clean-beauty specialty retailers. We have strong rela�onships with our retail partners such as Walmart, Target, Ulta Beauty and other leading
retailers that have enabled us to expand distribu�on both domes�cally and interna�onally.

For addi�onal informa�on regarding our business, see Part I, Item 1, “Business.”

COVID-19 Pandemic

The color cosme�cs and skin care categories and our business were impacted in the year ended March 31, 2021 by the COVID-19 pandemic.
There could be con�nued impact on these categories and our business results un�l consumers return to normal shopping pa�erns. In addi�on, a current
vessel and container shortage globally could delay future inventory receipts and, in turn, could delay deliveries to our retailers and availability of products in
our direct-to-consumer e-commerce channel or could increase our shipping costs. Such poten�al delays and shipping disrup�ons could nega�vely impact our
results of opera�ons through higher inventory costs and reduced sales. Throughout the COVID-19 pandemic we have focused on the following areas to
address the impact on our business: i) suppor�ng the health and safety of our employees and community; ii) minimizing disrup�on to the supply chain; and
iii) keeping adequate levels of liquidity and flexibility within the our credit facili�es.

Tariffs

Tariffs have impacted the majority of products that we import from China. Despite the signing of a Phase One trade agreement between the
United States and China, the majority of our products remain impacted by increased tariffs. To mi�gate the financial impact of these tariffs on our results of
opera�ons, we selec�vely increased prices on certain of our products in July 2019. We also implemented various other tariff mi�ga�on ini�a�ves including,
but not limited to, nego�a�ng lower prices with our suppliers in China and exploring poten�al new suppliers outside of China. In addi�on, favorable
movements in foreign exchange rates and shi�ing product mix toward margin accre�ve innova�on helped to par�ally offset to the impact of the tariffs on our
gross margin.

Components of our results of opera�ons and trends affec�ng our business

Net sales

We develop, market and sell beauty products under the e.l.f. Cosme�cs, W3LL PEOPLE and Keys Soulcare brands. Our net sales are derived from
sales of these beauty products, net of provisions for sales discounts and allowances, product returns, markdowns and price adjustments.

Year over year changes in net sales is driven by a number of factors, including color cosme�cs and skin care category performance, levels of
consumer spending, and our ability to drive awareness of and demand for our products. Within our exis�ng retailer accounts, we are able to drive growth by
expanding space and door penetra�on and increasing sales per linear foot, supported by our con�nued innova�on, including our ability to introduce new
first-to-mass products in both exis�ng and adjacent categories. While we have distribu�on with a number of key retail accounts, we expect to con�nue
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to grow through improved sales per linear foot in our exis�ng space, expanded space alloca�on with our current retail accounts, as well as adding new retail
customers.

Our business faces challenges and uncertain�es, including our ability to introduce new products that will appeal to a broad consumer base, our
ability to service demand, the ability of our major retail customers to drive traffic and keep products in stock, our ability to con�nue to grow our customer
base and compe��ve threats from other beauty companies.

Our largest two customers accounted for 26% and 22%, respec�vely, of our net sales in the year ended March 31, 2021. No other individual
customer accounted for 10% or more of our net sales in the year ended March 31, 2021. Na�onal and interna�onal retailers comprised 86% of our net sales
in the year ended March 31, 2021. The remaining 14% came from our direct-to-consumer e-commerce channels.

The primary market for our products is the United States, which accounted for 89% of our net sales in the year ended March 31, 2021. The
remaining 11% was a�ributable to interna�onal markets, primarily Canada and the United Kingdom.

Gross profit

Gross profit is our net sales less cost of sales. Cost of sales includes the aggregate costs to procure our products, including the amounts invoiced
by our third-party contract manufacturers for finished goods as well as costs related to transporta�on to our distribu�on center, customs and du�es. Cost of
sales also includes the effect of changes in the balance of reserves for excess and obsolete inventory. Gross margin measures our gross profit as a percentage
of net sales.

We have an extensive network of third-party manufacturers (primarily in China) from whom we purchase substan�ally all of our finished goods.
We have worked to evolve our supply chain to increase capacity and technical capabili�es while maintaining or reducing overall costs as a percentage of sales.

Historically, we have improved our gross margin largely through changes in our product mix, pricing, purchasing efficiencies and cost reduc�ons
in our supply chain, and expect to con�nue leveraging our innova�on and sourcing capabili�es in future periods. Other drivers of changes in gross margin
include fluctua�ons in exchange rates, changes in customer mix, and changes in the balance of reserves for excess and obsolete inventory, among other
things, which may offset the benefit of changes in product mix, pricing, purchasing efficiencies and cost reduc�ons.

Selling, general and administra�ve

Our selling, general and administra�ve (“SG&A”) expenses primarily consist of personnel-related expenses, including salaries, bonuses, fringe
benefits and stock-based compensa�on, marke�ng and digital expenses, warehousing and distribu�on costs, costs related to merchandising, deprecia�on of
property and equipment, amor�za�on of retail product displays and amor�za�on of intangible assets. See “Cri�cal Accoun�ng Policies and Es�mates-Stock-
based Compensa�on” below for more detail regarding stock-based compensa�on.

Interest expense, net

Interest expense primarily consists of cash interest and fees on our outstanding indebtedness. See “Financial condi�on, liquidity and capital
resources” below and a descrip�on of our indebtedness in Note 10 to the Notes to consolidated financial statements in Part IV, Item 15 “Exhibits, financial
statement schedules”.

Other income (expense), net

Our purchases are largely in Chinese Renminbi (RMB), and, as such, we are exposed to periodic fluctua�ons in that currency. Other income
(expense), net is primarily related to foreign exchange rate movements.

Income tax (provision) benefit

The provision for income taxes represents federal, foreign, state and local income taxes. The effec�ve rate differs from statutory rates due to the
effect of state and local income taxes and certain permanent tax adjustments. Our effec�ve tax rate will change from quarter to quarter based on recurring
and nonrecurring factors including, but not limited to, the geographical mix of earnings, enacted tax legisla�on, state and local income taxes, tax audit
se�lements, the interac�on of various tax strategies and the impact of permanent tax adjustments, such as those related to stock based compensa�on.
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On March 27, 2020, the CARES Act was signed into law making several changes to the Internal Revenue Code. The changes include, but are not
limited to, increasing the limita�on on the amount of deduc�ble interest expense, allowing companies to carryback certain net opera�ng losses and
increasing the amount of net opera�ng loss carryforwards that corpora�ons can use to offset taxable income. The tax law changes in the CARES Act did not
have a material impact on our income tax provision.

Net income (loss)

Our net income (loss) for future periods will be affected by the various factors described above.

Results of opera�ons

The following table sets forth our consolidated statements of opera�ons data in dollars and as a percentage of net sales for the periods
presented. Results for the twelve months ended March 31, 2019 were derived from our quarterly consolidated statements of opera�ons as previously
reported.

Year ended March 31,
Twelve months ended March

31, Year ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019 2018

Net sales $ 318,110 $ 282,851 $ 267,656 $ 267,435 
Cost of sales 111,912 101,728 104,632 104,694 

Gross profit 206,198 181,123 163,024 162,741 
Selling, general, and administra�ve expenses 194,157 157,155 137,669 136,579 
Restructuring expense (income) 2,641 (5,982) 22,176 — 

Opera�ng income 9,400 29,950 3,179 26,162 
Other (expense) income, net (1,620) 426 183 (390)
Interest expense, net (4,090) (6,307) (7,702) (7,816)

Income (loss) before provision for income taxes 3,690 24,069 (4,340) 17,956 
Income tax benefit (provision) 2,542 (6,185) 1,261 (2,431)
Net income (loss) $ 6,232 $ 17,884 $ (3,079) $ 15,525 
Comprehensive income (loss) $ 6,232 $ 17,884 $ (3,079) $ 15,525 

Year ended March 31,
Twelve months ended March

31, Year ended December 31,

(percentage of net sales) 2021 2020 2019 2018

Net sales 100 % 100 % 100 % 100 %
Cost of sales 35 % 36 % 39 % 39 %

Gross profit 65 % 64 % 61 % 61 %
Selling, general, and administra�ve expenses 61 % 56 % 51 % 51 %
Restructuring expense (income) 1 % (2)% 8 % — %

Opera�ng income 3 % 11 % 1 % 10 %
Other (expense) income, net (1)% — % — % — %
Interest expense, net (1)% (2)% (3)% (3)%

Income (loss) before provision for income taxes 1 % 9 % (2)% 7 %
Income tax benefit (provision) 1 % (2)% — % (1)%
Net income (loss) 2 % 6 % (1)% 6 %
Comprehensive income (loss) 2 % 6 % (1)% 6 %

Comparison of the year ended March 31, 2021 to the year ended March 31, 2020

Net sales

Net sales increased $35.3 million, or 12%, to $318.1 million in the year ended March 31, 2021, from $282.9 million in the year ended March 31,
2020. The increase was driven by strength in e-commerce, interna�onal, and our
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na�onal retailers. Net sales increased $18.1 million, or 7% in our retailer channels and $17.0 million, or 64% in our e-commerce channels.

Gross profit

Gross profit increased $25.1 million, or 14%, to $206.2 million in the year ended March 31, 2021, compared to $181.1 million in the year ended
March 31, 2020. Increased volume accounted for approximately $22.6 million of the increase in gross profit, with the remaining $2.5 million driven by an
increase in gross margin rate. The increase in gross margin rate was driven by benefits from margin accre�ve innova�on, cost savings, a mix shi� to
elfcosme�cs.com, and price increases par�ally offset by certain costs related to retailer ac�vity and space expansion, an increase in inventory adjustments,
and the impact of tariffs on goods imported from China in the year ended March 31, 2021. The net of these drivers resulted in an 80 basis point increase in
gross margin, which increased from 64% in the year ended March 31, 2020 to 65% in the year ended March 31, 2021.

Selling, general and administra�ve expenses

SG&A expenses were $194.2 million in the year ended March 31, 2021, an increase of $37.0 million, or 24%, from $157.2 million in the year
ended March 31, 2020. SG&A expenses as a percentage of net sales increased to 61% for the year ended March 31, 2021 from 56% in the year ended
March 31, 2020. The increase was primarily related to marke�ng and digital, including costs related to adver�sing, digital, and organiza�onal costs related to
building out our marke�ng, digital and innova�on capabili�es of $22.0 million. Addi�onally, we experienced increased opera�onal costs mainly driven by the
increase in e-commerce sales of $6.9 million.

Restructuring expense (income)

Restructuring expenses were $2.6 million in the year ended March 31, 2021, consis�ng of charges related to the closure of our manufacturing
facility in California. See Note 15 Restructuring and other related costs to consolidated financial statements in Part IV, Item 15 “Exhibits, financial statement
schedules” for further details.

Restructuring income in the year ended March 31, 2020 related to the exit of our stand-alone e.l.f. retail stores business in February 2019 and
included a $7.7 million gain related to opera�ng leases that were se�led for less than their aggregate lease liabili�es.

We se�led all outstanding lease liabili�es related to our e.l.f. retail store closures as of March 31, 2020 and we do not expect to incur addi�onal
material costs associated with our e.l.f retail store closures.

Other income (expense), net

Other income (expense), net was $1.6 million of expense in the year ended March 31, 2021, as compared to $0.4 million of income in the year
ended March 31, 2020. The change was primarily related to foreign exchange rate movements.

Interest expense, net

Interest expense decreased $2.2 million, or 35%, to $4.1 million in the year ended March 31, 2021, as compared to $6.3 million in the year
ended March 31, 2020. This decrease was due to a reduc�on in our long-term debt as well as a decline in interest rates.

Income tax benefit (provision)

The provision for income taxes decreased from an expense of $6.2 million, or an effec�ve tax rate of 26%, for the year ended March 31, 2020, to
a benefit of $2.5 million, or an effec�ve tax rate of (69)%, for the year ended March 31, 2021. The change in the provision for income taxes was primarily
driven by a decrease in income before taxes of $20.4 million and an increase in one-�me tax benefits of $3.7 million, primarily related to stock-based
compensa�on.

Comparison of the year ended March 31, 2020 to twelve months ended March 31, 2019

Net sales

Net sales increased $15.2 million, or 6%, to $282.9 million in the year ended March 31, 2020, from $267.7 million in the twelve months ended
March 31, 2019. The increase was primarily driven by increased produc�vity across our retail and
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e-commerce channels. The increased produc�vity in our retail channel was largely seen through improved sales growth within Nielsen-tracked channel
customers, and via e-commerce through sales growth on elfcosme�cs.com. Net sales increased $25.9 million, or 11%, and $1.4 million, or 7% in our retail and
e-commerce channels, respec�vely. These increases were par�ally offset by the closing of all 22 e.l.f. retail stores in February 2019, which generated net sales
of approximately $12.1 million during the twelve months ended March 31, 2019.

Gross profit

Gross profit increased $18.1 million, or 11%, to $181.1 million in the year ended March 31, 2020, compared to $163.0 million in the twelve
months ended March 31, 2019. Increased volume accounted for approximately $9.3 million of the increase in gross profit, with the remaining $8.8 million
driven by an increase in gross margin rate. The increase in gross margin rate was driven by a combina�on of margin accre�ve innova�on, cost savings, price
increases, favorable movements in foreign exchange rates and an increase in inventory adjustments in the twelve months ended March 31, 2019. These
factors were par�ally offset by higher sales adjustments and the impact of tariffs on goods imported from China. These drivers resulted in a 300 basis point
increase in gross margin, which increased from 61% in the twelve months ended March 31, 2019 to 64% in the year ended March 31, 2020.

Selling, general and administra�ve expenses

SG&A expenses were $157.2 million in the year ended March 31, 2020, an increase of $19.5 million, or 14%, from $137.7 million in the twelve
months ended March 31, 2019. SG&A expenses as a percentage of net sales increased to 56% for the year ended March 31, 2020 from 51% in the twelve
months ended March 31, 2019. The increase was primarily due to investments in marke�ng and digital expenses of $17.0 million. Increased bonus expense,
investment in merchandising programs, and increased deprecia�on expenses driven by customer fixture programs added an addi�onal $8.1 million of
expense. These increases were par�ally offset by the closure of e.l.f. retail stores, which totaled $5.8 million for the twelve months ended March 31, 2019.

Restructuring income

Ac�vi�es related to the exit of our stand-alone e.l.f. retail stores business in February 2019 generated income of $6.0 million for the year ended
March 31, 2020 and included a $7.7 million gain related to opera�ng leases that were se�led for less than their aggregate lease liabili�es. The remainder of
restructuring expense consisted of $1.8 million in other costs, which were primarily legal fees related to these ex�nguishments.

Other income (expense), net

Other income (expense), net was $0.4 million in the year ended March 31, 2020, an increase of $0.2 million versus the twelve months ended
March 31, 2019. The change was primarily related to foreign exchange rate movements.

Interest expense, net

Interest expense decreased $1.4 million, or 18%, to $6.3 million in the year ended March 31, 2020, as compared to $7.7 million in the twelve
months ended March 31, 2019. This decrease was primarily due to an increase in interest income generated on our cash and cash equivalents, in addi�on to a
reduc�on in our long-term debt.

Income tax benefit (provision)

The provision for income taxes increased from a benefit of $1.3 million, or an effec�ve tax rate of 29%, for the twelve months ended March 31,
2019 to expense of $6.2 million, or an effec�ve tax rate of 26%, for the year ended March 31, 2020. The change in the provision for income taxes was
primarily driven by an increase in income before taxes of $28.4 million and a decrease in one-�me tax benefits of $1.0 million, primarily related to the
Company's provision-to-return adjustment for the period ending December 31, 2017, which was recorded during fiscal 2019.

Comparison of the year ended March 31, 2020 to the year ended December 31, 2018

A comparison of the year ended March 31, 2020 to the year ended December 31, 2018 may be found in Part II, Item 7, of the Company's Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2020, as amended.
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Financial condi�on, liquidity and capital resources

Overview

As of March 31, 2021, we held $57.8 million of cash and cash equivalents. In addi�on, as of March 31, 2021, we had borrowing capacity of $49.8
million under the Prior Revolving Credit Facility (as defined under the heading “Descrip�on of indebtedness”).

Our primary cash needs are for capital expenditures, retail product displays and working capital. Capital expenditures typically vary depending
on strategic ini�a�ves selected for the fiscal year, including investments in infrastructure, digital capabili�es, and expansion within or to addi�onal retailer
store loca�ons. We expect to fund ongoing capital expenditures from exis�ng cash on hand, cash generated from opera�ons and, if necessary, draws on the
Amended Revolving Credit Facility (as defined below in Part II, Item 7 "Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condi�on and results of opera�ons"
under the heading "Descrip�on of indebtedness").

Our primary working capital requirements are for product and product-related costs, payroll, rent, distribu�on costs and adver�sing and
marke�ng. Fluctua�ons in working capital are primarily driven by the �ming of when a retailer rearranges or restocks its products, expansion of space within
our exis�ng retailer base and the general seasonality of our business. As of March 31, 2021, we had working capital, excluding cash, of $39.0 million,
compared to $35.1 million as of March 31, 2020. Working capital, excluding cash and debt, was $55.3 million and $47.6 million as of March 31, 2021 and
March 31, 2020, respec�vely.

We believe that our opera�ng cash flow, cash on hand and available financing under the Amended Revolving Credit Facility will be adequate to
meet our planned opera�ng, inves�ng and financing needs for the next twelve months. If necessary, we can borrow funds under the Amended Revolving
Credit Facility to finance our liquidity requirements, subject to customary borrowing condi�ons. To the extent addi�onal funds are necessary to meet our
long-term liquidity needs as we con�nue to execute our business strategy, we an�cipate that they will be obtained through the incurrence of addi�onal
indebtedness, addi�onal equity financings or a combina�on of these poten�al sources of funds; however, such financing may not be available on favorable
terms, or at all. Our ability to meet our opera�ng, inves�ng and financing needs depends to a significant extent on our future financial performance, which
will be subject in part to general economic, compe��ve, financial, regulatory and other factors that are beyond our control, including those described
elsewhere in Part II, Item 1A “Risk factors”. In addi�on to these general economic and industry factors, the principal factors in determining whether our cash
flows will be sufficient to meet our liquidity requirements will be our ability to provide innova�ve products to our consumers and manage produc�on and our
supply chain.

Cash flows

Year ended March 31,

Three months ended March
31,

(transi�on period)
Year ended

December 31,

(in thousands) 2021 2020 2019 2018

Net cash provided by (used in):   
Opera�ng ac�vi�es $ 29,475 $ 44,313 $ 8,216 $ 55,582 
Inves�ng ac�vi�es (6,474) (35,345) (3,400) (8,872)
Financing ac�vi�es (11,400) (16,675) (2,147) (5,564)

Net increase (decrease) in cash: $ 11,601 $ (7,707) $ 2,669 $ 41,146 

Cash provided by opera�ng ac�vi�es

For the year ended March 31, 2021, net cash provided by opera�ng ac�vi�es was $29.5 million. This included net income, before deduc�ng
deprecia�on, amor�za�on and other non-cash items, of $46.4 million and an increase in net working capital of $16.9 million. The increase in net working
capital was driven by a $10.5 million increase in accounts receivable, a $10.9 million increase in inventory and a $9.7 million increase in prepaid and other
assets, par�ally offset by a $17.5 million increase of accounts payable and accrued expenses.

For the year ended March 31, 2020, net cash provided by opera�ng ac�vi�es was $44.3 million. This included net income, before deduc�ng
deprecia�on, amor�za�on and other non-cash items, of $54.3 million and an increase in net working capital of $10.0 million. The increase in net working
capital was driven by an $11.5 million decrease in other liabili�es
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primarily related to termina�on payments on store leases, par�ally offset by the �ming of cash payments related to accounts payable and accrued expenses.

For the three months ended March 31, 2019, net cash provided by opera�ng ac�vi�es was $8.2 million. This included a net loss, before adding
deprecia�on, amor�za�on and other non-cash items of $12.5 million and increases in net working capital of $4.3 million. The increase in net working capital
was driven by a $3.3 million decrease in other liabili�es, primarily related to store closures, par�ally offset by a $4.2 million decrease in accounts receivable.

Cash used in inves�ng ac�vi�es

For the year ended March 31, 2021, net cash used in inves�ng ac�vi�es was $6.5 million, which was primarily driven by capital expenditures
related to new customer fixture programs.

For the year ended March 31, 2020, net cash used in inves�ng ac�vi�es was $35.3 million. This includes $25.9 million paid for the acquisi�on of
W3LL People, Inc. and capital expenditures of $9.4 million.

For the three months ended March 31, 2019, net cash used in inves�ng ac�vi�es was $3.4 million, which was primarily driven by capital
expenditures related to new customer fixture programs.

Cash used in financing ac�vi�es

For the year ended March 31, 2021, net cash used in financing ac�vi�es was $11.4 million, driven by $11.8 million in mandatory principal
payments under the Prior Term Loan Facility (as defined under the heading “Descrip�on of indebtedness”). This was par�ally offset by $1.5 million of
proceeds from the exercise of op�ons to purchase common stock.

For the year ended March 31, 2020, net cash used in financing ac�vi�es was $16.7 million, driven by $9.5 million in mandatory principal
payments under the Prior Term Loan Facility and repurchase of common stock of $7.9 million. This was par�ally offset by $1.5 million of proceeds from the
exercise of op�ons to purchase common stock.

For the three months ended March 31, 2019, net cash used in financing ac�vi�es was $2.1 million and was primarily related to mandatory
principal payments under the Prior Term Loan Facility.

Descrip�on of indebtedness

Prior credit agreement

On December 23, 2016, we entered into a five-year, $200.0 million Senior Secured Credit Agreement (as amended, the "Prior Credit
Agreement") with a syndicate consis�ng of several large financial ins�tu�ons. The Prior Credit Agreement was first amended on August 25, 2017, increasing
the aggregate commitments to $215.0 million. The Prior Credit Agreement, as amended, consists of a $50.0 million revolving line of credit (the “Prior
Revolving Credit Facility”) and a $165.0 million term loan (the “Prior Term Loan Facility”). The Prior Credit Agreement was amended again on December 7,
2018 to reflect the change in our fiscal year-end from December 31 to March 31. The Prior Credit Agreement was further amended on April 8, 2020 to (i)
increase the maximum permi�ed total net leverage ra�o for the fiscal quarters ending June 30, 2020, September 30, 2020, December 31, 2020, March 31,
2021 and June 30, 2021, (ii) reduce the minimum fixed charge coverage ra�o for the fiscal quarters ending December 31, 2020 and March 31, 2021, (iii) add
addi�onal interest rates to correspond to the increased maximum permi�ed total net leverage ra�os, (iv) increase the amount of cash ne�ed in the
calcula�on of the consolidated total net leverage ra�o, and (v) amend the language around the level of add backs to the adjusted consolidated EBITDA
defini�on. We amended and restated the Prior Credit Agreement in April 2021 as described under the heading “Amended credit agreement” below.

All amounts under the Prior Revolving Credit Facility were available for draw un�l the maturity date on August 25, 2022. The Prior Revolving
Credit Facility was collateralized by substan�ally all of our assets and required payment of an unused fee ranging from 0.35% to 0.25% (based on our
consolidated total net leverage ra�o (as defined in the Prior Credit Agreement)) �mes the average daily amount of unu�lized commitments under the Prior
Revolving Credit Facility. The Prior Revolving Credit Facility also provided for sub-facili�es in the form of a $7.0 million le�er of credit and a $5.0 million swing
line loan; however, all amounts under the Prior Revolving Credit Facility could exceed $50.0 million. The unused balance of the Prior Revolving Credit Facility
as of March 31, 2021 was $49.8 million.
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The Prior Term Loan Facility maturity date was August 25, 2022 and was collateralized by substan�ally all of our assets. Amor�za�on installment
payments on the Prior Term Loan Facility were required to be made in quarterly installments of (i) $2,062,500 for fiscal quarters ended September 30, 2017
through June 30, 2019, (ii) $2,475,000 for fiscal quarters ended September 30, 2019 through June 30, 2020, (iii) $3,093,750 for fiscal quarters ending
September 30, 2020 through June 30, 2021 and (iv) $4,125,000 for fiscal quarters ending September 30, 2021 through June 30, 2022. The remaining Prior
Term Loan Facility balance was due upon the maturity date. The Prior Term Loan Facility could be prepaid at any �me without penalty and was subject to
mandatory prepayments when there was (i) excess cash flow, which is defined as EBITDA less certain customary deduc�ons, (ii) non-ordinary course asset
disposi�ons that result in net proceeds in excess of $2.5 million during a year, unless reinvested within twelve months or (iii) issuance of addi�onal debt.

Both the Prior Revolving Credit Facility and the Prior Term Loan Facility bore interest, at our op�on, at either a rate per annum equal to (i) an
adjusted LIBOR rate determined by reference to the cost of funds for U.S. dollar deposits for the applicable interest period (subject to a minimum floor of 0%)
plus an applicable margin ranging from 1.50% to 3.25% based on our consolidated total net leverage ra�o or (ii) a floa�ng base rate plus an applicable margin
ranging from 0.50% to 2.25% based on our consolidated total net leverage ra�o. The interest rate as of March 31, 2021 for the Prior Term Loan Facility was
approximately 2.0%.

The Prior Credit Agreement contained a number of covenants that, among other things, restricted our ability to (subject to certain excep�ons)
pay dividends and distribu�ons or repurchase our capital stock, incur addi�onal indebtedness, create liens on assets, engage in mergers or consolida�ons and
sell or otherwise dispose of assets. The Prior Credit Agreement also included repor�ng, financial and maintenance covenants that require us to, among other
things, comply with certain consolidated total net leverage ra�os and consolidated fixed charge coverage ra�os. As of March 31, 2021 and March 31, 2020,
we were in compliance with all financial covenants under the Prior Credit Agreement.

Amended credit agreement

On April 30, 2021, we amended and restated the Prior Credit Agreement (the “Amended Credit Agreement”), amended and restated the Prior
Term Loan Facility and the Prior Revolving Credit Facility, and refinanced all loans under the Prior Credit Agreement.

The Amended Credit Agreement has a five year term and consists of (i) a $100 million revolving credit facility (the “Amended Revolving Credit
Facility”) and (ii) a $100 million term loan facility (the “Amended Term Loan Facility”).

All amounts under the Amended Revolving Credit Facility are available for draw un�l the maturity date on April 30, 2026. The Amended
Revolving Credit Facility is collateralized by substan�ally all of our assets and requires payment of an unused fee ranging from 0.10% to 0.30% (based on our
consolidated total net leverage ra�o (as defined in the Amended Credit Agreement)) �mes the average daily amount of unu�lized commitments under the
Amended Revolving Credit Facility. The Amended Revolving Credit Facility also provides for sub-facili�es in the form of a $7 million le�er of credit and a $5
million swing line loan; however, all amounts under the Amended Revolving Credit Facility cannot exceed $100 million. The unused balance of the Amended
Revolving Credit Facility as of May 14, 2021 was $73.3 million.

Both the Amended Revolving Credit Facility and the Amended Term Loan Facility bear interest, at borrowers’ op�on, at either (i) a rate per
annum equal to an adjusted LIBOR rate determined by reference to the cost of funds for the U.S. dollar deposits for the applicable interest period (subject to
a minimum floor of 0%) plus an applicable margin ranging from 1.25% to 2.125% based on our consolidated total net leverage ra�o or (ii) a floa�ng base rate
plus an applicable margin ranging from 0.25% to 1.125% based on our consolidated total net leverage ra�o.

The Amended Credit Agreement contains a number of covenants that, among other things, restrict our ability to (subject to certain excep�ons)
pay dividends and distribu�ons or repurchase our capital stock, incur addi�onal indebtedness, create liens on assets, engage in mergers or consolida�ons and
sell or otherwise dispose of assets. The Amended Credit Agreement also includes repor�ng, financial and maintenance covenants that require us to, among
other things, comply with certain consolidated total net leverage ra�os and consolidated fixed charge coverage ra�os. 
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Contractual obliga�ons and commitments

The following table summarizes our contractual obliga�ons as of March 31, 2021 (in thousands):

 Payments Due by Period

 Total Less than 1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years More than 5 Years

Bank debt $ 125,194 $ 15,469 $ 109,725 $ — $ — 
Interest on bank debt 3,234 2,372 862 — — 
Opera�ng lease obliga�ons 26,335 4,823 9,741 7,166 4,605 
Finance lease obliga�ons 2,350 907 1,443 — — 
Total contractual obliga�ons $ 157,113 $ 23,571 $ 121,771 $ 7,166 $ 4,605 

(1) Long-term debt payments include scheduled principal payments only.

(2) Assumes an annual interest rate of 2.0% on the Prior Term Loan Facility over the term of the loan.

(3) Includes a $0.3 million residual value guarantee.

(4) We have excluded our liability for uncertain tax posi�ons from the table above because we are unable to make a reasonably reliable es�mate of
the �ming of payments.

Off-balance sheet arrangements

We are not party to any off-balance sheet arrangements.

Cri�cal accoun�ng policies and es�mates

Our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted
accoun�ng principles. The prepara�on of our financial statements requires us to make es�mates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets,
liabili�es, revenues and expenses. We base our es�mates on historical experience and on various other assump�ons that we believe are reasonable under
the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these es�mates under different assump�ons or condi�ons. While our significant accoun�ng policies are
more fully described in the Note 2 to consolidated financial statements in Part IV, Item 15 “Exhibits, financial statement schedules”, we believe that the
following accoun�ng policies and es�mates are cri�cal to our business opera�ons and understanding of our financial results.

Revenue recogni�on

We recognize revenue when control of promised goods or services is transferred to a customer in an amount that reflects the considera�on that
we expect to receive in exchange for those goods or services. Control of the substan�al majority of the products that we sell will be transferred at a point in
�me. Factors that determine the specific point in �me a customer obtains control and a performance obliga�on is sa�sfied are when we have a present right
to payment for the goods, whether the customer has physical possession and �tle to the goods, and whether significant risks and rewards of ownership have
transferred. Delivery is typically considered to have occurred at the �me the �tle and risk of loss passes to the customer.

In the normal course of business, we offer various incen�ves to customers such as sales discounts, markdown support and other incen�ves and
allowances, which give rise to variable considera�on. The amount of variable considera�on is es�mated at the �me of sale based on either the expected
value method or the most likely amount, depending on the nature of the variability. We regularly review and revise, when deemed necessary, our es�mates
of variable considera�on based on both customer-specific expecta�ons as well as historical rates of realiza�on. A provision for unclaimed customer incen�ves
and allowances is included on the consolidated balance sheet, net against accounts receivable.

Business Combina�ons 

We allocate the purchase price of a business acquisi�on to the assets acquired and liabili�es assumed based upon their es�mated fair values at
the business combina�on date. The excess of purchase price over the fair value of assets acquired and liabili�es assumed is recorded as goodwill.
Determining fair value of iden�fiable assets, par�cularly intangibles, and liabili�es acquired also requires us to make es�mates, which are based on all
available informa�on and in some cases assump�ons with respect to the �ming and amount of future revenues and expenses associated with an asset.
Unan�cipated

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)
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events or circumstances may occur that could affect the accuracy of our fair value es�mates, and under different assump�ons, the resul�ng valua�ons could
be materially different, which could impact the opera�ng results we report.

Impairment of long-lived assets, including goodwill and intangible assets

We assess poten�al impairments to our long-lived assets, which include property and equipment, retail product displays, and amor�zable
intangible assets, whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of an asset is
measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset group to the es�mated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset.
If the carrying amount of the asset group exceeds its es�mated undiscounted future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized as the amount by which
the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset. There were no impairment charges recorded on long-lived assets during the years ended
March 31, 2021 or March 31, 2020.

We evaluate our indefinite-lived intangible asset to determine whether current events and circumstances con�nue to support an indefinite
useful life. In addi�on, our indefinite-lived intangible asset is tested for impairment annually. The indefinite-lived intangible asset impairment test consists of a
comparison of the fair value of each asset with its carrying value, with any excess of carrying value over fair value being recognized as an impairment loss. We
are also permi�ed to make a qualita�ve assessment of whether it is more likely than not that an indefinite-lived intangible asset’s fair value is less than its
carrying value prior to applying the quan�ta�ve assessment. If based on our qualita�ve assessment it is more likely than not that the carrying value of the
asset is less than its fair value, then a quan�ta�ve assessment may be required.

The goodwill impairment test consists of a comparison of each repor�ng unit’s fair value to its carrying value. The fair value of a repor�ng unit is
an es�mate of the amount for which the unit as a whole could be sold in a current transac�on between willing par�es. If the carrying value of a repor�ng unit
exceeds its fair value, goodwill is wri�en down to its implied fair value. We are also permi�ed to make a qualita�ve assessment of whether it is more likely
than not that the fair value of a repor�ng unit is less than its carrying value prior to applying the quan�ta�ve assessment. If based on our qualita�ve
assessment it is more likely than not that the carrying value of the repor�ng unit is less than its fair value, then a quan�ta�ve assessment may be required.
We have iden�fied a single repor�ng unit for purposes of impairment tes�ng.

We have selected October 1 as the date on which to perform our annual impairment tests. We also test for impairment whenever events or
circumstances indicate that the fair value of goodwill or indefinite-lived intangible assets has been impaired. No impairment of goodwill or our indefinite-lived
intangible asset was recorded during the years ended March 31, 2021 or March 31, 2020.

Stock-based compensa�on

Stock-based compensa�on cost is measured at grant date, based on the fair value of the award, and is recognized on a straight-line basis over
the requisite service period for all awards that vest. We es�mate the fair value of employee stock-based payment awards subject to only a service condi�on
on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes valua�on model. The Black-Scholes model requires the use of highly subjec�ve and complex assump�ons,
including the op�on’s expected term and the price vola�lity of the underlying stock. We es�mate the fair value of employee stock-based payment awards
subject to market condi�ons on the date of grant using a Monte Carlo simula�on model.

We recognize compensa�on expense for awards with only a service condi�on on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period, which is
generally the award’s ves�ng period. Compensa�on expense for employee stock-based awards whose ves�ng is subject to the fulfillment of both a market
condi�on and the occurrence of a performance condi�on is recognized on a graded-ves�ng basis at the �me the achievement of the performance condi�on
becomes probable. We account for forfeitures as they occur.

The expected stock price vola�lity for common stock was es�mated by taking the average historic price vola�lity for industry peers based on
daily price observa�ons over a period equivalent to the expected term of the stock op�on grants. Industry peers consist of several public companies in our
industry which are of similar size, complexity and stage of development. The risk-free interest rate for the expected term of the op�on is based on the U.S.
Treasury implied yield at the date of grant. The weighted-average expected term is determined with reference to historical exercise and post-ves�ng
cancella�on experience and the ves�ng period and contractual term of the awards.

We have no current plans to pay a regular dividend.
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New accoun�ng pronouncements

See Note 2 Summary of significant accoun�ng policies to the Notes to consolidated financial statements in Part IV, Item 15, “Exhibits, Financial
Statement Schedules” for informa�on regarding new accoun�ng pronouncements.

We comply with any new or revised accoun�ng standards on the relevant dates on which adop�on of such standards is required for non-
emerging growth companies.

Item 7A. Quan�ta�ve and qualita�ve disclosures about market risk.

We are exposed to certain market risks arising from transac�ons in the normal course of our business. Such risk is principally associated with
interest rates and foreign exchange.

Interest rate risk

We had cash, cash equivalents of $57.8 million and $46.2 million as of March 31, 2021 and March 31, 2020, respec�vely. Our cash and cash
equivalents consist of cash and money market funds, which are highly liquid and, as such, are not sensi�ve to interest rate risk.

We are exposed to changes in interest rates because the indebtedness incurred under the Amended Credit Agreement is variable rate debt.
Interest rate changes generally do not affect the market value of our Senior Secured Credit Facility; however, they do affect the amount of our interest
payments and, therefore, our future earnings and cash flows. As of March 31, 2021, we had variable rate debt of $124.6 million under the Prior Credit
Agreement. A hypothe�cal 1% increase or decrease of interest rates would result in a decrease or increase, respec�vely, in interest expense on an annualized
basis of approximately $1.2 million as of March 31, 2021.

Foreign exchange risk

We are exposed to foreign exchange risk as we have contracts with suppliers in China for future purchases of inventories denominated in
Chinese Renminbi (RMB). We do not have an ac�ve hedging program, and all of our legacy exchange rate forward contracts matured in 2016. We neither used
these foreign currency forward contracts for trading purposes nor did we follow hedge accoun�ng, and therefore the periodic impact of these legacy hedging
ac�vi�es was calculated on a mark-to-market basis. Accordingly, the foreign currency forward contracts were carried at their fair value either as an asset or
liability on the consolidated balance sheet with changes in fair value being recorded in other income (expense), net in our consolidated statements of
opera�ons.

Foreign currency transac�on exposure from a 10% movement of currency exchange rates would have a material impact on our reported cost of
sales and net income. Based on a hypothe�cal 10% adverse movement in RMB as compared to the US dollar, our cost of sales and net income would be
adversely affected by approximately $12.1 million for the year ended March 31, 2021.
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Item 8. Financial statements and supplementary data.

The following consolidated financial statements are incorporated by reference herein:

e.l.f. Beauty, Inc. and subsidiaries
Index to consolidated financial statements
 Page

Report of Independent Registered Public Accoun�ng Firm 59
Consolidated Balance Sheets 61
Consolidated Statements of Opera�ons and Comprehensive Income 62
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity 63
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 64
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 66

Item 9. Changes in and disagreements with accountants on accoun�ng and financial disclosure.

None.

Item 9A. Controls and procedures.

Evalua�on of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of March 31, 2021, our management conducted an evalua�on, under the supervision and with the par�cipa�on of our Chief Execu�ve Officer
and Chief Financial Officer, of the effec�veness of the design and opera�on of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-
15(e) under the Exchange Act. Based upon that evalua�on, our Chief Execu�ve Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of March 31, 2021, our
disclosure controls and procedures were effec�ve to provide reasonable assurance that the informa�on required to be disclosed by the Company in the
reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the �me periods specified in SEC rules and
forms and that such informa�on is accumulated and communicated to the officers who cer�fy our financial reports and to the members of the Company’s
senior management and board of directors as appropriate to allow �mely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Repor�ng

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial repor�ng, as such term is defined in
the Exchange Act. Internal control over financial repor�ng is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial repor�ng and the
prepara�on of financial statements prepared for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accoun�ng principles. Because of its inherent
limita�ons, internal control over financial repor�ng may not prevent or detect misstatements.

Under the supervision and with the par�cipa�on of our Chief Execu�ve Officer and Chief Financial Officer, our management conducted an
evalua�on of the effec�veness of our internal control over financial repor�ng based upon the framework in “Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013)”
issued by the Commi�ee of Sponsoring Organiza�ons of the Treadway Commission. Based on that evalua�on, management concluded that our internal
control over financial repor�ng was effec�ve as of March 31, 2021.

Deloi�e & Touche LLP, an independent registered public accoun�ng firm, was retained to audit our Consolidated Financial Statements and the
effec�veness of our internal control over financial repor�ng. They have issued an a�esta�on report on our internal control over financial repor�ng as of
March 31, 2021, which is included herein.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Repor�ng

There were no changes to our internal control over financial repor�ng that occurred during the quarter ended March 31, 2021 that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial repor�ng. We have not experienced any material impact to
our internal controls over financial repor�ng despite the fact that most of our employees are working remotely due to the COVID-19 pandemic. We are
con�nually monitoring and assessing
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the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our internal controls to minimize the impact on their design and opera�ng effec�veness.

Sec�on 302 and 906 Cer�fica�on

The required cer�fica�on of our Chief Execu�ve Officer and Chief Financial Officer under Sec�ons 302 and 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002 are included as exhibits to this Annual Report (See Exhibits 31 and 32 under Part IV, Item 15 "Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules").
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the stockholders and the Board of Directors of e.l.f. Beauty, Inc.:

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Repor�ng

We have audited the internal control over financial repor�ng of e.l.f. Beauty, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of March 31, 2021, based on criteria
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Commi�ee of Sponsoring Organiza�ons of the Treadway Commission (COSO). In
our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effec�ve internal control over financial repor�ng as of March 31, 2021, based on criteria
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accoun�ng Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated
financial statements as of and for the year ended March 31, 2021, of the Company and our report dated May 27, 2021, expressed an unqualified opinion on
those financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effec�ve internal control over financial repor�ng and for its assessment of the effec�veness of
internal control over financial repor�ng, included in the accompanying Management’s annual report on internal control over financial repor�ng. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial repor�ng based on our audit. We are a public accoun�ng firm
registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securi�es laws and the
applicable rules and regula�ons of the Securi�es and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether effec�ve internal control over financial repor�ng was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial repor�ng, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, tes�ng and evalua�ng the design and opera�ng
effec�veness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Defini�on and Limita�ons of Internal Control over Financial Repor�ng

A company’s internal control over financial repor�ng is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial repor�ng and
the prepara�on of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accoun�ng principles. A company’s internal control over
financial repor�ng includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transac�ons and disposi�ons of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transac�ons are recorded as necessary to permit
prepara�on of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accoun�ng principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with authoriza�ons of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding preven�on or
�mely detec�on of unauthorized acquisi�on, use, or disposi�on of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limita�ons, internal control over financial repor�ng may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projec�ons of any evalua�on of
effec�veness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in condi�ons, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

San Francisco, California
May 27, 2021

Item 9B. Other informa�on.

None.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, execu�ve officers and corporate governance.

The informa�on required by this Part III, Item 10 is incorporated by reference to the sec�ons en�tled “Our Board of Directors”, “Our Execu�ve
Officers", “Delinquent Sec�on 16(a) Reports”, and “Corporate Governance Materials Available on our Website” (or similar �tles) that will be contained in our
Defini�ve Proxy Statement rela�ng to our 2021 annual mee�ng of stockholders (our “Proxy Statement”). Our Proxy Statement will be filed with the SEC within
120 days of March 31, 2021.

Item 11. Execu�ve compensa�on.

The informa�on required by this Part III, Item 11 is incorporated by reference to the sec�ons en�tled “Our Board of Directors” and “Execu�ve
Compensa�on” (or similar �tles) that will be contained in the Proxy Statement.

Item 12. Security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management and related stockholder ma�ers.

The informa�on required by this Part III, Item 12 is incorporated by reference to the sec�ons en�tled “Equity Compensa�on Plan Informa�on”
and “Beneficial Ownership of Common Stock” (or similar �tles) that will be contained in the Proxy Statement.

Item 13. Certain rela�onships and related transac�ons, and director independence.

The informa�on required by this Part III, Item 13 is incorporated by reference to the sec�ons en�tled “Certain Rela�onships and Related Party
Transac�ons” and “Director Independence” (or similar �tles) that will be contained in the Proxy Statement.

Item 14. Principal accoun�ng fees and services.

The informa�on required by this Part III, Item 14 is incorporated by reference to the sec�on en�tled “Audit Ma�ers” (or a similar �tle) that will
be contained in the Proxy Statement.
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, financial statement schedules.

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report:

1. Consolidated financial statements:

Reference is made to the Index to Consolidated Financial Statements on page 63 hereof, which is incorporated by reference herein.

2. Financial statement schedules:

All schedules are omi�ed because the required informa�on is either not present, not present in material amounts or presented within our
consolidated financial statements and notes thereto beginning on page 63 hereof and are incorporated herein by reference.

3. Exhibits

   Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Number Exhibit Descrip�on
Provided
Herewith Form

Exhibit
Number File Number Filing Date

3.1 Amended and Restated Cer�ficate of Incorpora�on of e.l.f. Beauty,
Inc.

 8-K 3.1 001-37873 9/27/2016

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of e.l.f. Beauty, Inc.  8-K 3.2 001-37873 9/27/2016

4.1 Reference is made to Exhibits 3.1 and 3.2.      
4.2 Registra�on Rights Agreement, dated January 31, 2014, by and

among e.l.f. Beauty, Inc. and certain stockholders party thereto.
 S-1 4.2 333-213333 8/26/2016

4.3 Form of Common Stock Cer�ficate.  S-1/A 4.4 333-213333 9/12/2016
4.4 Descrip�on of Capital Stock X

10.1 (a) Standard Mul�-Tenant Office Lease, dated as of March 31, 2014, by
and between 1007 Clay Street Proper�es LLC and e.l.f. Cosme�cs, Inc.
(formerly known as J.A. Cosme�cs US, Inc.).

 S-1 10.1 333-213333 8/26/2016

10.1 (b) Addendum to Standard Mul�-Tenant Office Lease, dated as of March
31, 2014, by and between 1007 Clay Street Proper�es LLC and e.l.f.
Cosme�cs, Inc. (formerly known as J.A. Cosme�cs US, Inc.).

 S-1 10.2 333-213333 8/26/2016

10.1 (c) Standard Mul�-Tenant Office Lease, dated as of October 5, 2015, by
and between 1007 Clay Street Proper�es LLC and e.l.f. Cosme�cs, Inc.
(formerly known as J.A. Cosme�cs US, Inc.).

 S-1 10.3 333-213333 8/26/2016

10.1 (d) Addendum to Standard Mul�-Tenant Office Lease, dated as of
October 22, 2015, by and between 1007 Clay Street Proper�es LLC
and e.l.f. Cosme�cs, Inc. (formerly known as J.A. Cosme�cs US, Inc.).

 S-1 10.4 333-213333 8/26/2016

10.1 (e) Amended and Restated Lease Agreement, dated June 19, 2019, by
and between e.l.f. Cosme�cs, Inc. and Redwood Property Investors III,
LLC (as successor to 1007 Clay Street Proper�es)

10-Q 10.1 001-37873 8/8/2019

10.2(a) Standard Industrial/Commercial Mul�-Tenant Lease, dated as of
December 9, 2015, by and between Jurupa Gateway LLC and e.l.f.
Cosme�cs, Inc. (formerly known as J.A. Cosme�cs US, Inc.).

 S-1 10.5 333-213333 8/26/2016

10.2(b) First Amendment to Lease, dated August 24, 2020, by and between
Jurupa Gateway LLC and e.l.f. Cosme�cs, Inc.

10-Q 10.1 001-37873 2/4/2021
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   Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Number Exhibit Descrip�on
Provided
Herewith Form

Exhibit
Number File Number Filing Date

10.3 (a) Senior Secured Credit Agreement, dated as of December 23, 2016, by
and among e.l.f. Beauty, Inc., as parent guarantor, e.l.f. Cosme�cs,
Inc., J.A. 139 Fulton Street Corp., J.A. 741 Retail Corp., J.A. Cosme�cs
Retail, Inc., J.A. RF, LLC and J.A. Cherry Hill, LLC, each as a borrower,
and Bank of Montreal, as the administra�ve agent, swingline lender
and l/c issuer.

 8-K 10.1 001-37873 12/28/2016

10.3 (b) First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of August 25, 2017,
by and among e.l.f. Beauty, Inc., as parent guarantor, e.l.f. Cosme�cs,
Inc., J.A. 139 Fulton Street Corp., J.A. 741 Retail Corp., J.A. Cosme�cs
Retail, Inc., J.A. RF, LLC and J.A. Cherry Hill, LLC, each as a borrower,
Bank of Montreal, as the administra�ve agent, swingline lender and
l/c issuer, and the lenders from �me to �me party thereto.

8-K 10.1 001-37873 8/28/2017

10.3 (c) Second Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of December 7,
2018, by and among e.l.f. Beauty, Inc., as parent guarantor, e.l.f.
Cosme�cs, Inc., J.A. 139 Fulton Street Corp., J.A. 741 Retail Corp., J.A.
Cosme�cs Retail, Inc., J.A. RF, LLC and J.A. Cherry Hill, LLC, each as a
borrower, Bank of Montreal, as the administra�ve agent, swingline
lender and l/c issuer, and the lenders from �me to �me party thereto

10-K 10.8(b) 001-37873 5/28/2020

10.3(d) Third Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of April 8, 2020, by
and among e.l.f. Beauty, Inc., as parent guarantor, e.l.f. Cosme�cs,
Inc., W3ll People, Inc., J.A. RF, LLC, each as a borrower, Bank of
Montreal, as the administra�ve agent, swingline lender and l/c issuer,
and the lenders from �me to �me party thereto.

8-K 10.1 001-37873 4/9/2020

10.4 Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated April 30, 2021, by
and among the Company as parent guarantor, e.l.f. Cosme�cs, Inc.,
W3LL People, Inc. and J.A. RF, LLC, each as a borrower, Bank of
Montreal, as the administra�ve agent, swingline lender and l/c issuer,
U.S. Bank, as syndica�on agent and a joint lead arranger, BMO Capital
Markets Corp., as a joint lead arranger and bookrunner, and the
lenders from �me to �me party thereto.

8-K 10.1 001-37873 5/4/2020

10.5 (a)# 2014 Equity Incen�ve Plan of e.l.f. Beauty, Inc.  S-1 10.12 333-213333 8/26/2016

10.5 (b)# Amendment to 2014 Equity Incen�ve Plan of e.l.f. Beauty, Inc., dated
as of March 15, 2017.

10-K 10.7(b) 001-37873 3/15/2017

10.5 (c)# Forms of stock op�on award agreements used under the 2014 Equity
Incen�ve Plan of e.l.f. Beauty, Inc.

 S-1 10.13 333-213333 8/26/2016

10.6 (a)# 2016 Equity Incen�ve Award Plan of e.l.f. Beauty, Inc.  S-1/A 10.16 333-213333 9/12/2016
10.6 (b)# Amendment to the e.l.f. Beauty, Inc. 2016 Equity Incen�ve Award

Plan
8-K 10.2 001-37873 7/2/2020

10.6 (c)# Form of Stock Op�on Grant No�ce under the 2016 Equity Incen�ve
Award Plan of e.l.f. Beauty, Inc.

 S-1/A 10.17 333-213333 9/12/2016

10.6 (d)# Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Grant No�ce under the 2016
Equity Incen�ve Award Plan of e.l.f. Beauty, Inc.

 S-1/A 10.27 333-213333 9/12/2016
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10.6 (e)# Form of Restricted Stock Award Grant No�ce under the 2016 Equity
Incen�ve Award Plan of e.l.f. Beauty, Inc. (Execu�ves).

10-K 10.12(d) 001-37873 3/15/2017

10.6 (f)# Form of Restricted Stock Award Grant No�ce under the 2016 Equity
Incen�ve Award Plan of e.l.f. Beauty, Inc. (Chief Execu�ve Officer).

10-K 10.12(e) 001-37873 3/15/2017

10.6 (g)# Form of Performance Stock Award Grant No�ce under the 2016
Equity Incen�ve Award Plan of e.l.f. Beauty, Inc. (Execu�ves).

X

10.6 (h)# Form of Performance Stock Award Grant No�ce under the 2016
Equity Incen�ve Award Plan of e.l.f. Beauty, Inc. (Chief Execu�ve
Officer).

X

10.7# 2016 Employee Stock Purchase Plan of e.l.f. Beauty, Inc. S-1/A 10.18 333-213333 9/12/2016
10.8# Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of

February 26, 2019, between Tarang Amin, e.l.f. Cosme�cs, Inc. and
e.l.f. Beauty, Inc.

10-K 10.16 001-37873 2/28/2019

10.9# Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of
February 26, 2019, between Sco� Milsten, e.l.f. Cosme�cs, Inc. and
e.l.f. Beauty, Inc.

10-K 10.17 001-37873 2/28/2019

10.10# Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of
February 26, 2019, between Richard Baruch, Jr., e.l.f. Cosme�cs, Inc.
and e.l.f. Beauty, Inc.

10-K 10.18 001-37873 2/28/2019

10.11# Employment Agreement, dated as of February 1, 2019, between Kory
Marchiso�o, e.l.f. Cosme�cs, Inc. and e.l.f. Beauty, Inc.

10-Q 10.1 001-37873 5/9/2019

10.12# Employment Agreement, dated as of March 15, 2019, between
Mandy Fields, e.l.f. Cosme�cs, Inc. and e.l.f. Beauty, Inc.

8-K 10.1 001-37873 3/21/2019

10.13# Employment Agreement, dated as of November 25, 2019, between
Josh Franks, e.l.f. Cosme�cs, Inc. and e.l.f. Beauty, Inc.

10-Q 10.1 001-37873 2/6/2020

10.14# Form of Indemnifica�on Agreement for directors and officers of e.l.f.
Beauty, Inc.

 S-1 10.25 333-213333 8/26/2016

10.15# Amended and Restated Non-Employee Director Compensa�on
Program of e.l.f. Beauty, Inc.

 10-Q 10.1 001-37873 11/7/2019

10.16# Coopera�on Agreement, dated as of July 1, 2020, by and between
e.l.f. Beauty, Inc., Marathon Partners Equity Management, LLC,
Marathon Partners L.P., Marathon Focus Fund L.P., Marathon Partners
LUX Fund, L.P., Cibelli Research & Management, LLC and Mario Cibelli.

8-K 10.1 001-37873 7/2/2020

21.1 List of Significant Subsidiaries of e.l.f. Beauty, Inc. X     
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Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Number Exhibit Descrip�on
Provided
Herewith Form

Exhibit
Number File Number Filing Date

23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accoun�ng Firm. X     

24.1 Power of A�orney. Reference is made to the signature page to this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

X     

31.1 Cer�fica�on of the Chief Execu�ve Officer, pursuant to Sec�on 302 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

X     

31.2 Cer�fica�on of the Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to Sec�on 302 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

X     

32.1* Cer�fica�on of the Chief Execu�ve Officer and Chief Financial Officer,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sec�on 1350, as adopted pursuant to Sec�on
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

X     

101.INS

101.SCH
101.CAL

101.DEF

101.LAB

101.PRE

104

XBRL Instance Document - Instance document does not appear in the
Interac�ve Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the
Inline XBRL document.
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calcula�on Linkbase Document.
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Defini�on Linkbase Document.
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presenta�on Linkbase Document.
Cover Page Interac�ve Data File (forma�ed as Inline XBRL and
contained in Exhibit 101).

X

X
X

X

X

X

X

    

#    Indicates management contract or compensatory plan

*    This cer�fica�on is deemed furnished, and not filed, with the Securi�es and Exchange Commission and is not to be incorporated by reference into any
filing of e.l.f. Beauty, Inc. under the Securi�es Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securi�es Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, whether made before
or a�er the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, irrespec�ve of any general incorpora�on language contained in such filing.

 
Item 16. Form 10-K Summary.

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Sec�on 13 or 15(d) of the Securi�es Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Registrant has duly caused this
Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

  e.l.f. Beauty, Inc.
   
May 27, 2021  By: /s/ Tarang P. Amin
Date   Tarang P. Amin

Chief Execu�ve Officer
(Principal Execu�ve Officer)

   
May 27, 2021  By: /s/ Mandy Fields
Date   Mandy Fields

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accoun�ng Officer)
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POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below hereby cons�tutes and appoints Tarang P. Amin,
Mandy Fields and Sco� K. Milsten, and each of them ac�ng individually, as his or her true and lawful a�orneys-in-fact and agents, each with full power of
subs�tu�on, for him or her in any and all capaci�es, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with all
exhibits thereto and other documents in connec�on therewith, with the Securi�es and Exchange Commission, gran�ng unto said a�orneys-in-fact and agents,
with full power of each to act alone, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in
connec�on therewith, as fully for all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ra�fying and confirming all that said a�orneys-in-fact and
agents, or his or their subs�tute or subs�tutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the undersigned has executed this Power of A�orney as of the date indicated opposite his or her name.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securi�es Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this Annual Report on Form 10-K has been signed below by
the following persons in the capaci�es and on the dates indicated.

Name  Title  Date
     

/s/ Tarang P. Amin  
Chairman, Chief Execu�ve Officer and Director
(Principal Execu�ve Officer)  May 27, 2021

Tarang P. Amin    
    

/s/ Mandy Fields  
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accoun�ng Officer)  May 27, 2021

Mandy Fields    
    

/s/ Lori A. Keith Director May 27, 2021
Lori A. Keith

/s/ Lauren Cooks Levitan  Director  May 27, 2021
Lauren Cooks Levitan    

    

/s/ Kenny Mitchell Director May 27, 2021
Kenny Mitchell

/s/ Richelle P. Parham Director May 27, 2021
Richelle P. Parham

/s/ Kirk L. Perry  Director  May 27, 2021
Kirk L. Perry    

/s/ Beth M. Pritchard  Director  May 27, 2021
Beth M. Pritchard    

    

/s/ Sabrina L. Simmons  Director  May 27, 2021
Sabrina L. Simmons    

    

/s/ Maureen C. Watson  Director  May 27, 2021
Maureen C. Watson    

    

/s/ Richard G. Wolford  Director  May 27, 2021
Richard G. Wolford     
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the stockholders and the Board of Directors of e.l.f. Beauty, Inc.:

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of e.l.f. Beauty, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of March 31, 2021 and 2020, the
related consolidated statements of opera�ons and comprehensive income (loss), stockholders’ equity, and cash flows, for the years ended March 31, 2021
and 2020, for the three months ended March 31, 2019, and for the year ended December 31, 2018, and the related notes (collec�vely referred to as the
“financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial posi�on of the Company as of March 31,
2021 and 2020, and the results of its opera�ons and its cash flows for the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, for the three months ended March 31,
2019, and for the year ended December 31, 2018, in conformity with accoun�ng principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accoun�ng Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company’s internal
control over financial repor�ng as of March 31, 2021, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the
Commi�ee of Sponsoring Organiza�ons of the Treadway Commission and our report dated May 27, 2021, expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company’s
internal control over financial repor�ng.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accoun�ng firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company
in accordance with the U.S. federal securi�es laws and the applicable rules and regula�ons of the Securi�es and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing
procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond
to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits
also included evalua�ng the accoun�ng principles used and significant es�mates made by management, as well as evalua�ng the overall presenta�on of the
financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Cri�cal Audit Ma�er

The cri�cal audit ma�er communicated below is a ma�er arising from the current-period audit of the financial statements that was communicated or
required to be communicated to the audit commi�ee and that (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2)
involved our especially challenging, subjec�ve, or complex judgments. The communica�on of cri�cal audit ma�ers does not alter in any way our opinion on
the financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communica�ng the cri�cal audit ma�er below, providing a separate opinion on the cri�cal
audit ma�er or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Revenue Recogni�on—Provision for Unclaimed Customer Incen�ves and Allowances—Refer to Note 2 to the financial statements

Cri�cal Audit Ma�er Descrip�on

The Company offers various incen�ves to customers such as sales discounts, markdown support, and other incen�ves and allowances, which give rise to
variable considera�on. The amount of variable considera�on is es�mated at the �me of sale based on either the expected value method or the most likely
amount, depending on the nature of the variability. The Company regularly reviews and revises, when deemed necessary, their es�mates of variable
considera�on based on both customer-specific expecta�ons, as well as historical rates of realiza�on. A provision for unclaimed customer incen�ves and
allowances is included on the consolidated balance sheet, net against accounts receivable. The provision for unclaimed
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customer incen�ves and allowances was $11.9 million and $7.6 million as of March 31, 2021 and March 31, 2020, respec�vely.

Audi�ng the Company’s provision of unclaimed customer incen�ves and allowances was complex and judgmental as the provision for unclaimed customer
incen�ves and allowances is determined based on significant management es�mates. Changes in these es�mates can have a material impact on revenue
recognized. Addi�onally, given the subjec�vity of es�ma�ng the provision for unclaimed customer incen�ves and allowances, performing audit procedures to
evaluate whether the provision for unclaimed customer incen�ves and allowances is appropriately recorded required a high degree of auditor judgment.

How the Cri�cal Audit Ma�er Was Addressed in the Audit

Our audit procedures related to the Company’s provision of unclaimed customer incen�ves and allowances included the following, among others:

•    We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design, and tested the opera�ng effec�veness of controls over the Company’s provision of unclaimed
customer incen�ves and allowances, including controls over management’s review of the significant assump�ons, such as the historical rate of customer
deduc�ons and management’s review of the completeness and accuracy of the data used.

•    We tested customer deduc�on data underlying the es�mate to validate the nature, �ming, and amount of deduc�ons taken.

•    We evaluated the Company’s historical ability to accurately es�mate its provision by performing a retrospec�ve analysis on the prior period reserve, based
on current-period deduc�ons.

•    We evaluated period-over-period comparisons of the Company’s provision for unclaimed customer incen�ves and allowances and deduc�ons claimed by
customers by allowance type to iden�fy unusual trends.

•    We evaluated management’s methodologies and tested the significant assump�ons used by the Company to calculate the provision for unclaimed
customer incen�ves and allowances and verified they were in agreement with the terms of underlying customer contracts.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

San Francisco, California
May 27, 2021

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2014.
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e.l.f. Beauty, Inc. and subsidiaries
Consolidated balance sheets
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

 

 March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020

Assets   
Current assets:   

Cash and cash equivalents $ 57,768 $ 46,167 
Accounts receivable, net 40,185 29,721 
Inventory, net 56,810 46,209 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 15,381 10,263 

Total current assets 170,144 132,360 
Property and equipment, net 13,770 17,171 
Intangible assets, net 94,286 102,410 
Goodwill 171,620 171,321 
Investments 2,875 2,875 
Other assets 34,698 26,967 
Total assets $ 487,393 $ 453,104 

Liabili�es and stockholders' equity   
Current liabili�es:   

Current por�on of long-term debt and finance lease obliga�ons $ 16,281 $ 12,568 
Accounts payable 15,699 12,390 
Accrued expenses and other current liabili�es 41,351 26,165 

Total current liabili�es 73,331 51,123 
Long-term debt and finance lease obliga�ons 110,255 126,088 
Deferred tax liabili�es 13,479 21,892 
Long-term opera�ng lease obliga�ons 20,084 11,239 
Other long-term liabili�es 598 591 
Total liabili�es 217,747 210,933 

Commitments and con�ngencies (Note 11)

Stockholders' equity:   
    Common stock, par value of $0.01 per share; 250,000,000 shares authorized as of March 31, 2021 and

March 31, 2020; 51,590,830 and 50,003,531 shares issued and outstanding as of March 31, 2021 and
March 31, 2020, respec�vely 504 489 

Addi�onal paid-in capital 774,441 753,213 
Accumulated deficit (505,299) (511,531)

Total stockholders' equity 269,646 242,171 
Total liabili�es and stockholders' equity $ 487,393 $ 453,104 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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e.l.f. Beauty, Inc. and subsidiaries
Consolidated statements of opera�ons and comprehensive income (loss)
(in thousands, except share and per share data)
 

 Year ended March 31,

Three months ended March
31,

(transi�on period)
Year ended

December 31,

 2021 2020 2019 2018

Net sales $ 318,110 $ 282,851 $ 66,141 $ 267,435 
Cost of sales 111,912 101,728 25,650 104,694 

Gross profit 206,198 181,123 40,491 162,741 
Selling, general, and administra�ve expenses 194,157 157,155 37,324 136,579 
Restructuring expense (income) 2,641 (5,982) 22,176 — 

Opera�ng income (loss) 9,400 29,950 (19,009) 26,162 
Other (expense) income, net (1,620) 426 (315) (390)
Interest expense, net (4,090) (6,307) (1,849) (7,816)

Income (loss) before provision for income taxes 3,690 24,069 (21,173) 17,956 
Income tax benefit (provision) 2,542 (6,185) 3,259 (2,431)
Net income (loss) $ 6,232 $ 17,884 $ (17,914) $ 15,525 
Comprehensive income (loss) $ 6,232 $ 17,884 $ (17,914) $ 15,525 
Net income (loss) per share:

Basic $ 0.13 $ 0.37 $ (0.37) $ 0.33 
Diluted $ 0.12 $ 0.35 $ (0.37) $ 0.32 

Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic 49,377,410 48,498,813 48,022,926 46,828,798 
Diluted 51,994,145 50,817,143 48,022,926 49,268,616 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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e.l.f. Beauty, Inc. and subsidiaries
Consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity
(in thousands, except share data)
 

 Common stock Addi�onal
paid-in
capital Accumulated deficit

Total
stockholders'

equity Shares Amount

Balance as of December 31, 2017 46,315,630 $ 463 $ 720,372 $ (526,972) $ 193,863 
Net income — — — 15,525 15,525 
Stock-based compensa�on — — 16,821 — 16,821 
Exercise of stock op�ons and ves�ng of restricted stock 1,514,126 15 3,161 — 3,176 
Adop�on of new accoun�ng standard — — — (54) (54)

Balance as of December 31, 2018 47,829,756 478 740,354 (511,501) 229,331 
Net loss — — — (17,914) (17,914)
Stock-based compensa�on — — 3,683 — 3,683 
Exercise of stock op�ons and ves�ng of restricted stock 458,964 5 110 — 115 

Balance as of March 31, 2019 48,288,720 483 744,147 (529,415) 215,215 
Net income — — — 17,884 17,884 
Stock-based compensa�on — — 15,488 — 15,488 
Exercise of stock op�ons and ves�ng of restricted stock 1,150,490 12 1,476 — 1,488 
Repurchase of common stock (564,468) (6) (7,898) — (7,904)

Balance as of March 31, 2020 48,874,742 489 753,213 (511,531) 242,171 
Net income — — — 6,232 6,232 
Stock-based compensa�on — — 19,493 — 19,493 
Exercise of stock op�ons and ves�ng of restricted stock 1,525,768 15 1,735 — 1,750 

Balance as of March 31, 2021 50,400,510 $ 504 $ 774,441 $ (505,299) $ 269,646 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

63



e.l.f. Beauty, Inc. and subsidiaries
Consolidated statements of cash flows
(in thousands)

 
Year ended March 31,

Three months ended March
31,

(transi�on period)
Year ended

December 31,

 2021 2020 2019 2018

Cash flows from opera�ng ac�vi�es:    
Net income (loss) $ 6,232 $ 17,884 $ (17,914) $ 15,525 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by
opera�ng ac�vi�es:
Deprecia�on and amor�za�on 25,179 22,843 7,544 17,861 
Restructuring expense (income) 2,641 (5,982) 22,176 — 
Stock-based compensa�on expense 19,682 15,488 3,683 16,821 
Amor�za�on of debt issuance costs and discount on debt 847 747 190 792 
Deferred income taxes (8,584) 2,443 (3,433) (939)
Other, net 383 873 242 476 
Changes in opera�ng assets and liabili�es:

Accounts receivable (10,529) 2,504 4,215 7,649 
Inventories (10,937) (435) 2,561 16,338 
Prepaid expenses and other assets (9,659) (6,500) (1,732) (8,484)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 17,472 5,962 (6,021) (10,251)
Other liabili�es (3,252) (11,514) (3,295) (206)

Net cash provided by opera�ng ac�vi�es 29,475 44,313 8,216 55,582 

Cash flows from inves�ng ac�vi�es:   
Acquisi�on, net of cash acquired — (25,923) — — 
Purchase of property and equipment (6,474) (9,422) (3,400) (8,872)

Net cash used in inves�ng ac�vi�es (6,474) (35,345) (3,400) (8,872)

Cash flows from financing ac�vi�es:   
Proceeds from revolving line of credit 20,000 — — 2,000 
Repayment of revolving line of credit (20,000) — — (2,000)
Repayment of long-term debt (11,756) (9,488) (2,063) (8,250)
Debt issuance costs paid (334) — — — 
Repurchase of common stock — (7,904) — — 
Cash received from issuance of common stock 1,503 1,488 115 3,176 
Other, net (813) (771) (199) (490)

Net cash used in financing ac�vi�es (11,400) (16,675) (2,147) (5,564)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 11,601 (7,707) 2,669 41,146 
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of period 46,167 53,874 51,205 10,059 
Cash and cash equivalents - end of period $ 57,768 $ 46,167 $ 53,874 $ 51,205 
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Year ended March 31,

Three months ended March
31,

(transi�on period)
Year ended

December 31,

 2021 2020 2019 2018

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informa�on:   
Cash paid for interest $ 3,018 $ 6,302 $ 1,783 $ 7,124 
Cash paid for income taxes, net of refunds 2,301 5,604 6 4,085 
Cash paid for interest on finance leases 137 179 50 — 

Supplemental disclosure of noncash inves�ng and financing
ac�vi�es:

Property and equipment acquired under finance leases — — — 2,098 
Property and equipment purchases included in accounts
payable and accrued expenses $ 359 $ 1,132 $ 3,080 $ 1,838 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Note 1—Nature of opera�ons

e.l.f. Beauty, Inc., a Delaware corpora�on, (“e.l.f. Beauty” and together with its subsidiaries, the “Company,” or “we”) is a mul�-brand beauty
company that offers inclusive, accessible, cruelty-free cosme�cs and skin-care products. Our mission is to make the best of beauty accessible to every eye, lip
and face.

We believe our ability to deliver 100% cruelty-free, premium-quality products at accessible prices with broad appeal differen�ates us in the
beauty industry. We believe the combina�on of our fundamental value equa�on, digitally-led strategy, as well as our world-class team’s ability to execute with
speed has posi�oned us well to navigate a rapidly changing landscape in beauty.

Our family of brands includes e.l.f. Cosme�cs, W3LL PEOPLE and Keys Soulcare. Our brands are available online and across leading beauty, mass-
market, and clean-beauty specialty retailers. We have strong rela�onships with our retail partners such as Walmart, Target, Ulta Beauty and other leading
retailers that have enabled us to expand distribu�on both domes�cally and interna�onally.

Note 2—Summary of significant accoun�ng policies

Basis of presenta�on and fiscal year end change

During December 2018, the board of directors approved a change in fiscal year end from December 31  to March 31 . Accordingly, this
document reflects the Company's fiscal year ended March 31, 2021, covering the period April 1, 2020 through March 31, 2021.

All references to the periods ended March 31, 2021, March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2018 relate to the years ended March 31, 2021, March
31, 2020 and December 31, 2018, respec�vely. All references to the period ended March 2019 relate to the three-month transi�on period ended March 31,
2019.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accoun�ng principles (“U.S. GAAP”) and
all intercompany balances and transac�ons have been eliminated in consolida�on.

Use of es�mates

The prepara�on of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management make es�mates and assump�ons that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabili�es at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the repor�ng
period. Actual results could differ from these es�mates.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include all cash balances and highly liquid investments purchased with maturi�es of three months or less.

Accounts receivable

Trade receivables consist of uncollateralized, non-interest bearing customer obliga�ons from transac�ons with retail customers, reduced by an
allowance for doub�ul accounts for es�mated losses resul�ng from the inability of customers to make payments. The allowance is based on the evalua�on
and aging of past due balances, specific exposures, historical trends and economic condi�ons.

The Company maintains allowances for doub�ul accounts for uncollec�ble accounts receivable. Management es�mates an�cipated losses from
doub�ul accounts based on days past due, collec�on history and the financial health of customers. The Company writes off accounts receivable against the
allowance when a balance is determined to be uncollec�ble. Recoveries of receivables previously wri�en off are recorded when received. The Company
recorded an allowance for doub�ul accounts of $0.2 million and $1.0 million as of March 31, 2021 and March 31, 2020, respec�vely. The Company recorded a
reserve for sales adjustments of $11.9 million and $7.6 million as of March 31, 2021 and March 31, 2020, respec�vely, which is also presented as a reduc�on
to accounts receivable. The Company grants credit terms in the normal course of business to its customers. Trade credit is extended based upon an evalua�on
of each customer’s ability to perform its payment obliga�ons.

st st
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Concentra�ons of credit risk

Financial instruments, which poten�ally subject the Company to concentra�ons of credit risk, consist principally of cash and cash equivalents
including money market funds. Although the Company deposits its cash with creditworthy financial ins�tu�ons, its deposits, at �mes, may exceed federally
insured limits. To date, the Company has not experienced any losses on its cash deposits. The Company performs credit evalua�ons of its customers, and the
risk with respect to trade receivables is further mi�gated by the short dura�on of customer payment terms and the pedigree of the customer base.

During the years ended March 31, 2021, March 31, 2020, December 31, 2018 and the three-month transi�on period ended March 31, 2019, two
customers individually accounted for greater than 10% of the Company’s net sales as disclosed below:

Year ended March 31,
Three months ended March 31,

(transi�on period)
Year ended

December 31,

2021 2020 2019 2018

Walmart 26 % 31 % 36 % 30 %
Target 22 % 22 % 17 % 21 %

Customers that individually accounted for greater than 10% of the Company’s accounts receivable at the end of the periods as of March 31,
2021 and March 31, 2020, respec�vely, are as presented:

March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020

Walmart 33 % 20 %
Target 17 % 22 %
Ulta Beauty 11 % *

* Customer comprised less than 10% accounts receivable in the periods.

Inventory

Inventory, consis�ng principally of finished goods, is stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is principally determined by the first-in, first-out
method. The Company also records a reserve for excess and obsolete inventory, which represents the excess of the cost of the inventory over its es�mated
market value. This reserve is based upon an assessment of historical trends, current market condi�ons and forecasted product demand. The Company
recorded an adjustment for excess and obsolete inventory, which is presented as a reduc�on to inventory of $3.6 million and $1.4 million as of March 31,
2021 and March 31, 2020, respec�vely.

Property and equipment and other assets

Property and equipment is stated at cost and is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the es�mated useful lives of the assets. Leasehold
improvements are amor�zed on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term or the useful lives of the assets. Repairs and maintenance
expenditures are expensed as incurred.

Useful lives by major asset class are as follows:

 Es�mated
useful lives

Machinery, equipment and so�ware 3 - 5 years
Leasehold improvements 5 years
Furniture and fixtures 2 - 5 years
Store fixtures 1 - 3 years

As of March 31, 2021 and March 31, 2020, included in other assets are retail product displays, net, of $9.7 million and $10.1 million,
respec�vely, that are generally amor�zed over a period of three years. Amor�za�on expense for retail product displays was $5.2 million, $6.0 million,
$3.1 million and $1.5 million for the years ended March 31, 2021, March 31, 2020, December 31, 2018 and the three-month transi�on period ended March
31, 2019, respec�vely.
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The Company evaluates events and changes in circumstances that could indicate carrying amounts of long-lived assets, including property and
equipment, may not be recoverable. When such events or changes in circumstances occur, the Company assesses the recoverability of long-lived assets by
determining whether or not the carrying value of such assets will be recovered through undiscounted future cash flows derived from their use and eventual
disposi�on. For purposes of this assessment, long-lived assets are grouped with other assets and liabili�es at the lowest level for which iden�fiable cash flows
are largely independent of the cash flows of other assets and liabili�es. The Company’s long-lived assets are grouped on an en�ty-wide basis. This is due, in
part, to the integrated nature of the Company’s various distribu�on channels and the extent of shared costs across those channels. If the sum of the
undiscounted future cash flows is less than the carrying amount of an asset, the Company records an impairment loss for the amount by which the carrying
amount of the assets exceeds its fair value. There were no impairment charges recorded on long-lived assets during the years ended March 31, 2021,
March 31, 2020, December 31, 2018 or the three-month transi�on period ended March 31, 2019, respec�vely.

Goodwill and intangible assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price for an acquisi�on over the fair value of the net assets acquired. In addi�on, the Company
has acquired finite-lived intangible assets and an indefinite-lived intangible asset.

Goodwill is not amor�zed but rather is reviewed annually for impairment, at the repor�ng unit level, or when there is evidence that events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the Company’s carrying amount may not be recovered. When tes�ng goodwill for impairment, the Company first
performs an assessment of qualita�ve factors. If qualita�ve factors indicate that it is more likely than not that the fair value of the relevant repor�ng unit is
less than its carrying amount, the Company tests goodwill for impairment at the repor�ng unit level using a two-step approach. In step one, the Company
determines if the fair value of the repor�ng unit exceeds the unit’s carrying value. If step one indicates that the fair value of the repor�ng unit is less than its
carrying value, the Company performs step two, determining the fair value of goodwill and, if the carrying value of goodwill exceeds its implied fair value, an
impairment charge is recorded. The Company has iden�fied a single repor�ng unit for purposes of impairment tes�ng due, in part, to the integrated nature of
the Company’s various distribu�on channels and the extent of shared costs across those channels.

Indefinite-lived intangible assets are not amor�zed but rather are tested for impairment annually, and impairment is recognized if the carrying
amount exceeds the fair value of the intangible asset. The Company evaluates its indefinite-lived intangible asset to determine whether current events and
circumstances con�nue to support an indefinite useful life. Amor�za�on of intangible assets with finite useful lives is computed on a straight-line basis over
periods of 3 years to 10 years. The determina�on of the es�mated period of benefit is dependent upon the use and underlying characteris�cs of the
intangible asset. The Company evaluates the recoverability of its intangible assets subject to amor�za�on when facts and circumstances indicate that the
carrying value of the asset may not be recoverable. If the carrying value of an intangible asset is not recoverable, impairment loss is measured as the amount
by which the carrying value exceeds its es�mated fair value.

Business combina�ons

The purchase price of a business acquisi�on is allocated to the assets acquired and liabili�es assumed based upon their es�mated fair values at
the business combina�on date. The excess of purchase price over the fair value of assets acquired and liabili�es assumed is recorded as goodwill.
Determining fair value of iden�fiable assets, par�cularly intangibles, and liabili�es acquired also requires the Company to make es�mates, which are based on
all available informa�on and in some cases assump�ons with respect to the �ming and amount of future revenues and expenses associated with an asset.
Unan�cipated events or circumstances may occur that could affect the accuracy of our fair value es�mates, and under different assump�ons, the resul�ng
valua�ons could be materially different.

Costs that are incurred to complete the business combina�on such as legal and other professional fees are not considered as a part of
considera�on transferred, and are charged to selling, general and administra�ve expense as they are incurred.
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Debt issuance costs

Debt issuance costs and lender fees were incurred for arranging the credit facili�es from various financial ins�tu�ons. For credit facili�es
consis�ng of both term and revolving debt, such costs are allocated to each sub-facility based upon the total borrowing capacity. For term debt, issuance
costs are presented within the related long-term debt liability on the consolidated balance sheet and lender fees are presented as a direct deduc�on from the
carrying amount. Both debt issuance costs and lender fees are amor�zed over the term of the related debt using the effec�ve interest rate method. For
revolving debt, issuance costs and lender fees are presented as a noncurrent asset and amor�zed over the term of the related debt on a straight-line basis.

Fair value of financial instruments

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, and accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate their fair
values due to the short-term nature of these items. The carrying amounts of bank debt approximate their fair values as the stated interest rates approximate
market rates currently available to the Company for loans with similar terms. See Note 9 Fair value of financial instruments to consolidated financial
statements in Part IV, Item 15 “Exhibits, financial statement schedules”.

Segment repor�ng

Opera�ng segments are components of an enterprise for which separate financial informa�on is available that is evaluated by the chief
opera�ng decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. U�lizing these criteria, the Company manages its business on
the basis of one opera�ng segment and one reportable segment. It is imprac�cable for the Company to provide revenue by product line.

During the years ended March 31, 2021, March 31, 2020, December 31, 2018 and the three-month transi�on period ended March 31, 2019, net
sales in the United States and outside of the United States were as follows (in thousands):

Year ended March 31,

Three months ended March
31,

(transi�on period)
Year ended

December 31,
2021 2020 2019 2018

United States $ 284,203 $ 255,284 $ 59,797 $ 241,159 
Interna�onal 33,907 27,567 6,344 26,276 
Total net sales $ 318,110 $ 282,851 $ 66,141 $ 267,435 

As of March 31, 2021 and March 31, 2020, the Company had property and equipment in the United States and outside of the United States as
follows (in thousands):

March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020

United States $ 13,524 $ 16,845 
Interna�onal 246 326 
Total property and equipment, net $ 13,770 $ 17,171 

Revenue recogni�on

Revenue is recognized when control of promised goods or services is transferred to a customer in an amount that reflects the considera�on that
the Company expects to receive in exchange for those goods or services.

For the Company's retail customer transac�ons, a contract exists when a wri�en purchase order is received, and control transfers at the �me of
shipment or the �me of delivery, depending upon the specific terms of the customer arrangement. For the Company's direct-to-consumer transac�ons, a
contract exists when an order is placed online, and control transfers at the �me of delivery of merchandise to the customer. Nearly all of the Company’s
transac�ons with its customers include a single performance obliga�on delivered at a point in �me.

The transac�on price can include both fixed and variable considera�on. In most cases, it is en�rely comprised of variable considera�on with the
variability driven by expected sales discounts, markdown support, and other incen�ves and allowances offered to customers. These incen�ves may be explicit
or implied by the Company's historical business prac�ces.
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Generally, these commitments represent cash considera�on paid to a customer and do not cons�tute a promised good or service.

The amount of variable considera�on is es�mated at the �me of sale based on either the expected amount or the most likely amount,
depending on the nature of the variability. The Company regularly reviews and revises, when deemed necessary, its es�mates of variable considera�on,
based on both customer-specific expecta�ons as well as historical rates of realiza�on. A provision for customer incen�ves and allowances is included on the
consolidated balance sheet, net against accounts receivable.

Disaggregated revenue

The Company distributes product both through na�onal and interna�onal retailers as well as direct-to-consumers through its e-commerce and
e.l.f. stores channels (prior to February 2019). The marke�ng and consumer engagement benefits that the direct channels provide are integral to the
Company’s brand and product development strategy and drive sales across channels. As such, the Company views its two primary distribu�on channels as
components of one integrated business, as opposed to discrete revenue streams.

The Company sells a variety of beauty products but does not consider them to be meaningfully different revenue streams given similari�es in
the nature of the products, the target consumer, and the innova�on and distribu�on processes. See Segment Repor�ng sec�on above for the table providing
disaggregated revenue from contracts with customers by geographical market, as the nature, amount, �ming and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows can
differ between domes�c and interna�onal customers.

Contract assets and liabili�es

The Company extends credit to retail customers based upon an evalua�on of their credit quality. The majority of retail customers obtain
payment terms between 30-60 days, and a contract asset is recognized for the related accounts receivable. Addi�onally, shipping terms can vary, giving rise to
contract liabili�es for contracts where payment has been received in advance of delivery. The contract liability balance can vary significantly depending on the
�ming of when an order is placed and when shipment or delivery occurs.

As of March 31, 2021, other than accounts receivable, the Company had no material contract assets, contract liabili�es or deferred contract
costs recorded on its consolidated balance sheet.

Prac�cal expedients

The Company elected to record revenue net of taxes collected from customers and exclude the amounts from the transac�on price. The
Company includes in revenue any taxes assessed on the Company's total gross receipts for which it has the primary responsibility to pay the tax.

The Company elected not to disclose revenues related to remaining performance obliga�ons for par�ally completed or unfulfilled contracts that
are expected to be fulfilled within one year as such amounts were insignificant.
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A reconcilia�on of the beginning and ending amounts of the reserve for sales adjustments for the years ended March 31, 2021, March 31, 2020,
December 31, 2018 and the three-month transi�on period ended March 31, 2019 is as follows (in thousands):

Balance as of December 31, 2017 $ 8,458 
Charges 26,971 
Deduc�ons (27,655)

Balance as of December 31, 2018 7,774 
Charges 6,787 
Deduc�ons (8,016)

Balance as of March 31, 2019 6,545 
Charges 29,576 
Deduc�ons (28,508)

Balance as of March 31, 2020 7,613 
Charges 41,027 
Deduc�ons (36,727)

Balance as of March 31, 2021 $ 11,913 

In the years ended March 31, 2021, March 31, 2020, December 31, 2018 and the three-month transi�on period ended March 31, 2019, the
Company recorded $0.8 million, $0.7 million, $0.5 million and $0.2 million, respec�vely, of reimbursed shipping expenses from customers within revenues.
The shipping and handling costs associated with product distribu�on were $26.4 million, $19.8 million, $20.9 million and $4.9 million, in the years ended
March 31, 2021, March 31, 2020, December 31, 2018 and the three-month transi�on period ended March 31, 2019, respec�vely, and are included in selling,
general and administra�ve expenses in the consolidated statements of opera�ons.

Income taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabili�es are recognized for the future tax
consequences a�ributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of exis�ng assets and liabili�es and their respec�ve tax bases and
opera�ng loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabili�es are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the
years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or se�led. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabili�es of a change in tax rates is
recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. Valua�on allowances are recorded to reduce deferred tax assets when it is more likely
than not that a tax benefit will not be realized.

Future income tax benefits are recognized to the extent that realiza�on of such benefits is more likely than not. The Company recognizes
interest and penal�es, if any, related to unrecognized tax benefits in its income tax provision.

Leases

The Company has entered into opera�ng lease agreements for office space, warehouse and a retail store loca�on, equipment and so�ware.
Lease assets and liabili�es are recognized at the present value of the minimum rental payments (excluding executory costs) and expected payment under any
residual value guarantee at the lease commencement date. The Company uses its incremental borrowing rate to determine the present value of lease
payments.

Non-lease components primarily include payments for maintenance and u�li�es. The Company accounts for the non-lease components in a
contract (e.g., common area maintenance) as part of the lease component by elec�ng prac�cal expedient for all leases of commercial office and warehouse
space, as the non-lease components are not a significant por�on of the total considera�on in those agreements. The Company's lease terms include periods
under op�ons to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise that op�on.

Opera�ng lease assets and liabili�es are included on the Company's consolidated balance sheet beginning January 1, 2019. The current por�on
of the Company's opera�ng lease liabili�es is included in accrued expenses and other current liabili�es, and the long-term por�on is included in long-term
opera�ng lease liabili�es. Finance lease assets are included in other assets. Finance lease liabili�es are included in long-term debt and finance lease
obliga�ons. Opera�ng lease expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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Foreign currency

The func�onal currency of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries is the U.S. dollar. Transac�ons denominated in currencies other than the
func�onal currency are recorded at exchange rates in effect on the date of the transac�on. At the end of each repor�ng period, monetary assets and liabili�es
are remeasured to the func�onal currency using exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date. Non-monetary assets and liabili�es are remeasured at
historical exchange rates. Transac�on gains or losses that arise from exchange rate fluctua�ons on transac�ons denominated in a currency other than the
func�onal currency are included in other income (expense), net in the consolidated statements of opera�ons.

Stock-based compensa�on

Stock-based compensa�on cost is measured at the grant date, based on the fair value of the award, and is recognized on a straight-line basis
over the requisite service period, which is generally the award’s ves�ng period. The Company es�mates the fair value of employee stock-based payment
awards subject to only a service condi�on on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes valua�on model. The Black-Scholes model requires the use of highly
subjec�ve and complex assump�ons, including the op�on’s expected term and the price vola�lity of the underlying stock.

The Company es�mates the fair value of employee stock-based payment awards subject to market condi�ons using a Monte Carlo simula�on
model. Compensa�on expense for employee stock-based awards whose ves�ng is subject to the fulfillment of both a market condi�on and the occurrence of
a performance condi�on is recognized on a graded-ves�ng basis at the �me the achievement of the performance condi�on becomes probable.

Forfeitures are recognized and accounted for as they occur.

Adver�sing costs

Adver�sing costs, including promo�ons and print, are expensed as incurred or distributed. Adver�sing costs are included in selling, general, and
administra�ve expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of opera�ons and amounted to approximately $30.3 million, $26.0 million, $10.2
million and $2.6 million in the years ended March 31, 2021, March 31, 2020, December 31, 2018 and the three-month transi�on period ended March 31,
2019, respec�vely.

Net income (loss) per share

Basic net income (loss) per share is computed using net income (loss) available to common stockholders divided by the weighted-average
number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net income (loss) per share reflects the dilu�ve effects of stock op�ons and restricted stock
outstanding during the period, to the extent such securi�es would not be an�-dilu�ve and is determined using the treasury stock method.

72



e.l.f. Beauty, Inc. and subsidiaries
Notes to consolidated financial statements

Recent accoun�ng pronouncements

The following table provides a brief descrip�on of recent accoun�ng pronouncements that could have a material effect on the Company’s
financial statements:

Recently adopted accoun�ng standards
Standard Descrip�on Date of expected

adop�on/adop�on
Effect on the financial statements or other
significant ma�ers

ASU 2018-15, Intangibles-Goodwill and
Other- Internal-Use So�ware (Subtopic
350-40)

The standard will require customers in a
cloud compu�ng arrangement that is a
service contract to follow the internal-
use so�ware guidance in ASC 350-40 to
determine which implementa�on costs
to capitalize as assets or expense as
incurred. Certain implementa�on costs
incurred during the applica�on
development stage would be deferred
and capitalized (e.g., costs of
integra�on with on-premises so�ware,
coding, configura�on, customiza�on).
Other costs incurred during the
preliminary project and post-
implementa�on stages would be
expensed (e.g., planning the project,
training, maintenance a�er
implementa�on, data conversion). The
amendments in the ASU can be applied
either retrospec�vely or prospec�vely
to all implementa�on costs incurred
a�er the date of adop�on.

April 1, 2020 The Company adopted ASU 2018-15
prospec�vely, and the adop�on of the
standard did not have a material impact
on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements.

ASU 2019-12—Income Taxes (TOPIC
740): Simplifying the Accoun�ng for
Income Taxes

The guidance eliminates certain
excep�ons related to intraperiod tax
alloca�ons, the methodology for
calcula�ng income taxes in an interim
period, and the recogni�on of deferred
tax liabili�es for outside basis
differences related to changes in
ownership of equity method
investments and foreign subsidiaries.
The guidance also simplifies aspects of
accoun�ng for franchise taxes and
enacted changes in tax laws, and
clarifies the accoun�ng for transac�ons
that result in a step-up in the tax basis
of goodwill. The new standard is
effec�ve for interim and annual periods
beginning a�er December 15, 2020,
and early adop�on is permi�ed.

January 1, 2021 The adop�on of the standard had no
impact on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.
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Note 3—Transi�on period

The Company is presen�ng its consolidated financial statements for the three-month transi�on period ended March 31, 2019. The following
tables provide certain unaudited compara�ve financial informa�on for the same period of the prior year.

Consolidated Statements of Income
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

 Three months ended March 31,
(unaudited)

 2019 2018

Net sales $ 66,141 $ 65,920 
Cost of sales 25,650 25,712 

Gross profit 40,491 40,208 
Selling, general and administra�ve expenses 37,324 36,234 
Restructuring expenses 22,176 — 

Opera�ng income (loss) (19,009) 3,974 
Other expense, net (315) (888)
Interest expense, net (1,849) (1,963)

Income (loss) before provision for income taxes (21,173) 1,123 
Income tax benefit (provision) 3,259 (433)
Net income (loss) $ (17,914) $ 690 
Comprehensive income (loss) $ (17,914) $ 690 
Net income (loss) per share:

Basic $ (0.37) $ 0.01 
Diluted $ (0.37) $ 0.01 

Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic 48,022,926 46,435,560 
Diluted 48,022,926 49,302,771 
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

 Three months ended March 31,
 2019 2018

Cash flows from opera�ng ac�vi�es:  (unaudited)

Net income (loss) $ (17,914) $ 690 
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by
   opera�ng ac�vi�es:  
Deprecia�on and amor�za�on 7,544 4,288 
Restructuring loss 22,176 — 
Stock-based compensa�on expense 3,683 3,640 
Amor�za�on of debt issuance costs and discount on debt 190 199 
Deferred income taxes (3,433) 735 
Other, net 242 142 
Changes in opera�ng assets and liabili�es:   

Accounts receivable 4,215 12,771 
Inventories 2,561 951 
Prepaid expenses and other assets (1,732) (1,498)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (6,021) (16,891)
Other liabili�es (3,295) 3 

Net cash provided by opera�ng ac�vi�es 8,216 5,030 

Cash flows from inves�ng ac�vi�es:   
Purchase of property and equipment (3,400) (2,667)

Net cash used in inves�ng ac�vi�es (3,400) (2,667)

Cash flows from financing ac�vi�es:   
Proceeds from revolving line of credit — 2,000 
Repayment of revolving line of credit — (2,000)
Repayment of long-term debt (2,063) (2,063)
Cash received from issuance of common stock 115 212 
Other, net (199) (97)

Net cash used in financing ac�vi�es (2,147) (1,948)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 2,669 415 
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of period 51,205 10,059 
Cash and cash equivalents - end of period $ 53,874 $ 10,474 

Note 4 —Acquisi�ons

On February 24, 2020, the Company, through its wholly owned subsidiary, e.l.f. Cosme�cs, Inc., completed its acquisi�on of W3LL People, Inc., a
Santa Fe, New Mexico-based privately held, clean-beauty company with a mission to create premium quality clean products that help people be well, look
well and do well. The purchase price of $25.9 million was in all cash and the total considera�on in connec�on with the acquisi�on is subject to adjustment
based on (i) purchase price adjustment provisions and (ii) indemnifica�on obliga�ons of W3LL People, Inc.'s stockholders a�er the closing of the acquisi�on.
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The acquisi�on has been accounted for as a business combina�on under the acquisi�on method and, accordingly, the total purchase price is
allocated to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and the liabili�es assumed based on their respec�ve fair values on the acquisi�on date. The purchase
price alloca�on and calcula�on of residual goodwill was finalized during the quarter ended September 30, 2020. W3LL People, Inc.'s results of opera�ons
have been included in the Company's consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisi�on.

The following table presents the purchase price alloca�on recorded in the Company's consolidated balance sheet on acquisi�on date and upon
finaliza�on during the quarter ended September 30, 2020. A $0.3 million adjustment was recorded in the quarter ended September 30, 2020 and included in
the table below (in thousands):

Net tangible assets $ 1,978 
Goodwill 14,357 
Intangible assets 12,340 
Net deferred tax liability (2,752)

Total purchase price considera�on $ 25,923 

The goodwill represents the excess value over both tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabili�es assumed. The goodwill recognized in this
transac�on is primarily a�ributable to expected opera�onal synergies. None of the goodwill is expected to be deduc�ble for tax purposes.

Intangible Assets

Fair Value Es�mated Useful Life
(in thousands) (in years)

Customer rela�onships — retailers $ 8,800 10
Customer rela�onships — e-commerce 40 3
Trademarks 3,500 10

Total iden�fied intangible assets $ 12,340 

Note 5—Investment in equity securi�es

On April 14, 2017, the Company invested $2.9 million in a social media analy�cs company, which is included in investments on its consolidated
balance sheets. The Company has elected the measurement alterna�ve for equity investments that do not have readily determinable fair values. The
Company did not record an impairment charge on its investment during the years ended March 31, 2021, March 31, 2020, December 31, 2018 or the three-
month transi�on period ended March 31, 2019, respec�vely, as any iden�fied events or changes in circumstances did not result in an indicator for
impairment. Further, there were no observable price changes in orderly transac�ons for the iden�cal or a similar investment of the same issuer during
the years ended March 31, 2021, March 31, 2020, December 31, 2018 or the three-month transi�on period ended March 31, 2019, respec�vely.

(1)

(1)
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Note 6—Goodwill and other intangible assets

Informa�on regarding the Company’s goodwill and intangible assets as of March 31, 2021 is as follows (in thousands):

 Es�mated useful life Gross carrying amount Accumulated amor�za�on Net carrying amount

Customer rela�onships – retailers 10 years $ 77,600 $ (50,260) $ 27,340 
Customer rela�onships – e-commerce 3 years 3,940 (3,915) 25 
Trademarks 10 years 3,500 (379) 3,121 

Total finite-lived intangibles 85,040 (54,554) 30,486 
Trademarks Indefinite 63,800 — 63,800 
Goodwill 171,620 — 171,620 

Total goodwill and other intangibles $ 320,460 $ (54,554) $ 265,906 

Informa�on regarding the Company’s goodwill and intangible assets as of March 31, 2020 is as follows (in thousands):

 Es�mated useful life Gross carrying amount Accumulated amor�za�on Net carrying amount

Customer rela�onships – retailers 10 years $ 77,600 $ (42,500) $ 35,100 
Customer rela�onships – e-commerce 3 years 3,940 (3,901) 39 
Trademarks 10 years 3,500 (29) 3,471 

Total finite-lived intangibles  85,040 (46,430) 38,610 
Trademarks Indefinite 63,800 — 63,800 
Goodwill  171,321 — 171,321 

Total goodwill and other intangibles  $ 320,161 $ (46,430) $ 273,731 

The Company has not recognized any impairment charges on its goodwill or intangible assets, as the an�cipated future cash flows generated by
each of these assets remain substan�ally in excess of their carrying values. Amor�za�on expense on the finite-lived intangible assets was $8.1 million, $7.0
million, $7.1 million and $1.7 million for the years ended March 31, 2021, March 31, 2020, December 31, 2018 and the three-month transi�on period ended
March 31, 2019, respec�vely.

The es�mated future amor�za�on expense related to the finite-lived intangible assets, assuming no impairment as of March 31, 2021, is as
follows (in thousands):

The year ended March 31, 2021

2022 $ 8,123 
2023 8,122 
2024 6,963 
2025 1,230 
2026 1,230 
Therea�er 4,818 
Total $ 30,486 
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Note 7—Property and equipment

Property and equipment as of March 31, 2021 and March 31, 2020 consists of the following (in thousands):

 March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020

Machinery, equipment and so�ware $ 14,899 $ 15,327 
Leasehold improvements 4,436 3,459 
Furniture and fixtures 1,104 708 
Store fixtures 10,785 10,302 

Property and equipment, gross 31,224 29,796 
Less: Accumulated deprecia�on and amor�za�on (17,454) (12,625)

Property and equipment, net $ 13,770 $ 17,171 

Deprecia�on and amor�za�on expense on property and equipment was $6.7 million, $6.3 million, $7.6 million and $1.7 million during the years
ended March 31, 2021, March 31, 2020, December 31, 2018 and the three-month transi�on period ended March 31, 2019, respec�vely.

Note 8—Accrued expenses and other current liabili�es

Accrued expenses and other current liabili�es as of March 31, 2021 and March 31, 2020 consists of the following (in thousands):

 March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020

Accrued expenses $ 21,300 $ 12,518 
Current por�on of opera�ng lease liabili�es 4,292 3,083 
Accrued compensa�on 10,805 9,542 
Other current liabili�es 4,954 1,022 

Accrued expenses and other current liabili�es $ 41,351 $ 26,165 

Note 9—Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments are categorized based upon the level of judgment associated with the inputs used to measure their fair
values. Fair value is measured using inputs from the three levels of the fair value hierarchy, which are described as follows:

Level 1—Quoted prices in ac�ve markets for iden�cal assets or liabili�es

Level 2—Quoted prices for similar assets and liabili�es in ac�ve markets or inputs that are observable

Level 3—Inputs that are unobservable (for example, cash flow modeling inputs based on management’s assump�ons)
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The assets’ or liabili�es’ fair value measurement level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that is significant to
the fair value measurement. The following table sets forth the fair value of the Company’s financial liabili�es by level within the fair value hierarchy as of
March 31, 2021 (in thousands):

  Fair value measurements using

 Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial liabili�es:     
Long-term debt, including current por�on $ 126,789 $ — $ 126,789 $ — 

Total financial liabili�es $ 126,789 $ — $ 126,789 $ — 

__________________________
 Of this amount, $16,281 is classified as current. The gross carrying amounts of the Company’s bank debt, before reduc�on of the debt issuance costs,

approximate their fair values as the stated rates approximate market rates for loans with similar terms.

The following table sets forth the fair value of the Company’s financial liabili�es by level within the fair value hierarchy as of March 31, 2020 (in
thousands):

  Fair value measurements using

 Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial liabili�es:     
Long-term debt, including current por�on $ 138,865 $ — $ 138,865 $ — 

Total financial liabili�es $ 138,865 $ — $ 138,865 $ — 

__________________________
 Of this amount, $12,568 is classified as current. The gross carrying amounts of the Company’s bank debt, before reduc�on of the debt issuance costs,

approximate their fair values as the stated rates approximate market rates for loans with similar terms.

The Company did not transfer any assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis to or from Level 1 or Level 2 for any of the periods
presented.

Note 10—Debt

The following summarizes the recent significant transac�ons impac�ng the Company’s indebtedness:

• On January 31, 2014, the Company entered into a senior secured credit facility (the “2014 Senior Secured Credit Facility”), which
consisted of a $20.0 million revolving line of credit and a $105.0 million term loan. Also, on January 31, 2014, the Company entered into
a $40.0 million second lien term loan (the “Second Lien Term Loan”).

• On June 7, 2016, the Company incurred an incremental $64.0 million in term loan borrowings under the 2014 Senior Secured Credit
Facility to fund, in part, a $72.0 million special dividend to stockholders, and increased the total availability under the revolving credit
facility to $25.0 million.

• On September 27, 2016, the Company used a por�on of the proceeds from the ini�al public offering to repay the en�re outstanding
balance of $40.0 million from the Second Lien Term Loan.

• On December 23, 2016, the Company refinanced its outstanding obliga�ons under the 2014 Senior Secured Credit Facility, entering into
a new 5-year, $200.0 million senior secured credit agreement (the “2016 Senior Secured Credit Facility”), as further described below.

• On August 25, 2017, the Company amended the 2016 Senior Secured Credit Facility to increase the total availability under the revolving
line of credit to $50.0 million and to lower the interest rates and extend the maturity date to August 25, 2022.

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)
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• On April 8, 2020, the Company amended the 2016 Senior Secured Credit Facility to modify the Company’s quarterly maintenance
covenants, and to add interest rates with respect to borrowings associated with the added increased maximum permi�ed total net
leverage ra�os.

• On April 30, 2021, the Company refinanced its outstanding obliga�ons under the 2016 Senior Secured Credit Facility and entered into a
new 5-year $200.0 million senior secured credit agreement. See Note 21 Subsequent Events to consolidated financial statements in Part
IV, Item 15 “Exhibits, financial statement schedules”.

The Company’s outstanding debt as of March 31, 2021 and March 31, 2020 consists of the following (in thousands):

 March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020

Debt:  
Term loan $ 124,589 $ 135,853 
Finance lease obliga�ons 2,200 3,012 

Total debt 126,789 138,865 
Less: debt issuance costs (253) (209)

Total debt, net of issuance costs 126,536 138,656 
Less: current por�on (16,281) (12,568)

Long-term por�on of debt $ 110,255 $ 126,088 

Senior secured credit agreement, as amended

On December 23, 2016, the Company entered into the Senior Secured Credit Agreement (as amended, the "2016 Credit Agreement") with a
syndicate consis�ng of several large financial ins�tu�ons with respect to the 2016 Senior Secured Credit Facility. The Credit Agreement was first amended on
August 25, 2017, increasing the aggregate commitments to $215.0 million. The 2016 Credit Agreement, as amended, consisted of a $50.0 million revolving
line of credit and a $165.0 million term loan. The 2016 Credit Agreement was amended again on December 7, 2018 to reflect the change in the Company's
fiscal year-end from December 31 to March 31, and amended again on April 8, 2020 to (i) increase the maximum permi�ed total net leverage ra�o for certain
fiscal quarters, (ii) reduce the minimum fixed charge coverage ra�o for certain fiscal quarters, (iii) add addi�onal interest rates to correspond to the increased
maximum permi�ed total net leverage ra�os, (iv) increase the amount of cash ne�ed in the calcula�on of the consolidated total net leverage ra�o, and (v)
amend the language around the level of add backs to the adjusted consolidated EBITDA defini�on.

The 2016 Credit Agreement contained a number of covenants that, among other things, restricted our ability to (subject to certain excep�ons)
pay dividends and distribu�ons or repurchase our capital stock, incur addi�onal indebtedness, create liens on assets, engage in mergers or consolida�ons and
sell or otherwise dispose of assets. The 2016 Credit Agreement also included repor�ng, financial and maintenance covenants that require us to, among other
things, comply with certain consolidated total net leverage ra�os and consolidated fixed charge coverage ra�os. As of March 31, 2021 and March 31, 2020,
the Company was in compliance with all financial covenants under the 2016 Credit Agreement.
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Aggregate future minimum principal payments are as follows (in thousands):

The year ended March 31, 2021 Term Loan

2022 $ 15,469 
2023 109,725 

Total $ 125,194 

Interest expense  

The components of interest expense, net are as follows (in thousands):

Year ended
March 31,

Three months ended March
31,

(transi�on period)
Year ended

December 31,

 2021 2020 2019 2018

Interest on term loan debt $ 2,912 $ 6,096 $ 1,774 $ 6,774 
Amor�za�on of debt issuance costs 847 747 190 792 
Interest on revolving line of credit 199 149 40 132 
Interest on finance leases 137 179 50 155 
Interest income (5) (863) (205) (37)

Interest expense, net $ 4,090 $ 6,308 $ 1,849 $ 7,816 

Note 11—Con�ngencies

Legal Con�ngencies

From �me to �me, the Company is involved in legal proceedings, claims, and li�ga�on arising in the ordinary course of business. The Company is
not currently a party to any ma�ers that management expects will have a material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial posi�on, results of
opera�ons or cash flows.

Note 12—Income taxes

The components of income (loss) before provision for income taxes are as follows (in thousands):

Year ended
March 31,

Three months ended March
31,

(transi�on period)
Year ended

December 31,

 2021 2020 2019 2018

Domes�c $ 3,715 $ 24,479 $ (21,673) $ 17,405 
Foreign (25) (410) 500 551 

Total $ 3,690 $ 24,069 $ (21,173) $ 17,956 
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The components of the benefit (provision) for income taxes are as follows (in thousands):

Year ended
March 31,

Three months ended March
31,

(transi�on period)
Year ended

December 31,

 2021 2020 2019 2018

Current:   
U.S. federal $ (4,772) $ (2,681) $ (13) $ (2,414)
State (1,186) (1,066) (139) (948)
Foreign (84) 5 (22) (8)
Total current (6,042) (3,742) (174) (3,370)

Deferred:  
U.S. federal 7,159 (2,532) 3,096 1,005 
State 1,293 99 368 101 
Foreign 132 (10) (31) (167)
Total deferred 8,584 (2,443) 3,433 939 

Total (provision) benefit for income taxes $ 2,542 $ (6,185) $ 3,259 $ (2,431)

The following table presents a reconcilia�on of the federal statutory rate to the Company’s effec�ve tax rate:

Year ended
March 31,

Three months ended March 31,
(transi�on period)

Year ended
December 31,

2021 2020 2019 2018

Federal statutory rate 21.0 % 21.0 % 21.0 % 21.0 %
State tax, net of federal benefit (10.6)% 3.7 % 1.2 % 2.6 %
State tax deferred rate change, net of federal benefit (1.6)% 0.1 % — % 0.9 %
Nondeduc�ble business expenses 2.1 % 0.8 % (0.1)% 1.4 %
Nondeduc�ble employee compensa�on 9.1 % 0.4 % — % — %
Provision-to-return adjustment 1.5 % — % — % (3.9)%
Uncertain tax posi�ons 1.0 % (0.2)% (0.1)% (1.3)%
Stock based compensa�on (90.7)% (0.8)% (6.1)% (8.6)%
Others (0.7)% 0.7 % (0.5)% 1.4 %

Effec�ve tax rate (68.9)% 25.7 % 15.4 % 13.5 %
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The components of net deferred taxes arising from temporary differences are as follows (in thousands):

March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020

Deferred tax assets:   
Compensa�on $ 624 $ 760 
Inventories and receivables 5,710 3,472 
Accrued expenses 2,067 1,996 
Stock compensa�on 7,247 3,706 
Net opera�ng losses 272 92 
Right of use liability 5,731 3,443 
Other 560 558 

Deferred tax assets 22,211 14,027 
Deferred tax liabili�es:

Goodwill 4,090 3,468 
Fixed assets 2,506 3,294 
Intangible assets 23,162 25,287 
Right of use asset 5,294 3,292 
Other 463 563 

Deferred tax liabili�es 35,515 35,904 
Net deferred tax liabili�es $ 13,304 $ 21,877 

The deferred tax assets and liabili�es are reported in the accompanying balance sheets as follows (in thousands):

March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020

Deferred tax assets $ 175 $ 15 
Deferred tax liabili�es 13,479 21,892 

Net deferred tax liabili�es $ 13,304 $ 21,877 

As of March 31, 2021, the Company had gross federal, state and foreign net opera�ng loss carryforwards of $0.5 million, $0.1 million and $0.6
million, respec�vely. The federal and state net opera�ng loss carryforwards can either be carried forward 20 years or indefinitely. The federal and state net
opera�ng loss carryforwards will begin to expire in 2038. The foreign net opera�ng loss carryforwards have a carryforward period of 5 years and will begin to
expire in 2026.

A reconcilia�on of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows (in thousands):

Year ended
March 31,

Three months ended March
31,

(transi�on period)
Year ended

December 31,

 2021 2020 2019 2018

Balance at beginning of year $ 477 $ 581 $ 571 $ 764 
Increases for prior year tax posi�ons 6 32 — — 
Increases for current year tax posi�ons 65 90 10 173 
Decreases for prior year tax posi�ons — — — (8)
Decreases due to se�lements (27) (29) — — 
Decreases due to statutes lapsing (63) (197) — (358)

Balance at end of year $ 458 $ 477 $ 581 $ 571 

If all of the Company’s unrecognized tax benefits as of March 31, 2021, March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2018, and the three-month
transi�on period ended March 31, 2019 were recognized, $0.5 million, $0.5 million, $0.4 million
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and $0.4 million, respec�vely, of unrecognized tax benefits, would impact the effec�ve tax rate. The Company believes it is reasonably possible that $0.1
million of unrecognized tax benefits may reverse in the next twelve months.

The Company recognizes interest and penal�es accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits in the provision for income taxes. The Company
had $0.1 million and $0.1 million of accrued gross interest and penal�es as of March 31, 2021 and March 31, 2020, respec�vely. The Company recognized net
interest and penal�es expense of $29 thousand, $23 thousand, $(40) thousand and $3 thousand for the years ended March 31, 2021, March 31, 2020 and
December 31, 2018, and the three-month transi�on period ended March 31, 2019, respec�vely.

The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdic�on and various state and foreign jurisdic�ons. As of March 31, 2021, with few
excep�ons, the Company or its subsidiaries are no longer subject to examina�on prior to tax year ended December 31, 2017.

Note 13—Preferred stock

The Company has authorized 30,000,000 shares of preferred stock for issuance with a par value of $0.01 per share. There were no shares of
preferred stock outstanding as of March 31, 2021 or March 31, 2020.

Note 14—Stock-based compensa�on

Stock plans

The Company grants stock-based awards under its 2016 Equity Incen�ve Award Plan (as amended) (the “2016 Plan”), which replaced its 2014
Equity Incen�ve Plan (the “2014 Plan”) and became effec�ve immediately prior to the effec�veness of the Company’s registra�on statement on Form S-1 in
September 2016. No grants have made under the 2014 Plan since the Company’s ini�al public offering and no further awards will be granted thereunder. Any
awards outstanding under the 2014 Plan that are forfeited or lapse unexercised will be added to the shares reserved and available for grant under the 2016
Plan. The 2016 Plan permits the grant of incen�ve stock op�ons, non-statutory stock op�ons, restricted stock and other stock- or cash-based awards to
employees, officers, directors, advisors and consultants. The 2016 Plan allows for op�on grants of the Company’s common stock based on service,
performance and market condi�ons.

As of March 31, 2021, a total of 14,483,591 shares have been authorized for issuance under the 2016 Plan, and 7,667,891 remain available for
grant. As of March 31, 2021, there were 1,061,972 op�ons and awards outstanding under the 2014 Plan that, if forfeited, would increase the number of
shares authorized for grant under the 2016 Plan.
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Service-based ves�ng stock op�ons

The following table summarizes the ac�vity for op�ons that vest solely based upon the sa�sfac�on of a service condi�on as follows:

 
Op�ons

outstanding
Weighted-average

exercise price

Weighted-average
remaining

contractual life
(in years)

Aggregate intrinsic
values

(in thousands) 

Balance as of December 31, 2018 2,746,670 $ 12.91 
Granted 115,100 7.95 
Canceled or forfeited (286,191) 16.98 

Balance as of March 31, 2019 2,575,579 12.24 6.9 $ 6,958 
Granted 202,560 14.18 
Exercised (334,572) 4.08 
Canceled or forfeited (444,014) 15.07 

Balance as of March 31, 2020 1,999,553 13.17 6.8 $ 3,773 
Exercised (337,376) 4.36   
Canceled or forfeited (21,196) 23.24   

Balance as of March 31, 2021 1,640,981 $ 14.86 6.1 $ 19,650 

Exercisable, March 31, 2021 1,312,728 $ 14.99 5.6 $ 15,549 

(1) The aggregate intrinsic value is calculated as the difference between the exercise price of the underlying awards and the Company's closing stock
price of $26.83, as reported on the New York Stock Exchange on March 31, 2021.

Addi�onal informa�on rela�ng to service-based op�ons is as follows (in thousands, except per share data):

Year ended
March 31,

Three months ended March
31,

(transi�on period)
Year ended

December 31,

 2021 2020 2019 2018

Stock-based compensa�on expense $ 1,671 $ 2,308 $ 590 $ 3,219 
Intrinsic value of op�ons exercised 5,620 3,580 — 2,890 
Weighted-average grant date fair value
   of op�ons granted (per share) $ — $ 5.55 $ 3.12 $ 6.81 

As of March 31, 2021, there was $1.5 million of total unrecognized compensa�on cost related to service-based stock op�ons, which is expected
to be recognized over the remaining weighted-average ves�ng period of 2.2 years.

The fair value of service-based stock op�ons granted were calculated using the following weighted-average assump�ons:

Year ended
March 31,

Three months ended March 31,
(transi�on period)

Year ended
December 31,

2020 2019 2018

Expected term (in years) 6.5 6.3 6.3
Expected vola�lity 35.57 % 35.13 % 32.02 %
Risk-free interest rate 2.07 % 2.55 % 2.68 %
Expected dividend yield — % — % — %

(1)
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No service-based stock op�ons were granted during the year ended March 31, 2021.

The determina�on of the fair value of stock op�ons on the date of grant using a Black-Scholes op�on-pricing model is affected by the fair value
of the underlying common stock, as well as assump�ons regarding a number of variables that are complex, subjec�ve and generally require significant
judgment. The assump�ons used in the Black-Scholes op�on-pricing model to calculate the fair value of stock op�ons were:

Fair value of common stock

The fair value of shares of common stock underlying stock op�ons is based on the closing stock price as quoted on the New York Stock Exchange
on the date of grant.

Expected term

The expected term of the op�ons represents the period of �me that the op�ons are expected to be outstanding. Op�ons granted have a
maximum contractual life of 10 years. Prior to the ini�al public offering, the Company es�mated the expected term of the op�on based on the es�mated
�ming of poten�al liquidity events. For grants upon or a�er the ini�al public offering, the Company es�mated the expected term based upon the simplified
method described in Staff Accoun�ng Bulle�n No. 107, as the Company does not have sufficient historical exercise data to provide a reasonable basis upon
which to es�mate expected term due to the limited period of �me its equity shares have been publicly traded.

Expected vola�lity

As the Company does not have sufficient trading history for its common stock, the expected stock price vola�lity for the common stock was
es�mated by taking the average historic price vola�lity for industry peers based on daily price observa�ons over a period equivalent to the expected term of
the stock op�on grants. Industry peers consist of several public companies within the same industry, which are of similar size, complexity and stage of
development. The Company intends to con�nue to consistently apply this process using the same or similar public companies un�l a sufficient amount of
historical informa�on regarding the vola�lity of its own share price becomes available, or unless circumstances change such that the iden�fied companies are
no longer similar to the Company, in which case, more suitable companies whose share prices are publicly available would be used in the calcula�on.

Risk-free interest rate

The risk-free interest rate was based on the U.S. Treasury rate, with maturi�es similar to the expected term of the op�ons.

Expected dividend yield

The Company does not an�cipate paying any dividends in the foreseeable future. As such, the Company uses an expected dividend yield of zero.
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Performance-based and market-based ves�ng stock op�ons

The following table summarizes the ac�vity for op�ons that vest based upon the sa�sfac�on of performance or market condi�ons as follows:

Op�ons
outstanding

Weighted-average
exercise price 

Weighted-average
remaining

contractual life
(in years)

Aggregate intrinsic
values

(in thousands) 

Balance as of December 31, 2018 1,482,782 $ 8.94 
Exercised (62,450) 1.84 
Canceled or forfeited (96,900) 26.84 

Balance as of March 31, 2019 1,323,432 7.96 6.0 $ 8,646 
Exercised (53,100) 2.40 
Canceled or forfeited (17,400) 26.84 

Balance as of March 31, 2020 1,252,932 7.97 5.0 $ 7,487 
Exercised (144,340) 1.89   

Balance as of March 31, 2021 1,108,592 $ 8.72 4.0 $ 20,077 

Exercisable, March 31, 2021 808,592 $ 2.00 3.3 $ 20,077 

(1) The aggregate intrinsic value is calculated as the difference between the exercise price of the underlying awards and the Company's closing stock
price of $26.83, as reported on the New York Stock Exchange on March 31, 2021.

As of March 31, 2021, there was no further unrecognized compensa�on cost related to performance-based and market-based ves�ng stock
op�ons.

Addi�onal informa�on rela�ng to op�ons that vest based upon the sa�sfac�on of performance or market condi�ons is as follows (in thousands,
except per share data):

Year ended
March 31,

Three months ended March
31,

(transi�on period)
Year ended

December 31,
2021 2020 2019 2018

Stock-based compensa�on expense $ — $ — $ — $ 1,168 
Intrinsic value of op�ons exercised 3,117 609 419 8,669 
Weighted-average grant date fair value
   of op�ons granted (per share) $ — $ — $ — $ — 

In February 2017, the Company granted op�ons that vest based upon the achievement of specified stock prices. The fair values and derived
service periods were determined using a Monte Carlo simula�on model. If the awards vest prior to the end of the derived service period, the remaining
unamor�zed compensa�on cost will be recognized in the period of ves�ng.

(1)
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Restricted stock

The following table summarizes the ac�vi�es for restricted stock awards (“RSAs”) and restricted stock units (“RSUs”) as follows:

 
Shares of restricted stock

outstanding
Weighted-average grant date

fair value

Balance as of December 31, 2018 2,036,124 $ 20.01 
Granted 1,464,710 7.64 
Vested (396,514) 21.79 
Canceled or forfeited (317,922) 20.06 

Balance as of March 31, 2019 2,786,398 13.26 
Granted 673,461 14.26 
Vested (762,818) 15.97 
Canceled or forfeited (385,273) 12.66 

Balance as of March 31, 2020 2,311,768 12.86 
Granted 1,206,870 17.45 
Vested (1,044,052) 13.97 
Canceled or forfeited (184,971) 14.19 

Balance as of March 31, 2021 2,289,615 $ 14.67 

Includes restricted stock awards granted in the period ending March 31, 2019 that vest based upon the achievement of a
specified stock price and sa�sfac�on of a service condi�on. The fair values and derived service periods were determined using a Monte Carlo simula�on
model.

As of March 31, 2021, there were 1,190,320 unvested shares subject to RSAs outstanding. Addi�onal informa�on rela�ng to RSAs and RSUs is as
follows (in thousands):

Year ended
March 31,

Three months ended March
31,

(transi�on period)
Year ended

December 31,

 2021 2020 2019 2018

Stock-based compensa�on expense $ 18,012 $ 13,181 $ 3,093 $ 12,434 
Intrinsic value of restricted stock released $ 24,328 $ 12,448 $ 3,387 $ 6,280 

As of March 31, 2021, there was $25.6 million of total unrecognized compensa�on cost related to unvested RSAs and RSUs, which is expected to
be recognized over the remaining weighted-average ves�ng period of 2.2 years. Stock-based compensa�on expense related to restricted stock for the year
ended March 31, 2021 of $0.2 million and $17.8 million was reported in cost of sales and selling, general and administra�ve expenses in the Company's
consolidated statements of comprehensive income, respec�vely. Stock compensa�on expense for the years ended March 31, 2020, December 31, 2018, and
the transi�on period ended March 31, 2019 was reported in selling, general and administra�ve expenses in the Company's consolidated statements of
comprehensive income.

(1)

(1)
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Note 15—Restructuring and other related costs

2021 Restructuring Plan

In March 2021, a restructuring plan (the "2021 Restructuring Plan") was approved to close the Company's manufacturing plant in Rancho
Cucamonga, California. Ac�vi�es associated with the 2021 Restructuring Plan included the closure of the facility; the impairment of plant assets, including
equipment and leasehold improvements; the disposal of excess inventory on hand at the plant; and the termina�on of manufacturing plant employees.

The following table presents the restructuring expense incurred during the year ended March 31, 2021 (in thousands) in connec�on with the
2021 Restructuring Plan:

March 31, 2021

Property, plant and equipment impairment $ 2,097 
Inventory disposal 343 
Employee severance and related expenses 23 
Other costs, including other asset write-offs 178 

Total $ 2,641 

Liabili�es related to the 2021 Restructuring Plan were not material as of March 31, 2021.

2019 Restructuring Plan

In February 2019, the Company closed all 22 e.l.f. retail stores and implemented a workforce reduc�on of employees that operated and
managed the e.l.f. retail stores (the “2019 Restructuring Plan”).

The following table presents the restructuring (income) expenses incurred for the year ended March 31, 2020 and the three-month transi�on
period ended March 31, 2019, respec�vely, in connec�on with the 2019 Restructuring Plan (in thousands):

  March 31, 2020

Three months ended March
31,

(transi�on period)

2020 2019

Accelera�on of rent expense $ — $ 16,106 
Accelera�on of deprecia�on expense — 5,377 
Gain from ex�nguishment of lease liabili�es (7,733) (1,866)
Employee severance and related expenses — 600 
Other costs, including other asset write-offs 1,751 1,959 

Total $ (5,982) $ 22,176 

The accelera�on of rent expense is net of a $1.9 million gain related to opera�ng lease liabili�es that were
ex�nguished as of March 31, 2019. This gain represents the difference between the aggregate opera�ng lease liability
established upon adop�on of ASC 842 and the aggregate cash charge incurred to ex�nguish the aggregate liability. The gross
accelerated rent expense of $16.1 million is included in deprecia�on and amor�za�on in the statement of cash flows in the
transi�on period for the three months ended March 31, 2019. The majority of the other costs incurred during the three-month transi�on period ended
March 31, 2019 and the year ended March 31, 2020 are legal fees related to this ex�nguishment. As of March 31, 2020, the Company has se�led all
outstanding lease liabili�es related to its e.l.f. retail store closures and does not expect to incur addi�onal costs associated with the 2019 Restructuring Plan.
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Liabili�es related to the 2019 Restructuring Plan are reported within accrued expenses and other current liabili�es in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets. There were no costs incurred or cash disbursements made during the year ended March 31, 2021. The following table presents
a roll-forward of the Company's restructuring liability for the three-month transi�on period ended March 31, 2019 and the year ended March 31, 2020,
respec�vely (in thousands):

Employee severance and
related expenses Other costs Total

December 31, 2018 $ — $ — $ — 
    Costs incurred 600 1,118 1,718 
    Cash disbursements (504) (443) (947)
    Other adjustments — — — 
March 31, 2019 $ 96 $ 675 $ 771 
    Costs incurred and other adjustments (22) 1,634 1,612 
    Cash disbursements (74) (2,309) (2,383)
March 31, 2020 $ — $ — $ — 

Outstanding lease liabili�es are not included in the table above, as those liabili�es were established upon adop�on of ASC 842, not in
connec�on with the 2019 Restructuring Plan.

Note 16—Repurchase of common stock

On May 8, 2019, the Company announced that its board of directors authorized a share repurchase program to acquire up to $25.0 million of
the Company’s common stock (the “Share Repurchase Program”). Purchases under the Share Repurchase Program may be made from �me to �me through a
variety of methods, which may include open market purchases, privately nego�ated transac�ons, block trades, accelerated share repurchase transac�ons, or
by any combina�on of such methods. The �ming and amount of any repurchases pursuant to the Share Repurchase Program will be determined based on
market condi�ons, share price and other factors. The Share Repurchase Program does not require the Company to repurchase any specific number of shares
of its common stock, and may be modified, suspended or terminated at any �me without no�ce. There is no guarantee that any addi�onal shares will be
purchased under the Share Repurchase Program and such shares are intended to be re�red a�er purchase.

The Company did not repurchase any shares during the three and twelve months ended March 31, 2021. A total of $17.1 million remains
available for purchase under the Share Repurchase Program as of March 31, 2021.

Note 17—Employee benefit plan

The Company maintains a defined contribu�on 401(k) profit-sharing plan (the “401(k) Plan”) for eligible employees. Par�cipants may make
voluntary contribu�ons up to the maximum amount allowable by law. The Company may make contribu�ons to the 401(k) Plan on a discre�onary basis which
vest to the par�cipants 100%. The Company made matching contribu�ons of $0.3 million, $0.3 million, $0.2 million and $0.1 million to the 401(k) Plan during
the years ended March 31, 2021, March 31, 2020, December 31, 2018 and the three-month transi�on period ended March 31, 2019, respec�vely.
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Note 18—Net income (loss) per share

The following is a reconcilia�on of the numerator and denominator in the basic and diluted net income (loss) per common share computa�ons
(in thousands, except share and per share data):

Year ended March 31,

Three months ended March
31,

(transi�on period)
Year ended

December 31,

 2021 2020 2019 2018

Numerator:   
Net income (loss) $ 6,232 $ 17,884 $ (17,914) $ 15,525 

Denominator:
Weighted average common shares outstanding — basic 49,377,410 48,498,813 48,022,926 46,828,798 

Dilu�ve common equivalent shares from equity awards 2,616,735 2,318,330 — 2,439,818 
Weighted average common shares outstanding —diluted 51,994,145 50,817,143 48,022,926 49,268,616 

Net income (loss) per share:
Basic $ 0.13 $ 0.37 $ (0.37) $ 0.33 
Diluted $ 0.12 $ 0.35 $ (0.37) $ 0.32 

Weighted average an�-dilu�ve shares from outstanding equity
awards excluded from diluted earnings per share 1,038,810 2,143,672 6,588,523 3,373,529 

Note 19—Leases

The Company leases warehouses, distribu�on centers, office space, retail space and equipment. The majority of the Company's leases include
one or more op�ons to renew, with renewal terms that can extend the lease term for up to five years. The exercise of lease renewal op�ons is at the
Company's sole discre�on and such renewal op�ons are included in the lease term if they are reasonably certain to be exercised. Certain leases also include
op�ons to purchase the leased asset. The Company's lease agreements do not contain any material residual value guarantees or material restric�ve
covenants. Most of the Company's equipment leases are finance leases of assets used to operate its distribu�on centers in Ontario, California and Columbus,
Ohio.

Significant judgment is required to determine whether commercial contracts contain a lease for purposes of ASC 842. The discount rate used in
measuring lease liabili�es is generally based on the interest rate on the Company’s revolving line of credit, assuming sufficient unused capacity exists at the
�me the lease liability is measured.
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A reconcilia�on of the balance sheet line items that were impacted or created as a result of the Company’s adop�on of ASC 842 as of March 31,
2021 and March 31, 2020 is as follows (in thousands):

 Classifica�on March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020

Assets
Opera�ng lease assets Other assets $ 22,691 $ 13,668 
Finance lease assets Other assets 1,100 2,094 

Total leased assets $ 23,791 $ 15,762 
Liabili�es
Current

Opera�ng Accrued expenses and other current liabili�es $ 4,292 $ 3,083 
Finance Current por�on of long-term debt and finance lease obliga�ons 812 812 

Noncurrent
Opera�ng Long-term opera�ng lease obliga�ons 20,084 11,239 
Finance Long-term debt and finance lease obliga�ons 1,388 2,200 
Total lease liabili�es $ 26,576 $ 17,334 

___________________
 In accordance with ASC 842, $15.7 million of ROU assets related to opera�ng leases were derecognized in the three-month transi�on period ended March

31, 2019 in connec�on with the 2019 Restructuring Plan. Pursuant to ASC 842, each related lease liability is derecognized only a�er the Company is released
from that liability. The Company recognized a gain of $1.9 million in restructuring expenses related to the derecogni�on of lease liabili�es in connec�on with
the 2019 Restructuring Plan in the three-month transi�on period ended March 31, 2019. See Note 15 Restructuring and other related costs to consolidated
financial statements in Part IV, Item 15 “Exhibits, financial statement schedules” under the heading "2019 Restructuring Plan" for the 2019 Restructuring Plan
and the gain recorded on lease liabili�es derecognized in the year ended March 31, 2020 and the three-month transi�on period ended March 31, 2019,
respec�vely.

During the year ended March 31, 2021, the Company implemented the 2021 Restructuring Plan to record the charge for impairment of ROA assets related to
the manufacturing plant closure in accordance with the equipment lease agreements. The amount was immaterial as of March 31, 2021. See Note 15
Restructuring and other related costs to consolidated financial statements in Part IV, Item 15 “Exhibits, financial statement schedules” under the heading
"2021 Restructuring Plan" for further details.

 Finance leases are recorded net of accumulated amor�za�on of $3.2 million and $2.9 million as of March 31, 2021 and March 31, 2020, respec�vely.

(a)

(b)

(a)

(a)

(a)

(b)
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For the years ended March 31, 2021, March 31, 2020 and the transi�on period for the three-month transi�on period ended March 31, 2019, the
components of opera�ng and finance lease costs were as follows (in thousands):

Year ended March 31,

Three months ended March
31,

(transi�on period)

 Classifica�on 2021 2020 2019

Opera�ng lease cost
Selling, general and administra�ve
(“SG&A”) expenses $ 4,756 $ 2,950 $ 1,195 

Gain from ex�nguishment of lease
liabili�es Restructuring income — (7,733) (1,866)
Accelera�on of rent expense Restructuring expenses — — 16,106 
Finance lease cost

Amor�za�on of leased assets SG&A expenses 970 996 254 
Interest on lease liabili�es Interest expense, net 137 179 50 

Total lease cost (gain) $ 5,863 $ (3,608) $ 15,739 

As of March 31, 2021, the aggregate future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases presented in accordance with ASC 842 are as
follows (in thousands):

Opera�ng
leases

Finance
leases Total

2022 4,823 907 5,730 
2023 4,857 1,208 6,065 
2024 4,884 235 5,119 
2025 4,075 — 4,075 
2026 3,091 — 3,091 
Therea�er 4,605 — 4,605 

Total lease payments 26,335 2,350 28,685 
Less: Interest 1,959 150 

Present value of lease liabili�es $ 24,376 $ 2,200 

As of March 31, 2021 and March 31, 2020, the weighted average remaining lease term (in years) and discount rate were as follows:

 March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020

Weighted-average remaining lease term
Opera�ng leases 6.0 years 6.8 years
Finance leases 2.3 years 3.3 years

Weighted-average discount rate
Opera�ng leases 2.8 % 3.7 %
Finance leases 5.2 % 5.2 %

Opera�ng cash ou�lows from opera�ng leases for the years ended March 31, 2021, March 31, 2020 and the three-month transi�on period
ended March 31, 2019 were $3.8 million, $10.4 million and $1.8 million, respec�vely.
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Note 20—Quarterly financial summary

Unaudited quarterly results for the years ended March 31, 2021, March 31, 2020, December 31, 2018 and the three-month transi�on period
ended March 31, 2019, respec�vely, were as follows (in thousands, except per share data):

 June 30, 2020 September 30, 2020 December 31, 2020 March 31, 2021

(unaudited)
Net sales 64,527 72,350 88,562 92,671 
Gross profit 43,341 47,138 57,119 58,600 
Net income 1,512 447 4,297 (24)
Net income per share:

Basic $ 0.03 $ 0.01 $ 0.09 $ 0.00 
Diluted $ 0.03 $ 0.01 $ 0.08 $ 0.00 

 March 31, 2018 June 30, 2018
September 30,

2018
December 31,

2018

March 31, 2019
(transi�on

period) June 30, 2019
September 30,

2019
December 31,

2019 March 31, 2020

(unaudited) (unaudited)
Net sales $ 65,920 $ 59,055 $ 63,889 $ 78,571 $ 66,141 $ 59,764 $ 67,615 $ 80,760 $ 74,712 
Gross profit $ 40,208 $ 36,645 $ 38,969 $ 46,919 $ 40,491 $ 37,191 $ 43,348 $ 52,520 $ 48,064 
Net income (loss) $ 690 $ 1,248 $ 3,915 $ 9,672 $ (17,914) $ 3,706 $ 6,517 $ 8,002 $ (341)
Net income (loss) per share:

Basic $ 0.01 $ 0.03 $ 0.08 $ 0.20 $ (0.37) $ 0.08 $ 0.13 $ 0.16 $ (0.01)
Diluted $ 0.01 $ 0.03 $ 0.08 $ 0.20 $ (0.37) $ 0.07 $ 0.13 $ 0.16 $ (0.01)

Note 21—Subsequent events

On April 30, 2021, the Company amended and restated the 2016 Credit Agreement (the “Amended Credit Agreement”). In addi�on to amended
and resta�ng the 2016 Credit Facility, the Company amended and restated the term loan facility and the revolving credit facility under the 2016 Credit
Agreement and refinanced the loans under the 2016 Credit Agreement.

The Amended Credit Agreement has a five year term and consists of (i) a $100 million revolving credit facility (the “Amended Revolving Credit
Facility”) and (ii) a $100 million term loan facility (the “Amended Revolving Credit Facility”) , which will bear interest, at borrowers’ op�on, at either (i) a rate
per annum equal to an adjusted LIBOR rate determined by reference to the cost of funds for the U.S. dollar deposits for the applicable interest period (subject
to a minimum floor of 0%) plus an applicable margin ranging from 1.25% to 2.125% based on the Company’s consolidated total net leverage ra�o (as defined
in the Amended Credit Agreement) or (ii) a floa�ng base rate plus an applicable margin ranging from 0.25% to 1.125% based on the Company’s consolidated
total net leverage ra�o. On the closing date of the Amended Credit Agreement, the applicable margin for the Amended Revolving Credit Facility and the
Amended Term Loan Facility was 1.375% for the adjusted LIBOR rate and 0.375% for the floa�ng base rate.

In addi�on, the Amended Revolving Credit Facili�es and the Amended Term Loan Facility require payment of an unused fee ranging from 0.10%
to 0.30% (based on the Company’s consolidated total net leverage ra�o) �mes the average daily amount of unu�lized commitments under the Amended
Revolving Credit Facility. On the Closing Date of the Amended Credit Agreement, the unused line fee was 0.15%. The borrowers are also required to pay
customary le�er of credit fees and an annual administra�ve agent fee.

Amor�za�on installment payments on the Amended Term Loan Facility are required to be made in quarterly installments of $1,250,000 from the
fiscal quarter ending September 30, 2021 through March 31, 2026. The remaining outstanding amount will be due and payable on April 30, 2026, the
maturity date for the Amended Term Loan Facility. Principal amounts outstanding under Amended Revolving Credit Facility will be due and payable in full on
April 30, 2026, the maturity date for the Amended Revolving Credit Facility.
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The Amended Credit Agreement also contains financial covenants that require the Company to maintain (a) a certain consolidated total net
leverage ra�o of not more than 3.25 to 1.00 and (b) a consolidated fixed charge coverage ra�o (as defined in the Amended Credit Agreement) of not less than
1.15 to 1.00.
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Exhibit 4.4

DESCRIPTION OF THE REGISTRANT’S SECURITIES
REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
e.l.f. Beauty, Inc. (the “Company” or “we”) has one class of securi�es registered under Sec�on 12 of the Securi�es Exchange Act of
1934, as amended: our common stock, par value of $0.01 per share (our “common stock”). Our common stock is listed on the New
York Stock Exchange under the symbol “ELF.”

The following descrip�on of our common stock is a summary and does not purport to be complete. It is qualified in its en�rety by,
and should be read in conjunc�on with, our amended and restated cer�ficate of incorpora�on (our “cer�ficate of incorpora�on”),
amended and restated bylaws (our “bylaws”) and applicable Delaware law. Our cer�ficate of incorpora�on and our bylaws are
exhibits to the Annual Report on Form 10-K to which this descrip�on is an exhibit.

General

Under our cer�ficate of incorpora�on, the Company is authorized to issue up to 250,000,000 shares of common stock and
30,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share. The shares of our common stock currently outstanding are fully
paid and non-assessable. No shares of preferred stock are currently outstanding.

Under our cer�ficate of incorpora�on, without further stockholder ac�on, our board of directors is authorized, subject to any
limita�ons prescribed by Delaware law, to provide for the issuance of shares of preferred stock in one or more series, to establish
from �me to �me the number of shares to be included in each such series, to set the vo�ng powers of each such series and to fix
the designa�ons, preferences and rela�ve, par�cipa�ng, op�onal or other special rights, and qualifica�ons, limita�ons or
restric�ons of each such series.

The rights, powers, preferences and privileges of holders of our common stock will be subject to those of the holders of any shares
of our preferred stock we may authorize and issue in the future.

No preemp�ve, redemp�on or conversion rights

Our common stock is not redeemable, is not subject to sinking fund provisions, does not have any conversion rights and is not
subject to call. Holders of shares of common stock do not have preemp�ve rights to acquire newly issued shares.

Vo�ng rights

Holders of our common stock are en�tled to one vote for each share held of record on all ma�ers on which stockholders are
en�tled to vote generally, including the elec�on or removal of directors.



Directors elected at a mee�ng of stockholders are elected by the vote of the majority of the votes cast (as defined in our bylaws).
All other ma�ers submi�ed to a vote of stockholders are decided by the affirma�ve vote of a majority of the vo�ng power of the
shares present in person or represented by proxy and en�tled to vote thereon, unless the ma�er is one upon which a different vote
is required by express provision of law, our cer�ficate of incorpora�on or our bylaws.

Board of Directors

Our board of directors is divided into three classes. The directors in each class serve for a three-year term, one class being elected
each year by our stockholders, with staggered three-year terms. Only one class of directors is elected at each annual mee�ng of our
stockholders, with the other classes con�nuing for the remainder of their respec�ve three-year terms.

Our cer�ficate of incorpora�on provides for the removal of any of our directors only for cause and require a stockholder vote by
the holders of at least a 75% of the vo�ng power of the then-outstanding vo�ng stock. Furthermore, any vacancy on our board of
directors, however occurring, including a vacancy resul�ng from an increase in the size of the board, may only be filled by a
resolu�on of the board of directors unless the board of directors determines that such vacancies shall be filled by the stockholders.

Dividends

Subject to the preferences applicable to any outstanding shares of preferred stock, the holders of common stock are en�tled to
receive dividends, if any, as and when declared, from �me to �me, by our board of directors out of funds legally available therefor.

Liquida�on, dissolu�on or similar rights

Upon our liquida�on, dissolu�on or winding up, and a�er payment in full of all amounts required to be paid to creditors and to the
holders of preferred stock having liquida�on preferences, if any, the holders of our common stock will be en�tled to receive pro
rata our remaining assets available for distribu�on.

Annual stockholder mee�ngs

Our bylaws provide that annual stockholder mee�ngs are to be held at a date, �me and place, if any, as exclusively selected by our
board of directors. To the extent permi�ed under applicable law, we may conduct mee�ngs by remote communica�ons, including
by webcast.

An�-takeover effects of certain provisions of our cer�ficate of incorpora�on, our bylaws and Delaware law

Certain provisions of Delaware law and our cer�ficate of incorpora�on and our bylaws contain provisions that could make the
following transac�ons more difficult: acquisi�on of us by means of a tender offer; acquisi�on of us by means of a proxy contest or
otherwise; or removal of our incumbent officers and directors. It is possible that these provisions could make it more difficult



to accomplish or could deter transac�ons that stockholders may otherwise consider to be in their best interest or in our best
interests, including transac�ons that might result in a premium over the market price for our shares.

These provisions, summarized below, are expected to discourage coercive takeover prac�ces and inadequate takeover bids. These
provisions are also designed to encourage persons seeking to acquire control of us to first nego�ate with our board of directors. We
believe that the benefits of increased protec�on of our poten�al ability to nego�ate with the proponent of an unfriendly or
unsolicited proposal to acquire or restructure us outweigh the disadvantages of discouraging these proposals because nego�a�on
of these proposals could result in an improvement of their terms.

Delaware an�-takeover statute

We are subject to Sec�on 203 of the Delaware General Corpora�on Law (the “DGCL”), which prohibits persons deemed to be
interested stockholders from engaging in a business combina�on with a publicly-held Delaware corpora�on for three years
following the date these persons become interested stockholders unless the business combina�on is, or the transac�on in which
the person became an interested stockholder was, approved in a prescribed manner or another prescribed excep�on applies.
Generally, an interested stockholder is a person who, together with affiliates and associates, owns, or within three years prior to
the determina�on of interested stockholder status did own, 15% or more of a corpora�on’s vo�ng stock. Generally, a business
combina�on includes a merger, asset or stock sale or other transac�on resul�ng in a financial benefit to the interested stockholder.
The existence of this provision may have an an�-takeover effect with respect to transac�ons not approved in advance by the board
of directors, such as discouraging takeover a�empts that might result in a premium over the market price of our common stock.

Undesignated preferred stock

The ability to authorize undesignated preferred stock pursuant to our cer�ficate of incorpora�on makes it possible for our board of
directors to issue preferred stock with vo�ng or other rights or preferences that could impede the success of any a�empt to change
control of us. These and other provisions may have the effect of deterring hos�le takeovers or delaying changes in control or
management of our Company.

Special stockholder mee�ngs

Our cer�ficate of incorpora�on provides that a special mee�ng of stockholders may be called at any �me by the board of directors.
Special mee�ng of stockholders may not be called by the stockholders or any other person or persons.

Requirements for advance no�fica�on of stockholder nomina�ons and proposals



Our bylaws include advance no�ce procedures with respect to stockholder proposals and the nomina�on of candidates for elec�on
as directors, other than nomina�ons made by or at the direc�on of the board of directors or a commi�ee of the board of directors.

Elimina�on of stockholder ac�on by wri�en consent

Our cer�ficate of incorpora�on eliminates the right of stockholders to act by wri�en consent without a mee�ng.

Classified board; elec�on and removal of directors; filling vacancies

As noted above, our board of directors is divided into three classes, with each class serving for a three-year term and only one class
being elected each year by our stockholders. Because our stockholders do not have cumula�ve vo�ng rights, our stockholders
holding a majority of the shares of common stock outstanding are able to elect all of our directors.

Also as noted above, our cer�ficate of incorpora�on provides for the removal of any of our directors only for cause and requires a
stockholder vote by the holders of at least a 75% of the vo�ng power of the then-outstanding vo�ng stock. Addi�onally any
vacancy on our board of directors may only be filled by a resolu�on of the board of directors unless the board of directors
determines that such vacancies shall be filled by the stockholders.

This system of elec�ng and removing directors and filling vacancies may tend to discourage a third-party from making a tender
offer or otherwise a�emp�ng to obtain control of us, because it generally makes it more difficult for stockholders to replace a
majority of the directors.

Choice of forum

Our cer�ficate of incorpora�on and our bylaws provide that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware will be the exclusive
forum for any deriva�ve ac�on or proceeding brought on our behalf; any ac�on asser�ng a breach of fiduciary duty; any ac�on
asser�ng a claim against us arising pursuant to the DGCL, our cer�ficate of incorpora�on or our bylaws; or any ac�on asser�ng a
claim against us that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine. Although our cer�ficate of incorpora�on and our bylaws contain
the choice of forum provision described above, it is possible that a court could find that such a provision is inapplicable for a
par�cular claim or ac�on or that such provision is unenforceable.

Amendment of charter provisions

The amendment of any of the above provisions in our cer�ficate of incorpora�on will require affirma�ve vote of holders of at least
75% of the vo�ng power of the then-outstanding shares of vo�ng stock.

The provisions of the DGCL, our cer�ficate of incorpora�on and our bylaws could have the effect of discouraging others from
a�emp�ng hos�le takeovers. As a consequence, they may also inhibit temporary fluctua�ons in the market price of our common
stock that o�en result from actual or rumored hos�le takeover a�empts. These provisions may also have the effect of



preven�ng changes in our management. It is possible that these provisions could make it more difficult to accomplish transac�ons
that stockholders may otherwise deem to be in their best interests.

Limita�ons on liability and indemnifica�on of officers and directors

The DGCL authorizes corpora�ons to limit or eliminate the personal liability of directors to corpora�ons and their stockholders for
monetary damages for breaches of directors’ fiduciary du�es, subject to certain excep�ons. Our cer�ficate of incorpora�on
includes a provision that, to the fullest extent permi�ed by the DGCL, eliminates the personal liability of directors to us or our
stockholders for monetary damages for any breach of fiduciary duty as a director. The effect of these provisions is to eliminate the
rights of us and our stockholders, through stockholders’ deriva�ve suits on our behalf, to recover monetary damages from a
director for breach of fiduciary duty as a director, including breaches resul�ng from grossly negligent behavior. However,
exculpa�on will not apply to any director if the director has acted in bad faith, knowingly or inten�onally violated the law,
authorized illegal dividends or redemp�ons or derived an improper benefit from his or her ac�ons as a director.

Further, our cer�ficate of incorpora�on and our bylaws provide that we must indemnify and advance expenses to our directors and
officers to the fullest extent authorized by the DGCL. We also are expressly authorized to carry directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance providing indemnifica�on for our directors, officers and certain employees for some liabili�es. We believe that these
indemnifica�on and advancement provisions and insurance are useful to a�ract and retain qualified directors and officers.

The limita�on of liability, indemnifica�on and advancement provisions in our cer�ficate of incorpora�on and our bylaws may
discourage stockholders from bringing a lawsuit against directors for breach of their fiduciary duty. These provisions also may have
the effect of reducing the likelihood of deriva�ve li�ga�on against directors and officers, even though such an ac�on, if successful,
might otherwise benefit us and our stockholders. In addi�on, your investment may be adversely affected to the extent we pay the
costs of se�lement and damage awards against directors and officers pursuant to these indemnifica�on provisions.

There is currently no pending material li�ga�on or proceeding involving any of our directors, officers or employees for which
indemnifica�on is sought.

Transfer agent and registrar

The transfer agent and registrar for our common stock is Computershare Inc. The transfer agent and registrar’s address is 144
Fernwood Avenue, Edison, New Jersey 08837.



[EXECUTIVE]

Exhibit 10.1
E.L.F. BEAUTY, INC.

2016 EQUITY INCENTIVE AWARD PLAN
PERFORMANCE STOCK UNIT AWARD GRANT NOTICE

e.l.f. Beauty, Inc., a Delaware corporation, (the “Company”), pursuant to its 2016 Equity Incentive Award Plan, as amended from time to
time (the “Plan”), hereby grants to the holder listed below (the “Participant”), an award of performance stock units (“Performance Stock Units”
or “PSUs”). Each vested Performance Stock Unit represents the right to receive, in accordance with the Performance Stock Unit Award
Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit A and the Appendix thereto (the “Appendix” and together, the “Agreement”), a number of shares of
Common Stock (each, a “Share”) based on the Company’s achievement of certain performance goals. This award of Performance Stock Units is
subject to all of the terms and conditions set forth herein and in the Agreement and the Plan, each of which are incorporated herein by reference.
Unless otherwise defined herein, the terms defined in the Plan shall have the same defined meanings in this Performance Stock Unit Award
Grant Notice (the “Grant Notice”) and the Agreement.

Participant: «Participant»
Grant Date: «Grant_Date»
Total Number of PSUs: «Shares»
Vesting Commencement Date: «VCD»
Vesting Schedule: [To be specified in individual agreements.]
Termination: All PSUs that have not become vested on or prior to the date of the Participant’s Termination of

Service (after taking into consideration any vesting that may occur in connection with such
Termination of Service) will thereupon be automatically forfeited by the Participant without
payment of any consideration therefor.

Withholding Tax: Participant understands that the terms of this award of Performance Stock Units explicitly
include the following (a “Sell to Cover”):

Sell to Cover: Upon vesting of the PSUs and release of the resulting Shares, the
Company, on the Participant’s behalf, will instruct the Company’s transfer agent
(together with any other party the Company determines necessary to execute the Sell
to Cover, the “Agent”) to sell that number of Shares determined in accordance with
Section 2.6 of the Agreement as may be necessary to satisfy any resulting withholding
tax obligations on the Company, and the Agent will remit the cash proceeds of such
sale to the Company. The Company shall then make a cash payment equal to the
required tax withholding from the cash proceeds of such sale directly to the
appropriate taxing authorities.

By his or her signature and the Company’s signature below, the Participant agrees to be bound by the terms and conditions of the Plan,
the Agreement and this Grant Notice. The Participant has reviewed the Agreement, the Plan and this Grant Notice in their entirety, has had an
opportunity to obtain the advice of counsel prior to executing this Grant Notice and fully understands all provisions of this Grant Notice, the
Agreement and the Plan. The Participant hereby agrees to accept as binding, conclusive and final all decisions or interpretations of the
Administrator upon any questions arising under the Plan, this Grant Notice or the Agreement.
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[EXECUTIVE]

E.L.F. BEAUTY, INC.: PARTICIPANT:
PARTICIPANT:
By: By:
Print Name: Mandy Fields Print Name: «Participant»
Title: Chief Financial Officer
Address: 570 10  Street

Oakland, CA 94607
Address: «Address»th
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EXHIBIT A
TO PERFORMANCE STOCK UNIT AWARD GRANT NOTICE

PERFORMANCE STOCK UNIT AWARD AGREEMENT

Pursuant to the Performance Stock Unit Award Grant Notice (the “Grant Notice”) to which this Performance Stock Unit Award
Agreement (this “Agreement”) is attached, e.l.f. Beauty, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), has granted to the Participant the
number of performance stock units (“Performance Stock Units” or “PSUs”) set forth in the Grant Notice under the Company’s 2016 Equity
Incentive Award Plan, as amended from time to time (the “Plan”). Each vested Performance Stock Unit represents the right to receive a number
of shares of Common Stock (each, a “Share”) based on the Company’s achievement of certain performance goals. Capitalized terms not
specifically defined herein shall have the meanings specified in the Plan and Grant Notice.

ARTICLE I.

GENERAL

1.1    Defined Terms. Wherever the following terms are used in this Agreement they shall have the meanings specified below, unless
the context clearly indicates otherwise. Capitalized terms not specifically defined herein shall have the meanings specified in the Plan and the
Grant Notice.

(a)    “Cause” shall mean (i) a breach by the Participant of the Participant’s obligations pursuant to his or her employment or
other similar agreement (other than as a result of physical or mental incapacity) which constitutes material nonperformance by the Participant
of his or her obligations and duties thereunder, which the Participant has failed to remedy after the Board of Directors or delegate thereof has
given the Participant written notice of, and at least fifteen (15) days to remedy, such breach, (ii) commission by the Participant of an act of
fraud, embezzlement, misappropriation, willful misconduct or breach of fiduciary duty against the Company (other than acts, such as making
personal use of Company office supplies, as have only a de minimis effect on the Company), (iii) a material breach by the Participant of any
non-solicitation and or non-competition covenants contained in his or her employment or other similar agreement with the Company, (iv) the
Participant’s conviction, plea of no contest or nolo contendere, deferred adjudication or unadjudicated probation for any felony or any crime
involving moral turpitude, (v) the failure of the Participant to carry out, or comply with, in any material respect, any lawful directive of the
Board of Directors or delegate thereof (other than any such failure resulting from the Participant’s physical or mental incapacity) which the
Participant has failed to remedy after the Board of Directors or delegate thereof has given the Participant written notice of, and at least fifteen
(15) days to remedy, such failure, or (vi) the Participant’s unlawful use (including being under the influence) or possession of illegal drugs. For
purposes of the previous sentence, no act or failure to act on the Participant’s part shall be deemed “willful” unless done, or omitted to be done,
by the Participant not in good faith and without reasonable belief that the Participant’s action or omission was in the best interest of the
Company.

(b)    “Good Reason” shall mean (i) a material diminution of the Participant’s responsibilities, duties or authority, or the
responsibilities, duties or authority of the Participant’s direct supervisor (it being understood that if following a Change in Control Participant
ceases to serve as the most senior level [legal/financial/sales/marketing/operations] officer of a public company listed on a national securities
exchange in the United States reporting directly to the Chief Executive Officer of such company, then such change shall be deemed a material
diminution of Participant’s duties,
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responsibilities and authority), (ii) a material diminution of the Participant’s base compensation; or (iii) the relocation of the Participant’s
principal office to a location that is in excess of fifty (50) miles from the Participant’s principal office prior to such change (it being understood
and agreed that the Participant’s reasonable travel for business purposes shall not be considered such a relocation); provided, however, that the
Participant’s termination will not be for Good Reason unless (x) the Participant has given the Company at least thirty (30) days prior written
notice of his or her intent to terminate his or her employment for Good Reason, which notice shall specify the facts and circumstances
constituting Good Reason and be given within ninety (90) days of the initial occurrence thereof, (y) the Company has not remedied such facts
and circumstances constituting Good Reason within thirty (30) days following the receipt of such notice, and (z) the Participant terminates
employment within six (6) months following the expiration of such thirty (30)-day cure period.

1.2    Incorporation of Terms of Plan. The PSUs are subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan, which are incorporated herein by
reference. In the event of any inconsistency between the Plan and this Agreement, the terms of the Plan shall control.

ARTICLE II.

GRANT OF PERFORMANCE STOCK UNITS

2.1    Grant of PSUs. Pursuant to the Grant Notice and upon the terms and conditions set forth in the Plan and this Agreement, effective
as of the Grant Date set forth in the Grant Notice, the Company hereby grants to the Participant an award of PSUs under the Plan in
consideration of the Participant’s past and/or continued employment with or service to the Company or any Affiliates and for other good and
valuable consideration.

2.2    Unsecured Obligation to PSUs. Unless and until the PSUs have vested in the manner set forth in Article 2 hereof, the Participant
will have no right to receive Common Stock under any such PSUs. Prior to actual payment of any vested PSUs, such PSUs will represent an
unsecured obligation of the Company, payable (if at all) only from the general assets of the Company.

2.3    Vesting Schedule; Change in Control.

(a)    Subject to Section 2.5 hereof, the PSUs shall vest and become nonforfeitable with respect to the applicable portion
thereof according to the vesting schedule set forth in the Grant Notice (rounding down to the nearest whole Share).

(b)    Notwithstanding Section 2.3(a), in the event of a Change in Control prior to the end of the Performance Period (as
defined in the Appendix attached hereto), the number of Shares that shall become issuable in respect of the PSUs shall equal the greater of (i)
the Total Number of PSUs set forth in the Grant Notice and (ii) such number of Shares determined based on the Overall Achievement Factor
calculated as of a date prior to the Change in Control as determined by the Administrator, and the PSUs shall vest as follows:

(i)     If the successor or surviving entity assumes the PSUs, the PSUs shall remain outstanding and eligible to vest on
the last day of the Performance Period, subject to the Participant’s continued service to the Company or an Affiliate through such date, provided
that in the event the Participant experiences a Termination of Service by the Company (or any successor thereof) for other than Cause or by the
Participant for Good Reason within the twelve (12) month period commencing
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on the consummation of the Change in Control, then one hundred percent (100%) of the PSUs shall vest and become nonforfeitable as of
immediately prior to such Termination of Service; and

(ii)    If the successor or surviving entity does not assume the PSUs, the PSUs will vest in full upon the Change in
Control.

2.4    Consideration to the Company. In consideration of the grant of the award of PSUs pursuant hereto, the Participant agrees to render
faithful and efficient services to the Company or any Affiliate.

2.5    Forfeiture, Termination and Cancellation upon Termination of Service. Notwithstanding any contrary provision of this Agreement
or the Plan, upon the Participant’s Termination of Service for any or no reason, all Performance Stock Units which have not vested prior to or in
connection with such Termination of Service (after taking into consideration any accelerated vesting which may occur in connection with such
Termination of Service (if any)) shall thereupon automatically be forfeited, terminated and cancelled as of the applicable termination date
without payment of any consideration by the Company, and the Participant, or the Participant’s beneficiary or personal representative, as the case
may be, shall have no further rights hereunder. No portion of the PSUs which has not become vested as of the date on which the Participant
incurs a Termination of Service shall thereafter become vested.

2.6    Issuance of Common Stock upon Vesting.

(a)    As soon as administratively practicable following the vesting of any Performance Stock Units pursuant to Section 2.3
hereof, but in no event later than March 15 of the calendar year following the vesting date (for the avoidance of doubt, this deadline is intended
to comply with the “short term deferral” exemption from Section 409A of the Code), the Company shall deliver to the Participant (or any
transferee permitted under Section 3.2 hereof) a number of Shares (either by delivering one or more certificates for such Shares or by entering
such Shares in book entry form, as determined by the Company in its sole discretion) issuable in respect of the PSUs subject to this Award that
vest on the applicable vesting date, unless such PSUs terminate prior to the given vesting date pursuant to Section 2.5 hereof. Notwithstanding
the foregoing, in the event Shares cannot be issued pursuant to Section 12.4 of the Plan, the Shares shall be issued pursuant to the preceding
sentence as soon as administratively practicable after the Administrator determines that Shares can again be issued in accordance with such
Section.

(b)    As set forth in Section 12.2 of the Plan, the Company shall have the authority and the right to deduct or withhold, or to
require the Participant to remit to the Company, an amount sufficient to satisfy all applicable federal, state, foreign and local taxes required by
law to be withheld with respect to any taxable event arising in connection with the Performance Stock Units. Such tax withholding obligations
shall be made by using a Sell to Cover pursuant to the Grant Notice. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the Company shall
not be obligated to deliver any new certificate representing Shares to the Participant or the Participant’s legal representative or enter such Shares
in book entry form unless and until the Participant or the Participant’s legal representative shall have paid or otherwise satisfied in full the
amount of all federal, state, foreign and local taxes applicable to the taxable income of the Participant resulting from the grant or vesting of the
Performance Stock Units or the issuance of Shares. By accepting this award of PSUs, the Participant has agreed to a Sell to Cover to satisfy any
tax withholding obligations and/or social security contributions and the Participant hereby acknowledges and agrees:
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(i)    The Participant hereby appoints the Agent as the Participant’s agent and authorizes the Agent to (1) sell on the open
market at the then prevailing market price(s), on the Participant’s behalf, as soon as practicable on or after the date the Shares are issued upon
vesting of the Performance Stock Units, that number (rounded up to the next whole number) of the Shares so issued necessary to generate
proceeds to cover (x) any tax withholding obligations incurred with respect to such vesting or issuance and (y) all applicable fees and
commissions due to, or required to be collected by, the Agent with respect thereto and (2) in the Company’s discretion, apply any remaining
funds to the Participant’s federal tax withholding or remit such remaining funds to the Participant.

(ii)    The Participant hereby authorizes the Company and the Agent to cooperate and communicate with one another to
determine the number of Shares that must be sold pursuant to subsection (i) above.

(iii)    The Participant understands that the Agent may effect sales as provided in subsection (i) above in one or more
sales and that the average price for executions resulting from bunched orders will be assigned to the Participant’s account. In addition, the
Participant acknowledges that it may not be possible to sell Shares as provided by in subsection (i) above due to (1) a legal or contractual
restriction applicable to the Participant or the Agent, (2) a market disruption or (3) rules governing order execution priority on the national
exchange where the Shares may be traded. In the event of the Agent’s inability to sell Shares, the Participant will continue to be responsible for
the timely payment to the Company and/or its affiliates of all federal, state, foreign and local taxes that are required by applicable laws and
regulations to be withheld, including but not limited to those amounts specified in subsection (i) above.

(iv)    The Participant acknowledges that regardless of any other term or condition of this Section 2.6(b), the Agent will
not be liable to the Participant for (1) special, indirect, punitive, exemplary or consequential damages, or incidental losses or damages of any
kind or (2) any failure to perform or for any delay in performance that results from a cause or circumstance that is beyond its reasonable control.

(v)    The Participant hereby agrees to execute and deliver to the Agent any other agreements or documents as the Agent
reasonably deems necessary or appropriate to carry out the purposes and intent of this Section 2.6(b). The Agent is a third-party beneficiary of
this Section 2.6(b).

(vi)    This Section 2.6(b) shall terminate not later than the date on which all tax withholding and obligations arising in
connection with the vesting and issuance of the PSUs have been satisfied.

2.7    Conditions to Delivery of Shares. The Shares deliverable hereunder may be either previously authorized but unissued Shares,
treasury Shares or issued Shares which have then been reacquired by the Company. Such Shares shall be fully paid and nonassessable. The
Company shall not be required to issue or deliver any certificates or make any book entries evidencing Shares deliverable hereunder prior to
fulfillment of the conditions set forth in Section 12.4 of the Plan.

2.8    Rights as Stockholder. The holder of the PSUs shall not be, nor have any of the rights or privileges of, a stockholder of the
Company, including, without limitation, voting rights and rights to dividends, in respect of the PSUs and any Shares underlying the PSUs and
deliverable hereunder unless and until such Shares shall have been issued by the Company and held of record by such holder (as evidenced by
the appropriate entry on the books of the Company or of a duly authorized transfer agent of
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the Company). No adjustment shall be made for a dividend or other right for which the record date is prior to the date the Shares are issued,
except as provided in Section 14.2 of the Plan.

ARTICLE III.

OTHER PROVISIONS

3.1    Administration. The Administrator shall have the power to interpret the Plan and this Agreement and to adopt such rules for the
administration, interpretation and application of the Plan as are consistent therewith and to interpret, amend or revoke any such rules. All actions
taken and all interpretations and determinations made by the Administrator in good faith shall be final and binding upon the Participant, the
Company and all other interested persons. No member of the Administrator or the Board shall be personally liable for any action, determination
or interpretation made in good faith with respect to the Plan, this Agreement or the PSUs.

3.2    PSUs Not Transferable. The PSUs shall be subject to the restrictions on transferability set forth in Section 12.3 of the Plan;
provided, however, that this Section 3.2 notwithstanding, with the consent of the Administrator, the PSUs may be transferred to one or more
Permitted Transferees, subject to and in accordance with Section 12.3 of the Plan.

3.3    Tax Consultation. The Participant understands that the Participant may suffer adverse tax consequences in connection with the
PSUs granted pursuant to this Agreement (and the Shares issuable with respect thereto). The Participant represents that the Participant has
consulted with any tax consultants the Participant deems advisable in connection with the PSUs and the issuance of Shares with respect thereto
and that the Participant is not relying on the Company for any tax advice.

3.4    Binding Agreement. Subject to the limitation on the transferability of the PSUs contained herein, this Agreement will be binding
upon and inure to the benefit of the heirs, legatees, legal representatives, successors and assigns of the parties hereto.

3.5    Adjustments Upon Specified Events. The Administrator may accelerate the vesting of the PSUs in such circumstances as it, in its
sole discretion, may determine. The Participant acknowledges that the PSUs are subject to adjustment, modification and termination in certain
events as provided in this Agreement and Section 14.2 of the Plan.

3.6    Notices. Any notice to be given under the terms of this Agreement to the Company shall be addressed to the Company in care of
the Secretary of the Company at the Company’s principal office, and any notice to be given to the Participant shall be addressed to the
Participant at the Participant’s last address reflected on the Company’s records. By a notice given pursuant to this Section 3.6, either party may
hereafter designate a different address for notices to be given to that party. Any notice shall be deemed duly given when sent via email or when
sent by certified mail (return receipt requested) and deposited (with postage prepaid) in a post office or branch post office regularly maintained
by the United States Postal Service.

3.7    Participant’s Representations. If the Shares issuable hereunder have not been registered under the Securities Act or any applicable
state laws on an effective registration statement at the time of such issuance, the Participant shall, if required by the Company, concurrently with
such issuance, make such written representations as are deemed necessary or appropriate by the Company and/or its counsel.
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3.8    Titles. Titles are provided herein for convenience only and are not to serve as a basis for interpretation or construction of this
Agreement.

3.9    Governing Law. The laws of the State of Delaware shall govern the interpretation, validity, administration, enforcement and
performance of the terms of this Agreement regardless of the law that might be applied under principles of conflicts of laws.

3.10    Conformity to Securities Laws. The Participant acknowledges that the Plan and this Agreement are intended to conform to the
extent necessary with all provisions of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act and any other Applicable Law. Notwithstanding anything herein
to the contrary, the Plan shall be administered, and the PSUs are granted, only in such a manner as to conform to Applicable Law. To the extent
permitted by Applicable Law, the Plan and this Agreement shall be deemed amended to the extent necessary to conform to such Applicable Law.

3.11    Amendment, Suspension and Termination. To the extent permitted by the Plan, this Agreement may be wholly or partially
amended or otherwise modified, suspended or terminated at any time or from time to time by the Administrator or the Board; provided, however,
that, except as may otherwise be provided by the Plan, no amendment, modification, suspension or termination of this Agreement shall adversely
affect the PSUs in any material way without the prior written consent of the Participant.

3.12    Successors and Assigns. The Company may assign any of its rights under this Agreement to single or multiple assignees, and this
Agreement shall inure to the benefit of the successors and assigns of the Company. Subject to the restrictions on transfer herein set forth in
Section 3.2 hereof, this Agreement shall be binding upon the Participant and his or her heirs, executors, administrators, successors and assigns.

3.13    Limitations Applicable to Section 16 Persons. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan or this Agreement, if the
Participant is subject to Section 16 of the Exchange Act, then the Plan, the PSUs and this Agreement shall be subject to any additional limitations
set forth in any applicable exemptive rule under Section 16 of the Exchange Act (including any amendment to Rule 16b-3 of the Exchange Act)
that are requirements for the application of such exemptive rule. To the extent permitted by Applicable Law, this Agreement shall be deemed
amended to the extent necessary to conform to such applicable exemptive rule.

3.14    Not a Contract of Service Relationship. Nothing in this Agreement or in the Plan shall confer upon Participant any right to
continue to serve as an employee or other service provider of the Company or any of its Affiliates or interfere with or restrict in any way with the
right of the Company or any of its Affiliates, which rights are hereby expressly reserved, to discharge or to terminate for any reason whatsoever,
with or without cause, the services of the Participant’s at any time.

3.15    Entire Agreement. The Plan, the Grant Notice and this Agreement (including the Appendix attached hereto) constitute the entire
agreement of the parties and supersede in their entirety all prior undertakings and agreements of the Company and the Participant with respect to
the subject matter hereof.

3.16    Section 409A. This Award is not intended to constitute “nonqualified deferred compensation” within the meaning of Section
409A of the Code (together with any Department of Treasury regulations and other interpretive guidance issued thereunder, including without
limitation any such regulations or other guidance that may be issued after the date hereof, “Section 409A”). However,
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notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan, the Grant Notice or this Agreement, if at any time the Administrator determines that this Award
(or any portion thereof) may be subject to Section 409A, the Administrator shall have the right in its sole discretion (without any obligation to do
so or to indemnify Participant or any other person for failure to do so) to adopt such amendments to the Plan, the Grant Notice or this
Agreement, or adopt other policies and procedures (including amendments, policies and procedures with retroactive effect), or take any other
actions, as the Administrator determines are necessary or appropriate for this Award either to be exempt from the application of Section 409A or
to comply with the requirements of Section 409A.

3.17    Limitation on Participant’s Rights. Participation in the Plan confers no rights or interests other than as herein provided. This
Agreement creates only a contractual obligation on the part of the Company as to amounts payable and shall not be construed as creating a trust.
Neither the Plan nor any underlying program, in and of itself, has any assets. The Participant shall have only the rights of a general unsecured
creditor of the Company and its Affiliates with respect to amounts credited and benefits payable, if any, with respect to the PSUs, and rights no
greater than the right to receive the Common Stock as a general unsecured creditor with respect to PSUs, as and when payable hereunder.
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APPENDIX
TO PERFORMANCE STOCK UNIT AWARD AGREEMENT

PERFORMANCE GOALS

[To be specified in individual agreements.]

Appendix-1
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[CEO]

Exhibit 10.2
E.L.F. BEAUTY, INC.

2016 EQUITY INCENTIVE AWARD PLAN
PERFORMANCE STOCK UNIT AWARD GRANT NOTICE

e.l.f. Beauty, Inc., a Delaware corporation, (the “Company”), pursuant to its 2016 Equity Incentive Award Plan, as amended from time to
time (the “Plan”), hereby grants to the holder listed below (the “Participant”), an award of performance stock units (“Performance Stock Units”
or “PSUs”). Each vested Performance Stock Unit represents the right to receive, in accordance with the Performance Stock Unit Award
Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit A and the Appendix thereto (the “Appendix” and together, the “Agreement”), a number of shares of
Common Stock (each, a “Share”) based on the Company’s achievement of certain performance goals. This award of Performance Stock Units is
subject to all of the terms and conditions set forth herein and in the Agreement and the Plan, each of which are incorporated herein by reference.
Unless otherwise defined herein, the terms defined in the Plan shall have the same defined meanings in this Performance Stock Unit Award
Grant Notice (the “Grant Notice”) and the Agreement.

Participant: «Participant»
Grant Date: «Grant_Date»
Total Number of PSUs: «Shares»
Vesting Commencement Date: «VCD»
Vesting Schedule: [To be specified in individual agreements.]
Termination: All PSUs that have not become vested on or prior to the date of the Participant’s Termination of

Service (after taking into consideration any vesting that may occur in connection with such
Termination of Service) will thereupon be automatically forfeited by the Participant without
payment of any consideration therefor.

Withholding Tax: Participant understands that the terms of this award of Performance Stock Units explicitly
include the following (a “Sell to Cover”):

Sell to Cover: Upon vesting of the PSUs and release of the resulting Shares, the
Company, on the Participant’s behalf, will instruct the Company’s transfer agent
(together with any other party the Company determines necessary to execute the Sell
to Cover, the “Agent”) to sell that number of Shares determined in accordance with
Section 2.6 of the Agreement as may be necessary to satisfy any resulting withholding
tax obligations on the Company, and the Agent will remit the cash proceeds of such
sale to the Company. The Company shall then make a cash payment equal to the
required tax withholding from the cash proceeds of such sale directly to the
appropriate taxing authorities.

By his or her signature and the Company’s signature below, the Participant agrees to be bound by the terms and conditions of the Plan,
the Agreement and this Grant Notice. The Participant has reviewed the Agreement, the Plan and this Grant Notice in their entirety, has had an
opportunity to obtain the advice of counsel prior to executing this Grant Notice and fully understands all provisions of this Grant Notice, the
Agreement and the Plan. The Participant hereby agrees to accept as binding, conclusive and final all decisions or interpretations of the
Administrator upon any questions arising under the Plan, this Grant Notice or the Agreement.
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[CEO]

E.L.F. BEAUTY, INC.: PARTICIPANT:
PARTICIPANT:
By: By:
Print Name: Mandy Fields Print Name: «Participant»
Title: Chief Financial Officer
Address: 570 10  Street

Oakland, CA 94607
Address: «Address»th
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EXHIBIT A
TO PERFORMANCE STOCK UNIT AWARD GRANT NOTICE

PERFORMANCE STOCK UNIT AWARD AGREEMENT

Pursuant to the Performance Stock Unit Award Grant Notice (the “Grant Notice”) to which this Performance Stock Unit Award
Agreement (this “Agreement”) is attached, e.l.f. Beauty, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), has granted to the Participant the
number of performance stock units (“Performance Stock Units” or “PSUs”) set forth in the Grant Notice under the Company’s 2016 Equity
Incentive Award Plan, as amended from time to time (the “Plan”). Each vested Performance Stock Unit represents the right to receive a number
of shares of Common Stock (each, a “Share”) based on the Company’s achievement of certain performance goals. Capitalized terms not
specifically defined herein shall have the meanings specified in the Plan and Grant Notice.

ARTICLE I.

GENERAL

1.1    Incorporation of Terms of Plan. The PSUs are subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan, which are incorporated herein by
reference. In the event of any inconsistency between the Plan and this Agreement, the terms of the Plan shall control.

ARTICLE II.

GRANT OF PERFORMANCE STOCK UNITS

2.1    Grant of PSUs. Pursuant to the Grant Notice and upon the terms and conditions set forth in the Plan and this Agreement, effective
as of the Grant Date set forth in the Grant Notice, the Company hereby grants to the Participant an award of PSUs under the Plan in
consideration of the Participant’s past and/or continued employment with or service to the Company or any Affiliates and for other good and
valuable consideration.

2.2    Unsecured Obligation to PSUs. Unless and until the PSUs have vested in the manner set forth in Article 2 hereof, the Participant
will have no right to receive Common Stock under any such PSUs. Prior to actual payment of any vested PSUs, such PSUs will represent an
unsecured obligation of the Company, payable (if at all) only from the general assets of the Company.

2.3    Vesting Schedule; Change in Control.

(a)    Subject to Section 2.5 hereof, the PSUs shall vest and become nonforfeitable with respect to the applicable portion
thereof according to the vesting schedule set forth in the Grant Notice (rounding down to the nearest whole Share).

(b)    Notwithstanding Section 2.3(a), in the event of a Change in Control prior to the end of the Performance Period (as
defined in the Appendix attached hereto), the PSUs will vest and become nonforfeitable immediately prior to the consummation of such
Change in Control, and the number of Shares issuable in respect of the PSUs shall equal the greater of (i) the Total Number of PSUs set forth
in the Grant Notice and (ii) such number of Shares determined based on the Overall Achievement Factor calculated as of a date prior to the
Change in Control as determined by the Administrator.
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2.4    Consideration to the Company. In consideration of the grant of the award of PSUs pursuant hereto, the Participant agrees to render
faithful and efficient services to the Company or any Affiliate.

2.5    Forfeiture, Termination and Cancellation upon Termination of Service. Notwithstanding any contrary provision of this Agreement
or the Plan, upon the Participant’s Termination of Service for any or no reason, all Performance Stock Units which have not vested prior to or in
connection with such Termination of Service (after taking into consideration any accelerated vesting which may occur in connection with such
Termination of Service (if any)) shall thereupon automatically be forfeited, terminated and cancelled as of the applicable termination date
without payment of any consideration by the Company, and the Participant, or the Participant’s beneficiary or personal representative, as the case
may be, shall have no further rights hereunder. No portion of the PSUs which has not become vested as of the date on which the Participant
incurs a Termination of Service shall thereafter become vested.

2.6    Issuance of Common Stock upon Vesting.

(a)    As soon as administratively practicable following the vesting of any Performance Stock Units pursuant to Section 2.3
hereof, but in no event later than March 15 of the calendar year following the vesting date (for the avoidance of doubt, this deadline is intended
to comply with the “short term deferral” exemption from Section 409A of the Code), the Company shall deliver to the Participant (or any
transferee permitted under Section 3.2 hereof) a number of Shares (either by delivering one or more certificates for such Shares or by entering
such Shares in book entry form, as determined by the Company in its sole discretion) issuable in respect of the PSUs subject to this Award that
vest on the applicable vesting date, unless such PSUs terminate prior to the given vesting date pursuant to Section 2.5 hereof. Notwithstanding
the foregoing, in the event Shares cannot be issued pursuant to Section 12.4 of the Plan, the Shares shall be issued pursuant to the preceding
sentence as soon as administratively practicable after the Administrator determines that Shares can again be issued in accordance with such
Section.

(b)    As set forth in Section 12.2 of the Plan, the Company shall have the authority and the right to deduct or withhold, or to
require the Participant to remit to the Company, an amount sufficient to satisfy all applicable federal, state, foreign and local taxes required by
law to be withheld with respect to any taxable event arising in connection with the Performance Stock Units. Such tax withholding obligations
shall be made by using a Sell to Cover pursuant to the Grant Notice. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the Company shall
not be obligated to deliver any new certificate representing Shares to the Participant or the Participant’s legal representative or enter such Shares
in book entry form unless and until the Participant or the Participant’s legal representative shall have paid or otherwise satisfied in full the
amount of all federal, state, foreign and local taxes applicable to the taxable income of the Participant resulting from the grant or vesting of the
Performance Stock Units or the issuance of Shares. By accepting this award of PSUs, the Participant has agreed to a Sell to Cover to satisfy any
tax withholding obligations and/or social security contributions and the Participant hereby acknowledges and agrees:

(i)    The Participant hereby appoints the Agent as the Participant’s agent and authorizes the Agent to (1) sell on the open
market at the then prevailing market price(s), on the Participant’s behalf, as soon as practicable on or after the date the Shares are issued upon
vesting of the Performance Stock Units, that number (rounded up to the next whole number) of the Shares so issued necessary to generate
proceeds to cover (x) any tax withholding obligations incurred with respect to such
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vesting or issuance and (y) all applicable fees and commissions due to, or required to be collected by, the Agent with respect thereto and (2) in
the Company’s discretion, apply any remaining funds to the Participant’s federal tax withholding or remit such remaining funds to the
Participant.

(ii)    The Participant hereby authorizes the Company and the Agent to cooperate and communicate with one another to
determine the number of Shares that must be sold pursuant to subsection (i) above.

(iii)    The Participant understands that the Agent may effect sales as provided in subsection (i) above in one or more
sales and that the average price for executions resulting from bunched orders will be assigned to the Participant’s account. In addition, the
Participant acknowledges that it may not be possible to sell Shares as provided by in subsection (i) above due to (1) a legal or contractual
restriction applicable to the Participant or the Agent, (2) a market disruption or (3) rules governing order execution priority on the national
exchange where the Shares may be traded. In the event of the Agent’s inability to sell Shares, the Participant will continue to be responsible for
the timely payment to the Company and/or its affiliates of all federal, state, foreign and local taxes that are required by applicable laws and
regulations to be withheld, including but not limited to those amounts specified in subsection (i) above.

(iv)    The Participant acknowledges that regardless of any other term or condition of this Section 2.6(b), the Agent will
not be liable to the Participant for (1) special, indirect, punitive, exemplary or consequential damages, or incidental losses or damages of any
kind or (2) any failure to perform or for any delay in performance that results from a cause or circumstance that is beyond its reasonable control.

(v)    The Participant hereby agrees to execute and deliver to the Agent any other agreements or documents as the Agent
reasonably deems necessary or appropriate to carry out the purposes and intent of this Section 2.6(b). The Agent is a third-party beneficiary of
this Section 2.6(b).

(vi)    This Section 2.6(b) shall terminate not later than the date on which all tax withholding and obligations arising in
connection with the vesting and issuance of the PSUs have been satisfied.

2.7    Conditions to Delivery of Shares. The Shares deliverable hereunder may be either previously authorized but unissued Shares,
treasury Shares or issued Shares which have then been reacquired by the Company. Such Shares shall be fully paid and nonassessable. The
Company shall not be required to issue or deliver any certificates or make any book entries evidencing Shares deliverable hereunder prior to
fulfillment of the conditions set forth in Section 12.4 of the Plan.

2.8    Rights as Stockholder. The holder of the PSUs shall not be, nor have any of the rights or privileges of, a stockholder of the
Company, including, without limitation, voting rights and rights to dividends, in respect of the PSUs and any Shares underlying the PSUs and
deliverable hereunder unless and until such Shares shall have been issued by the Company and held of record by such holder (as evidenced by
the appropriate entry on the books of the Company or of a duly authorized transfer agent of the Company). No adjustment shall be made for a
dividend or other right for which the record date is prior to the date the Shares are issued, except as provided in Section 14.2 of the Plan.
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ARTICLE III.

OTHER PROVISIONS

3.1    Administration. The Administrator shall have the power to interpret the Plan and this Agreement and to adopt such rules for the
administration, interpretation and application of the Plan as are consistent therewith and to interpret, amend or revoke any such rules. All actions
taken and all interpretations and determinations made by the Administrator in good faith shall be final and binding upon the Participant, the
Company and all other interested persons. No member of the Administrator or the Board shall be personally liable for any action, determination
or interpretation made in good faith with respect to the Plan, this Agreement or the PSUs.

3.2    PSUs Not Transferable. The PSUs shall be subject to the restrictions on transferability set forth in Section 12.3 of the Plan;
provided, however, that this Section 3.2 notwithstanding, with the consent of the Administrator, the PSUs may be transferred to one or more
Permitted Transferees, subject to and in accordance with Section 12.3 of the Plan.

3.3    Tax Consultation. The Participant understands that the Participant may suffer adverse tax consequences in connection with the
PSUs granted pursuant to this Agreement (and the Shares issuable with respect thereto). The Participant represents that the Participant has
consulted with any tax consultants the Participant deems advisable in connection with the PSUs and the issuance of Shares with respect thereto
and that the Participant is not relying on the Company for any tax advice.

3.4    Binding Agreement. Subject to the limitation on the transferability of the PSUs contained herein, this Agreement will be binding
upon and inure to the benefit of the heirs, legatees, legal representatives, successors and assigns of the parties hereto.

3.5    Adjustments Upon Specified Events. The Administrator may accelerate the vesting of the PSUs in such circumstances as it, in its
sole discretion, may determine. The Participant acknowledges that the PSUs are subject to adjustment, modification and termination in certain
events as provided in this Agreement and Section 14.2 of the Plan.

3.6    Notices. Any notice to be given under the terms of this Agreement to the Company shall be addressed to the Company in care of
the Secretary of the Company at the Company’s principal office, and any notice to be given to the Participant shall be addressed to the
Participant at the Participant’s last address reflected on the Company’s records. By a notice given pursuant to this Section 3.6, either party may
hereafter designate a different address for notices to be given to that party. Any notice shall be deemed duly given when sent via email or when
sent by certified mail (return receipt requested) and deposited (with postage prepaid) in a post office or branch post office regularly maintained
by the United States Postal Service.

3.7    Participant’s Representations. If the Shares issuable hereunder have not been registered under the Securities Act or any applicable
state laws on an effective registration statement at the time of such issuance, the Participant shall, if required by the Company, concurrently with
such issuance, make such written representations as are deemed necessary or appropriate by the Company and/or its counsel.

3.8    Titles. Titles are provided herein for convenience only and are not to serve as a basis for interpretation or construction of this
Agreement.
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3.9    Governing Law. The laws of the State of Delaware shall govern the interpretation, validity, administration, enforcement and
performance of the terms of this Agreement regardless of the law that might be applied under principles of conflicts of laws.

3.10    Conformity to Securities Laws. The Participant acknowledges that the Plan and this Agreement are intended to conform to the
extent necessary with all provisions of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act and any other Applicable Law. Notwithstanding anything herein
to the contrary, the Plan shall be administered, and the PSUs are granted, only in such a manner as to conform to Applicable Law. To the extent
permitted by Applicable Law, the Plan and this Agreement shall be deemed amended to the extent necessary to conform to such Applicable Law.

3.11    Amendment, Suspension and Termination. To the extent permitted by the Plan, this Agreement may be wholly or partially
amended or otherwise modified, suspended or terminated at any time or from time to time by the Administrator or the Board; provided, however,
that, except as may otherwise be provided by the Plan, no amendment, modification, suspension or termination of this Agreement shall adversely
affect the PSUs in any material way without the prior written consent of the Participant.

3.12    Successors and Assigns. The Company may assign any of its rights under this Agreement to single or multiple assignees, and this
Agreement shall inure to the benefit of the successors and assigns of the Company. Subject to the restrictions on transfer herein set forth in
Section 3.2 hereof, this Agreement shall be binding upon the Participant and his or her heirs, executors, administrators, successors and assigns.

3.13    Limitations Applicable to Section 16 Persons. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan or this Agreement, if the
Participant is subject to Section 16 of the Exchange Act, then the Plan, the PSUs and this Agreement shall be subject to any additional limitations
set forth in any applicable exemptive rule under Section 16 of the Exchange Act (including any amendment to Rule 16b-3 of the Exchange Act)
that are requirements for the application of such exemptive rule. To the extent permitted by Applicable Law, this Agreement shall be deemed
amended to the extent necessary to conform to such applicable exemptive rule.

3.14    Not a Contract of Service Relationship. Nothing in this Agreement or in the Plan shall confer upon Participant any right to
continue to serve as an employee or other service provider of the Company or any of its Affiliates or interfere with or restrict in any way with the
right of the Company or any of its Affiliates, which rights are hereby expressly reserved, to discharge or to terminate for any reason whatsoever,
with or without cause, the services of the Participant’s at any time.

3.15    Entire Agreement. The Plan, the Grant Notice and this Agreement (including the Appendix attached hereto) constitute the entire
agreement of the parties and supersede in their entirety all prior undertakings and agreements of the Company and the Participant with respect to
the subject matter hereof.

3.16    Section 409A. This Award is not intended to constitute “nonqualified deferred compensation” within the meaning of Section
409A of the Code (together with any Department of Treasury regulations and other interpretive guidance issued thereunder, including without
limitation any such regulations or other guidance that may be issued after the date hereof, “Section 409A”). However, notwithstanding any other
provision of the Plan, the Grant Notice or this Agreement, if at any time the Administrator determines that this Award (or any portion thereof)
may be subject to Section 409A, the
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Administrator shall have the right in its sole discretion (without any obligation to do so or to indemnify Participant or any other person for failure
to do so) to adopt such amendments to the Plan, the Grant Notice or this Agreement, or adopt other policies and procedures (including
amendments, policies and procedures with retroactive effect), or take any other actions, as the Administrator determines are necessary or
appropriate for this Award either to be exempt from the application of Section 409A or to comply with the requirements of Section 409A.

3.17    Limitation on Participant’s Rights. Participation in the Plan confers no rights or interests other than as herein provided. This
Agreement creates only a contractual obligation on the part of the Company as to amounts payable and shall not be construed as creating a trust.
Neither the Plan nor any underlying program, in and of itself, has any assets. The Participant shall have only the rights of a general unsecured
creditor of the Company and its Affiliates with respect to amounts credited and benefits payable, if any, with respect to the PSUs, and rights no
greater than the right to receive the Common Stock as a general unsecured creditor with respect to PSUs, as and when payable hereunder.
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APPENDIX
TO PERFORMANCE STOCK UNIT AWARD AGREEMENT

PERFORMANCE GOALS

[To be specified in individual agreements.]

Appendix-1
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Exhibit 21.1

List of Significant Subsidiaries of
e.l.f. Beauty, Inc.

 
Subsidiary   Jurisdic�on of Incorpora�on or Organiza�on

  
e.l.f. Cosme�cs, Inc.   Delaware

W3LL People, Inc. (a wholly owned subsidiary of e.l.f. Cosme�cs, Inc.) Delaware
  
J.A. China Holdings, LLC (a wholly owned subsidiary of e.l.f. Cosme�cs, Inc.)   Delaware

  
e.l.f. (Shanghai) Trading Co., Ltd. (a wholly owned subsidiary of J.A. China

Holdings, LLC)   People’s Republic of China – Wholly Foreign-Owned Enterprise



Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorpora�on by reference in Registra�on Statement Nos. 333-238909, 333-230027, 333-223383, 333-216718 and 333-
213818 on Form S-8 of our reports dated May 27, 2021, rela�ng to the financial statements of e.l.f. Beauty, Inc. and the effec�veness of e.l.f.
Beauty, Inc.’s internal control over financial repor�ng appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021.
 
/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
 
San Francisco, CA

May 27, 2021



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO

SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT RULES 13A-14(A) AND 15D-14(A)
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Tarang P. Amin, cer�fy that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of e.l.f. Beauty, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial informa�on included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condi�on, results of opera�ons and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other cer�fying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial repor�ng (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material informa�on rela�ng to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those en��es, par�cularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial repor�ng, or caused such internal control over financial repor�ng to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial repor�ng and the prepara�on of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accoun�ng principles;

(c) Evaluated the effec�veness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effec�veness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evalua�on; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial repor�ng that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial repor�ng; and

5. The registrant’s other cer�fying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evalua�on of internal control over financial repor�ng, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit commi�ee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent func�ons):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or opera�on of internal control over financial repor�ng which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial informa�on; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial repor�ng.

Date: May 27, 2021

 
/s/ Tarang P. Amin
Tarang P. Amin
Chief Execu�ve Officer
(Principal Execu�ve Officer)



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO

SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT RULES 13A-14(A) AND 15D-14(A)
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Mandy Fields, cer�fy that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of e.l.f. Beauty, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial informa�on included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condi�on, results of opera�ons and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other cer�fying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial repor�ng (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material informa�on rela�ng to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those en��es, par�cularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial repor�ng, or caused such internal control over financial repor�ng to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial repor�ng and the prepara�on of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accoun�ng principles;

(c) Evaluated the effec�veness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effec�veness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evalua�on; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial repor�ng that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial repor�ng; and

5. The registrant’s other cer�fying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evalua�on of internal control over financial repor�ng, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit commi�ee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent func�ons):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or opera�on of internal control over financial repor�ng which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial informa�on; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial repor�ng.

Date: May 27, 2021

 
/s/ Mandy Fields
Mandy Fields
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Accoun�ng Officer)



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connec�on with the Annual Report of e.l.f. Beauty, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021, as filed with the Securi�es
and Exchange Commission (the “Report”), Tarang P. Amin, Chief Execu�ve Officer of the Company, and Mandy Fields, Chief Financial Officer of the Company,
do each hereby cer�fy, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sec�on 1350, as adopted pursuant to Sec�on 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
 

• The Report fully complies with the requirements of Sec�on 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securi�es Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

• The informa�on in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condi�on and results of opera�ons of the Company.

Date: May 27, 2021
 
/s/ Tarang P. Amin
Tarang P. Amin
Chief Execu�ve Officer
(Principal Execu�ve Officer)
 
/s/ Mandy Fields
Mandy Fields
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Accoun�ng Officer)


